
 

 

 Notice of meeting and agenda 

 

 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee 

 

10.00 am Friday, 3rd December, 2021 

 

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live 

webcast. 

The law allows the Joint Committee to consider some issues in private. Any items 

under “Private Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded 

in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  jamie.macrae@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 553 8242 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee - 3 December 2021 

Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 

1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Previous Minutes 

3.1   Minute of the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee of 3 September 2021 – submitted for 

approval as a correct record 

 

7 - 12 

4. Forward Planning 

4.1   Joint Committee Work Programme – Report by Steve Grimmond, 

Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

 

13 - 16 

5. Items for Consideration 

5.1   
Internet of Things in Schools – presentation by Tommy Lawson, 
Schools Technology Adviser, Data-Driven Innovation Programme  

Verbal 

Report 

5.2   A720 Sheriffhall Roundabout verbal update – Transport Scotland Verbal 

Report 

5.3   City Region Deal Progress Report – report by Steve Grimmond, 

Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal 

17 - 32 



 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee - 3 December 2021 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

5.4   Edinburgh and South East Scotland Integrated Regional 

Employability and Skills (IRES) Programme update – 

presentation by Adam Dunkerley, IRES Programme Manager 

Verbal 

Report 

5.5   Granton Waterfront Regeneration Outline Business Case – report 

by Paul Lawrence, Executive Director of Place, The City of 

Edinburgh Council 

33 - 154 

5.6   National Climate Summit Ambition Statement – report by Steve 

Grimmond, Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland 

City Region Deal 

 

155 - 156 

Gavin King 

Clerk 

 



 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee - 3 December 2021 

Page 4 of 5 

 

 

 

Membership 

The City of Edinburgh Council 

Councillor Adam McVey  

 

East Lothian Council 

Councillor Norman Hampshire  

 

Fife Council 

Councillor David Alexander 

Councillor David Ross 

 

Midlothian Council 

Councillor Russell Imrie 

 

Scottish Borders Council 

Councillor Mark Rowley 

 

West Lothian Council 

Councillor Lawrence Fitzpatrick 

 

Higher/Further Education Consortium 

Prof Peter Mathieson 

 

Regional Enterprise Council 

Claire Pattullo 

Garry Clark 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 

Jamie Macrae, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre 2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East 

Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG,  Tel 0131 529 4240, email 

lesley.birrell@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

A copy of the agenda and papers for this meeting will be available for inspection prior to 

the meeting at the main reception office, City Chambers, High Street, Edinburgh. 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting can be viewed online by going 

to https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk . 

Webcasting of Joint Committee meetings 

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part 

of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Joint Committee is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation.  We 

broadcast Joint Committee meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable 

members of the public to observe the democratic process.  Data collected during this 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/


 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region 

Deal Joint Committee - 3 December 2021 

Page 5 of 5 

 

 

webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but 

not limited to, for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records 

available via the Council’s internet site. 

Any information presented by individuals to the Joint Committee at a meeting, in 

addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical record, will also be 

held and used by the Joint Committee in connection with the relevant matter until that 

matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and other 

connected processes).  Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as part of 

the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above. 

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 

storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 

damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 

committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk. 

mailto:committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Minutes 

 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 

Region Deal Joint Committee 

Microsoft Teams 

10.00am, Friday 3 September 2021 

Present: 

City of Edinburgh Council – Councillor Adam McVey 

East Lothian Council – Councillor Norman Hampshire  

West Lothian Council – Councillor Lawrence Fitzpatrick 

Fife Council – Councillor David Alexander and Councillor David Ross 

Midlothian Council – Councillor Russell Imrie 

Scottish Borders Council – Councillor Simon Mountford (substituting for Councillor 

Shona Haslam) 

Higher/Further Education Consortium – Professor Peter Mathieson 

Regional Enterprise Council – Garry Clark and Claire Pattullo 

In attendance: 

 

Steve Grimmond, Chief Executive, Fife Council 

Dr Grace Vickers, Chief Executive, Midlothian Council 

Monica Patterson, Chief Executive, East Lothian Council 

Andy Nichol, City Region Deal Programme Manager, City of Edinburgh Council 

Graeme Rigg, City Region Deal PMO, City of Edinburgh Council 

 

Paul Lawrence, Executive Director of Place, City of Edinburgh Council 

Adam Dunkerley, Opportunities Fife Partnership Manager, Fife Council  

David Baxter, Senior Programme Officer, City of Edinburgh Council 

David Hanna, City Region Deal PMO, City of Edinburgh Council 

Lisa Howden, Trainee Accountant, City of Edinburgh Council 

Jamie Robertson, Strategic Transport Manager, City of Edinburgh Council 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.1



Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 3 September 2021 

Jamie Macrae, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council 

Kristin Marsh, Project Manager, Strategic Growth & City Deals, Fife Council 

Alice Mitchell, Economic Development and Regeneration Manager, West Lothian 

Council 

Derek Oliver, Chief Officer, Place, Midlothian Council 

Jenni Craig, Service Director Customer & Communities, Scottish Borders Council 

Amy Phillips, Transport Scotland 

Mokshda Bheem Singh, Transport Scotland 
 

1. Minutes 

Decision 

To approve the minute of the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

Joint Committee 4 June 2021 as a correct record.  

2. Work Programme 

The Work Programme was presented and detailed the planned dates for the City 

Region Deal business case approvals by Joint Committee. 

Decision 

To note the planned dates for future business for the City Region Deal Joint 

Committee. 

(Reference – Work Programme, submitted.) 

3. City Region Deal Progress Report 

The Joint Committee considered a report that advised of progress across the City 

Region Deal Programme. 

A RAG (Red, Amber, Green) scale was assigned to programmes and projects by the 

Partnership Management Office (PMO), as well as scores for inclusive growth and 

partnership working. In this update, the overall status was assigned as ‘Green’ and 

there were no actions for the Joint Committee.  

Decision 

To note the progress across the City Region Deal Programme. 

(Reference – report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 

Region Deal, submitted.) 

 

Page 8



Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 3 September 2021 

5.      ESESCRD Bus Partnership Fund Award: Funding 

Announcement and Next Steps 

As agreed by the Joint Committee on 5 March 2021, the Transport Appraisal Board 

had prepared a collective South East of Scotland regional bid for submission to 

Transport Scotland’s Bus Partnership Fund (BPF), subject to agreement by the six 

individual Councils. The bid preparation was led by City of Edinburgh Council 

officers, supported by the consultants Jacobs, in collaboration with the constituent 

authorities of the City Region, Clackmannanshire and Falkirk, with input from 

SEStran and key bus operators. The £204m BPF bid was submitted on 16 April. On 

22 June, ESESCR Deal were informed that it had been awarded £3.03m. 

Details were provided on both BPF and BSIPs and recommendations were submitted 

on the next stages for the advancement of the BPF and BSIP arrangements. These 

recommendations would then require ratification by the constituent local councils, 

and subsequent agreement will be required with other partners such as SEStran and 

bus operators. 

Decision 

1) To note the recent Bus Partnership Fund award of £3.03 million to ESESCR 

Deal from Transport Scotland. 

2) To recognise the efforts of the constituent authorities, SEStran, key bus 

operators and the consultants in contributing to the development and 

submission of the funding bid, all within a tight time-scale and during Covid-19 

pandemic restrictions. 

3) To note that a short life BPF / BSIP sub-group would be established to support 

the Transport Advisory Board with the associated work-streams moving 

forward. In addition to local authority / SEStran representatives this sub-group 

would seek as far as possible direct participation from public transport 

operators. The purpose of the subgroup would be to recommend governance 

arrangements for a stand-alone partnership of councils, SEStran, bus operators 

and bus users that best aligned with the Government’s proposals for formal Bus 

Service Improvement Partnerships as they developed, learning from best 

practice elsewhere. 

4) To approve the recruitment of a dedicated Bus Partnership Fund Programme 

Officer to lead on the next phase of the BPF development and implementation 

work and to agree that the recruitment process be led by the City Region Deal 

Project Management Office. To bridge the gap between now and the formal 

appointment of the programme officer, which may take up to four to six months, 

it was intended to arrange a temporary resource. 

5) Following any required procurement exercises, to approve the appointment of 

consultants to undertake the Strategic Appraisal. 

Page 9



Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 3 September 2021 

6) To note that each roads authority would be responsible for the organisation of 

the quick wins measure in their area and would determine their own preferred 

route to delivery. This approach worked well during the delivery of the Bus 

Priority Rapid Deployment Fund measures; of which the quick-wins measures 

were almost entirely based on.  

(Reference – report by the Chair, ESESCR Deal Transport Appraisal Board, 

submitted). 

6. A720 Sheriffhall Roundabout 

An update was provided by Transport Scotland on the progress that had been made 

with the Sherriffhall Roundabout. 

At its meeting on 4 June 2021, the Joint Committee had asked the Transport 

Appraisal Board (TAB) to review technical information in relation to the A720 

Sheriffhall Roundabout Scheme and to report back regarding outstanding issues that 

may require to be addressed. In response, a special meeting of TAB was convened 

on 23 June 2021. Key issues discussed at the meeting were presented to the Joint 

Committee along with the TAB recommendations for consideration. 

Decision 

1) To note the high-quality active travel facilities associated with the Sheriffhall 

design which would address severance challenges and deliver a step change 

in accessibility for walking and cycling. 

2) To note the scheme would significantly enhance community connectivity. 

3) To note that the scheme would improve road safety. 

4) To note that the scheme would facilitate development, relieve significant 

congestion as well as improve journey times and journey time reliability for all 

road users. 

5) To note that partners, including SEStran and Transport Scotland, were 

committed to monitoring the impacts of the proposed scheme and to work 

together to address any unforeseen impacts on the local road network that 

could specifically be attributed to the Sheriffhall scheme. 

6) To note that partners would work together to seek to address cross-boundary 

issues, including on this key route in the region, in line with the NTS2 

sustainable travel and investment hierarchies. Partners would do so through 

the emerging Regional Transport Strategy, STPR2 (including progressing the 

Phase 1 recommendation on Edinburgh Mass Transit), the Bus Partnership 

Fund, West Edinburgh sustainable transport improvements and other 

mechanisms as appropriate. 

Page 10



Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 3 September 2021 

7) To note that the scheme would provide opportunities for greater levels of 

movement by public transport, complemented by wider proposals being 

progressed by partners through the emerging Bus Service Improvement 

Partnership for the region and work to be progressed through the Scottish 

Government’s Bus Partnership Funding award to the region. 

8) To note that the scheme provided additional ducting to facilitate future full 

signalisation and enable the future deployment of bus priority signal systems. 

9) To agree, following the further technical information provided and scrutiny of 

the A720 Sheriffhall scheme by the Transport Appraisal Board (TAB), to ratify 

its support for the scheme as published in advance of progressing to any 

necessary Public Local Inquiry stage. 

(Reference – report by the Chair, ESESCR Deal Transport Appraisal Board, and the 

Director of Transport Strategy and Analysis, submitted). 

7. Regional Prosperity Framework – Final Version 

An update was provided on the Regional Prosperity Framework consultation process, 

key feedback received from the consultation, and the proposed final version of the 

Framework. Details were provided of the expected timetable for developing the 

action and implementation plan. The final version of the Regional Prosperity 

Framework would be subject to formal endorsement by Edinburgh and South East 

Scotland City Region Deal partners. 

Decision 

1) To note the overall number of responses and the major themes that had 

emerged from the public consultation (both formal submissions and interactive 

online sessions). 

2) To approve the full final version of the Regional Prosperity Framework as 

provided at Appendix 1 of the report by the Executive Director of Place, City of 

Edinburgh Council. 

3) To note that each City Region Deal partner would seek formal endorsement 

and support for the Framework. 

4) To agree the following next steps: 

• preparation of implementation and action plan to support delivery 

• preparation of a prospectus version of the Regional Prosperity 

Framework to showcase the region as a location for investment. 

. 

(Reference – report by the Executive Director of Place, City of Edinburgh Council, 

submitted.) 

Page 11



Edinburgh and South East of Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee – 3 September 2021 

8. City Region Deal Annual Report 2020/21 

The City Region Deal Programme Management Office was required to produce an 

annual report to assess how well the City Region Deal was aligning towards the 

overall vision and inclusive growth outcomes for the city region. 

The Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Annual report summarised 

progress of the Programme for the third year since the signing of the 15-year 

programme (August 2020 to July 2021). This contained a City Region Deal overview, 

Financial Statement (for the financial year 2019-20), a short summary of progress on 

each project and programme and expected milestones to be achieved in the next 

year. Case studies were included across the report. 

The report demonstrated significant progress across the 24 projects and 

programmes within the City Region Deal. While COVID-19 affected the delivery of 

some of the projects, all were considered to be within acceptable time and budget 

parameters.  

Decision 

To note the annual report. 

(Reference – report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 

Region Deal, submitted.) 

 

Page 12



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland  
City Region Deal Joint Committee 
 

10 am, Friday 3 December 2021 

Work Programme for City Region Deal Joint Committee 

Item number 4.1  
 

Executive Summary 

This paper outlines the planned dates for City Region Deal business case approvals by 

Joint Committee. 

 

 

Steve Grimmond 

Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

Contact: Andy Nichol, Programme Manager, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 

Region Deal 

E-mail: andy.nichol@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4461 

  

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.1



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 2 

 
Report 
 

Work Programme for City Region Deal Joint Committee 

1. Recommendations 

 To note the planned dates for future business for the City Region Deal Joint 

Committee. 

2. Background 

2.1 The City Region Deal partners and Government are working towards business case 

approval timelines, as set out in this report. This matches with the timeline for 

drawing down funds from Government over the 15 years of the City Region Deal as 

set out in the Financial Plan agreed in summer 2018, and the grant offer letter for 

2021/22. 

2.2 In addition to the business cases, other reports that are expected to be submitted to 

Joint Committee are included in the work programme. 

3. Main report 

3.1 The work programme for Joint Committee meetings that partners are currently 

working towards is shown in Table 1. The dates are subject to business cases 

being approved by: The Scottish Government; the UK Government; the relevant 

Boards within the City Region Deal structure; and the relevant Council committees 

and/or Higher and Further Education Courts, prior to Joint Committee consideration. 

 

  

Page 14



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 3 

 

Table 1: Work Programme for Joint Committee 

Joint Committee Date Reports for consideration 

3 December 2021 
• A720 Sheriffhall roundabout progress update 

(presentation) 

• Integrated Regional Employability and Skills 

Programme Report Update (presentation) 

• Granton Waterfront Regeneration Outline 

Business Case  

• Internet of Things in Schools (presentation) 

• National Climate Resilience Summit Ambition 

Statement 

4 March 2022 • Benefits Realisation Plan Implementation Plan  

• Dunard Centre Revised Business Case 

• West Edinburgh Transport Improvement Plan 

Business Case  

• Data-Driven Innovation progress update 

(presentation) 

24 June 2022  
• A720 Sheriffhall roundabout progress update 

(presentation) 

2 September 2022 
• City Region Deal Annual Report 

2 December 2022 
• A720 Sheriffhall roundabout progress update 

(presentation) 

• Integrated Regional Employability and Skills 

Programme Report Update (presentation) 

3.2 The A720 City Bypass grade separation of Sheriffhall Roundabout is being managed 

and delivered by Transport Scotland. Transport Scotland are scheduled to provide 

updates on progress to the Transport Appraisal Board, as well as the Executive 

Board and Joint Committee every six months.  

4. Financial impact 

4.1 There is no financial impact relating to this report. Financial cases are being set out 

in detail in the respective business cases. Financial contributions that are required by 

partner organisations for projects are being requested in separate reports to councils 

or courts prior to being taken to Joint Committee for approval. 

5. Alignment with Sustainable, Inclusive Growth Ambitions 

5.1 Inclusion and sustainability are key drivers for the City Region Deal, and strategic 

added value scores have been included for each project. Business cases for projects 

included demonstrate how they will reduce inequalities and tackle the inclusion 

challenges specific to the city region.  

 

Page 15



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 4 

5.2 The City Region Deal Benefits Realisation Plan (BRP) was approved on 4 

September 2020. This incorporates indicators that align with the Scottish 

Government’s Inclusive Growth Framework. The impact on equalities, human rights 

and sustainability will also be measured. A BRP Implementation Plan is currently 

being developed, with input from key stakeholder groups within and outwith the City 

Region Deal Governance structure, including a range of representatives from other 

Scottish City Region and Growth Deals and Scottish and UK Government 

Departments. As part of this, a viability study, to enhance the monitoring, evaluation 

and on-going management of the outcomes and impacts of the Deal, is being 

conducted. 

 

5.3 In August 2021, Scottish and UK Government have provided joint guidance for 

project owners on managing potential carbon emissions associated with Scottish City 

Region and Regional Growth Deal projects. It accords with HM Treasury Green Book 

requirements and supports the quantification and minimisation of whole life carbon 

and the identification of potential barriers to achieving net zero. A workshop with 

ESESCR Deal project leads took place in September 2021 to explain the guidance 

and agree actions required. Project leads have since returned pro-formas to 

categorise their projects in terms of carbon control and carbon influence.  

6. Background reading/external references 

6.1 City Region Deal Document: August 2018 

7. Appendices 

None. 

 

 

 

 

Page 16

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s25995/5.3%20Benefits%20Realisation%20Plan%20with%20appendices.pdf
http://www.acceleratinggrowth.org.uk/s/ESESCR-Deal-Document-6-August-2018-signed.pdf


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 
Region Deal Joint Committee 
 

10 am, Friday 3 December 2021 

City Region Deal Progress Report 

Item number 5.3  
 

Executive Summary 

The Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal progress report gives an 

indication of progress across the City Region Deal programme. 

In this update, the overall status is assigned as “Green”. There are no actions required 

from the Joint Committee. 

 

 

 

Steve Grimmond 

Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

Contact: Andy Nichol, Programme Manager, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 

Region Deal 

E-mail: andy.nichol@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4461 

  

Page 17

Agenda Item 5.3



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 2 

 
Report 
 

City Region Deal Progress Report 

1. Recommendations 

 To note the progress across the City Region Deal Programme.  

2. Background 

2.1 This progress report is being used across the City Region Deal’s governance 

structure to monitor progress across all aspects of the City Region Deal. It is updated 

and shared with Government on a weekly basis and is taken to all Board meetings. A 

RAG (Red, Amber, Green) scale is assigned to programmes and projects by the 

Programme Management Office (PMO), as well as scores for inclusive growth and 

partnership working. 

2.2 Tables and 2 show the guidelines that are used when determine RAG statuses and 

scores: 

Table 1: RAG Status Guidelines 

  T: Status against timeline set out in business case/implementation plan;  
B: Status against budget set out in financial plan 

Page 18



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 3 

Table 2: Strategic Added Value Score 

 

 

3.  Main report 

3.1 The performance report is shown in Appendix 1. The overall status of the City Region 

Deal is assigned as “Green”. There are no actions required from the Joint Committee. 

4. Financial impact 

4.1 The overall cumulative total of Grant claimed for the Deal to date (2018 – present) is 

£190.4 million. This total includes the funding issued by Transport Scotland and 

Scottish Government Housing.    

4.2 Since the onset of COVID-19, Scottish and UK Governments have agreed to allow 

the draw down monthly in arrears as opposed to quarterly for projects entirely funded 

by Government that have asked for the flexibility. The final monthly claim will be 

submitted in December; thereafter the grant claims will be submitted quarterly as per 

the original agreement 

5.  Alignment with Sustainable, Inclusive Growth Ambitions 

5.1 Inclusion and sustainability are key drivers for the City Region Deal, and strategic 

added value scores have been included for each project. Business cases for projects 

included demonstrate how they will reduce inequalities and tackle the inclusion 

challenges specific to the city region.  

5.2 The City Region Deal Benefits Realisation Plan (BRP) was approved on 4 

September 2020. This incorporates indicators that align with the Scottish 

Government’s Inclusive Growth Framework. The impact on equalities, human rights 

and sustainability will also be measured. A BRP Implementation Plan is currently 

being developed, with input from key stakeholder groups within and outwith the City 

Region Deal Governance structure, including a range of representatives from other 

Scottish City Region and Growth Deals and Scottish and UK Government 

Departments. As part of this, a viability study, to enhance the monitoring, evaluation 

and on-going management of the outcomes and impacts of the Deal, is being 

conducted. 

5.3 In August 2021, Scottish and UK Government have provided joint guidance for 

project owners on managing potential carbon emissions associated with Scottish City 

Region and Regional Growth Deal projects. It accords with HM Treasury Green Book 

requirements and supports the quantification and minimisation of whole life carbon 

and the identification of potential barriers to achieving net zero. A workshop with 

ESESCR Deal project leads took place in September 2021 to explain the guidance 

Page 19

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s25995/5.3%20Benefits%20Realisation%20Plan%20with%20appendices.pdf


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 4 

and agree actions required. Project leads have since returned pro-formas to 

categorise their projects in terms of carbon control and carbon influence.  

 

 

6. Background reading/external references 

6.1 Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Document (August 2018) 

6.2  City Region Deal Benefits Realisation Plan: ESESCR Deal Joint Committee report 4 

September 2020 

7. Appendices 

7.1  Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Progress Report (November 

2021) 

Page 20

http://esescityregiondeal.org.uk/s/ESESCR-Deal-Document-6-August-2018-signed-9758.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=277&MId=5694&Ver=4


Upcoming Joint Committee Meeting Milestones 

(expected)
Target Date

Granton Strategic Waterfront Regeneration Outline 

Business Case
Dec 21

Internet of Things in Schools (presentation) Dec 21

A720 Sheriffhall Update (verbal update) Dec 21

IRES Programme Update (presentation) Dec 21

Dunard Centre Revised Business Case Mar 22

West Edinburgh Transport Improvement Business Case Mar 22

Benefits Realisation Plan Implementation Plan Mar 22

Progress Report
Last updated: 26 November 2021

Page 1: Dashboard

Risk
Impac

t

Like

loho

od

Sever

-ity
Resolution Plan or Mitigating Action

External factors which the regional 

partners have limited control over e.g. 

COVID-19 pandemic, or manner of EU 

exit, affect the ability of projects to 

deliver according to their original plans. 

3 4 12

• Regular updating of progress report and monthly financial forecasts to ensure PMO is aware of issue(s) at an 

early stage and can raise with Government, Executive Board and Joint Committee as appropriate.                               

• Change Management process as set out in the Benefits Realisation Plan is being implemented                                 

• Review outputs & timelines in the light of delays & consider advancement of spend as appropriate.                          

• Pivot projects proactively where possible in line with need and opportunity.                                               

• Regional Prosperity Framework has "Adaptable" as one of its three themes, and includes mitigations against 

uncertainty and change.

Stakeholders outwith Governance 

structure (businesses, infrastructure 

providers/operators, third sector 

networks, politicians and general 

public) do not feel suitably engaged.

3 3 9

• REC has cross-regional representation. They use their status as ambassadors  to champion the City Region 

Deal, and share messaging with wider networks.                                                                               

• Regular meetings take place with other groups, e.g.: TSI / SEN meetings (where group members sit on DDI 

Delivery and IRES boards) and NHS.                                      .                                                    

• Comms group provides tools to spread positive messaging, e.g. website, key messaging documents. 

Failure to align with current 

Government and agency  priorities, 

policies and initiatives. 2 4 8

• Regular calls between Govt and PMO to keep all informed of current priorities and ensure alignment.                        

• Government  and agency representatives attend Directors' Group meetings to keep all informed of current 

priorities and ensure alignment. 

• RPF is aligned to the latest Government plans and ambitions                                                                

• Government  co-produces key documents with the PMO (e.g. BRP).                                                                

Recent Achievements and Milestones

Financials Summary 
*Funding issued by Transport Scotland and SG Housing not included in this total

Top 3 Risks (from PMO Risk Register)

Achievement/Milestone Date

Regional Prosperity Framework Final Report Sep 21

Bus Partnership Fund Award Update Sep 21

A720 Sheriffhall Roundabout Report Sep 21

Overall Status 

Last Quarter

Overall Status 

This Quarter

Green Green

P
age 21



Page 2: Guidance

Stage no. Definition

1. Define Business case being developed, and not yet approved by Thematic Board and Joint Committee.

2. Implement Business case has been approved by Thematic Board and Joint Committee, and is being implemented. In a capital project, this 

may be construction; for skills projects this may be establishing a course or system.

3. Deliver Project is in place and monitoring and evaluation is in framework to assess if it is achieving its objectives.

4. Legacy Project has resulted in mainstreaming or improvements to business as usual (impact) that is generated beyond the funded period

Project Stages

RAG Status Definition - Timeline Definition - Budget Action Required

Green In line with business 

case/implementation plan

In line with financial 

plan.

No management action required

Amber Delay is considered 

acceptable by PMO.

Within acceptable 

range.

Management action is in place by senior management to address issues, and project is 

being closely monitored.

Red Delay is significant. Outwith acceptable 

range.

Immediate action is required by senior management and relevant Boards as appropriate 

to address issues. Issues must be highlighted to Government.

Score Description

1

(Low)

• There are opportunities for links with one or two other CRD themes that may add value to the proposal.

• Partnership working with wider stakeholders, to add value to the proposal has not been thoroughly considered, but may be possible, and should be explored.

• One or two of the five ““inclusive growth” measures listed in the Deal Document could be incorporated into the delivery of the project.

2 

(Mediu

m)

• There are opportunities for links with two or three other CRD themes that may add value to the proposal.

• Partnership working with wider stakeholders, to add value has been factored into the business case to some extent, but there are opportunities to enhance.

• Two or three of the five ““inclusive growth” measures listed in the Deal Document could be incorporated into the delivery of the project.

3.

(High)

• There are opportunities for links with three of four other CRD themes that may add value to the proposal.

• Partnership working with wider stakeholders, e.g. private/third sector is already taking place and strategic added value effects are clear.

• Three, four or five ““inclusive growth” measures listed in the Deal Document could be incorporated into the delivery of the project.

Strategic Added Value Score

Red, Amber, Green
T: Status against timeline set out in business case/implementation plan; B: Status against budget set out in financial plan

P
age 22

http://esescityregiondeal.org.uk/s/ESESCR-Deal-Document-6-August-2018-signed-9758.pdf
http://esescityregiondeal.org.uk/s/ESESCR-Deal-Document-6-August-2018-signed-9758.pdf
http://esescityregiondeal.org.uk/s/ESESCR-Deal-Document-6-August-2018-signed-9758.pdf


Page 3: Financial Summary

* Scottish Government funded. Transport Scotland taking forward scheme delivery. ** Funding governed by Scottish Government (Housing)

P
age 23



Page 4: Research, Development and Innovation 

Theme 

Data-Driven Innovation 

T: On Time?; B: On Budget?; SAV: Strategic Added Value score

Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

Bayes Centre Deliver Sep 18: Opening N/A G G 3​ Bayes Centre re-opened in July 2021.

National

Robotarium
Implement

Jan 

2021: Start on 

Site

March 2022:

Complete

construction​​

A G​​​​​ 2​​
Construction progressing in line with 

programme. Procurement of specialist equipment underway. 

Stewart Miller now in post as new CEO.

Edinburgh 

Futures

Institute

Implement Start on site
Jun 22: Complete 

construction
A​​​ G 3​

Construction progressing in line with programme. Some 

delivery initiatives (e.g. Global Open Finance Centre of 

Excellence) now launched.​​

Usher Institute Implement

Sep 21: 

Commence 

construction

Jul 22: Full

DataLoch launch
A​​​ G​​​ 2​ Construction underway for completion in Spring 2023.​

Easter Bush Implement

Aug 21: Mobilise 

team to deliver 

business plan

Apr 22: Establish a 

Centre for 

Aquaculture 

Genetics and Health​

G​ G​​​ 2​
Joint Committee approval secured on 5 Mar 2021.​ DDI Agritech

business case delivery now underway.

Edinburgh

International

Data Facility

Implement

Jul 21: Complete

hardware 

installation

Jul 22: Launch 

Regional Data 

Haven

G G 2​ Main Phase 1 IT equipment procured and installed.

P
age 24



Page 5: Research, Development and Innovation 

Theme 

Edinburgh Innovation Park (QMU Food and 

Drink)Hub)

T: On Time?; B: On Budget?; SAV: Strategic Added Value score

Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

Edinburgh 

Innovation 

Park 

(QMU Food 

and Drink 

Hub)

Define

ELC awarded 

the tender for 

the junction 

Works in 

October 2021

Initial meeting with 

successful tender on 12 

November to establish the 

Junction timeline including 

commencement and 

completion and the  

duration of works.

Progress the early 

activities as described in 

the “ Comments box”

G G 2

Commencement of construction for the junction is 

targeted for end of 2021 though subject to initial 

meeting noted in “ Next Milestone”

QMU/ELC have triggered early activities to deliver 

junction to programme including:

• Establishing a Newco until the JV structure in 

place.

• Reporting to ELC/QMU on Newco 16/18 

November respectively.

• Aiming to conclude JV structure by February 

2022.

• Procure 2 consultants to effect Operational 

Business plan ( below) and the Procurement 

Strategy.

• Initiating Operational Business Plan Review to 

inform the design brief.

• Completed Workshop 1 of 2 Workshops to 

develop and approve a procurement strategy.

P
age 25



Page 6: Research, Development and 

Innovation Theme 

Projects in Fife and Scottish Borders

Project Stage LastMilestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

Borders 

Innovation 

Park

Implement
Site works for Phase 

1.
Build-out of Phase 1. A G 1

The first building on Phase 1 is being 

completed with handover in mid-November 

due to be followed by tenant fit-out. 

A report on the way forward with Phases 2 

and 3 was taken to Council on 23 

September. 

Road and service infrastructure for Phase 3 

has been approved.

The delivery programme for Phases 2 and 3 

is being finalised.

Fife Industrial 

Innovation 

Investment 

(Fi3P)

Implement

Start on Site at 

West Way, Dalgety 

Bay

Q2 21/22 Planning 

consent for Site 

Servicing, Lochgelly

Q3 21/22: Completion of 

business units at 

Dunnikier Business Park, 

Kirkcaldy 

Q3 21/22: contract let for 

Lochgellly Site Servicing, 

G G 2

West Way, Dalgety Bay milestones 

achieved.

Siteworks ongoing at Fife Interchange 

North, Dunfermline.

Flemington Rd, Glenrothes: tenancies 

secured for 5 (out of 9) units to date.  First 

tenants have now taken occupation of units.

Marketing underway for 

Dunnikier Business Park, Kirkcaldy. 

Lochgelly Site Servicing drainage works 

complete; preferred contractor to undertake 

grouting works identified.

T: Timeline; B: Budget; SAV: Strategic Added Value score

P
age 26



Page 7: Integrated Regional 

Employability and Skills 

Theme (1/3)

Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

IRES 

Programme

Imple-

ment/ 

Deliver

Positive and well 

attended IRES board on 

16th November 2021.

Benefits Realisation Plan 

approval at Joint 

Committee for ‘thematic’ 

outcomes for the IRES 

programme.

Work continues on Monitoring 

& Evaluation and enhanced 

reporting; aligning project 

outcomes with overall IRES 

and City Region Deal Benefits 

Realisation targets. 

IRES board scheduled for 8th 

February 2022.

G G 3

• IRES board on 16th November 2021 considered presentations on Data 

Driven Innovation and Housing & Construction Infrastructure Skills 

Gateways plus Community Wealth Building.

• IRES Programme Connector is working with Project Leads to further 

develop monitoring and evaluation, and feed into the overall Benefits 

Realisation plan framework - reporting with increased automation and 

online tools. New quarterly reporting structure was implemented for 

November IRES board, which was well received.

• Budgets have been updated to reflect acceleration opportunities.  

Integrated 

Knowledge 

System

Implem

ent/

Deliver

Senior Local Authority 

(LA) representatives 

met on 29th 

September 2021.

Personal Data Stores 

project started in 

October 2021.

City of Edinburgh 

Council School work 

experience projects 

live on new Hanlon 

portal (Helix).

Data framework to map 

transfer of data to new 

system (Helix) to be 

finalised and signed off. 

Meeting organised for 

heaviest users of Caselink 

to discuss data model, 

demo system and discuss 

training requirements.

G G 3

• Legal participation agreement being developed for LA’s in regard to 

future use and financing of MIS (Helix) post CRD funding. 

• Data mapping framework for transfer for Edinburgh and East Lothian 

nearly completed. Plans for data transfer, training & support being 

developed for discussion with LA / 3rd sector system users. 

• Mapping out requirements for East Lothian employer CRM to be 

discussed. Early aim to get up and running before client data transfer 

from Caselink. Collaboration with Data Skills for Work continues to 

develop training programme for Caseworkers.

• Project assessing Personal Data Stores kicked with Mydex as 

external consultants and participation with City of Edinburgh Council 

Customer and Digital Services 

• On going link with Scottish Government on Shared Measurement 

Framework and Personal Data Stores/Customer Single Sign On. 

Labour Market 

Analysis and 

Evaluation

Deliver

The LMAE project has 

consulted with the DDI 

lead and will work on 

building a digital skills 

spotlight into the 

toolkit.

The final draft of the 

ESES Green Skills 

research was delivered 

on 15th October 21.

The LMAE project will 

consider how best to 

enhance and develop the 

LMI toolkit.

The LMAE project meeting 

with the Regional 

Intelligence Hub (RIH) Task 

and Action Group (TAG) to 

consider how to promote 

the Green Skills research 

findings and implement the 

recommendations.

G G 2

• The LMAE project will update the ESESCRD LMI toolkit with a digital 

skills spotlight section. The LMAE Project lead will consider how to 

continue to develop and build on the existing resources housed on 

the toolkit. 

• The final draft of the ESESCRD Green skills research was delivered 

on 15th October 2021. The RIH TAG group are meeting to review the 

recommendations, discuss next steps and evaluate the effectiveness 

of the TAG in supporting the research. The LMAE project will 

coordinate this. 

• The Terms of Reference has been agreed for the LMAE Theme 

group and a risk log for the LMAE project has been developed. 

• The next LMAE Theme group meeting will take place in January’ 22. 

• Grieg Robson, the new LMAE Project Lead has joined the IRES 

programme. 

P
age 27



Page 8: Integrated Regional 

Employability and Skills 

Theme (2/3)

Project Stage Next Milestone T B SAV • Comments

Integrated 

Employer 

Engagement

Imple-

ment 

Round 1 of IEE 

Employer Fund 

complete (Start up) 

Applications 

received from 

Scottish Borders, 

West Lothian & Fife.

‘Proud to Care’ 

specification and 

tender now open for 

applications.

ESESCommunities.

org promotional 

video shared with 

Cabinet Secretary 

Kate Forbes at 

Edinburgh Futures 

Institute visit.

IEE Employer Fund round 2 

progressing and grant 

payments to be made for 

round 1 IEE Employer Fund.

‘Proud to Care’ tender 

contract being agreed.

ESESCommunities.org 

Community Benefits portal 

publicity post-launch..

First employer led 

Recruitment & Skills Centre 

(RSC) partnership meeting of 

11 employers who have 

received support invited to 

attend. 

G G 2

• C19jobs portal– throughout October 2021 a mailshot was 

issued to all c19 registered users to request feedback on 

employability needs and job outcomes, a further 6 job 

outcomes have been recorded as a result of c19.

• Community Benefits portal launched on 10th November.

• Rapid Retail Response (RRR) job outcomes delivered so far 

since April ‘21= 79.

• IEE Employer Fund #2:

o Business Gateway teams in Fife, Scottish Borders & 

West Lothian promoted round 1 of the Employer 

Fund (Start up businesses for over 25s).

o Second round promoted in Edinburgh, Midlothian & 

East Lothian in November (Wellbeing fund for 

employers)

o IEE DAG (Delivery & Advisory Group) took place on 

25 October where community benefits and portal 

presentation/demo was provided, which was well 

received.

Intensive Family 

Support

Imple-

ment/

Deliver

IFSS phase one 

evaluation research 

underway.

Meetings held with 

Edinburgh and 

Midlothian 

stakeholders around 

funding / Parental 

Employability 

Support Fund links. 

Community of 

Practice (CoP) 

meeting held. 

Advice/Employability 

Workers

Systemic Practice 

training continues.

Next IFSS Project Board 

meeting scheduled for 2022.

Next CoP scheduled for 

managers. 

Q3 reports due in January 

2022.

G G 2

• 168 individuals engaging with IFSS.

• Outcomes for clients include 5 full time jobs, 6 part time jobs 

and 10 re-engagements in education for young people. 

• M&E framework new process implemented with service 

providers. Ongoing work with delivery partners to support 

this. 

• CoP continues to meet once monthly in rotation with various 

staff across IFSS. 

• Ongoing Caselink support in place for service providers.

• Professional Development programme continues with 

Systemic practice training phase two underway. 

P
age 28



Page 9: Integrated Regional 

Employability and Skills 

Theme (3/3)

Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV • Comments

Housing and 

Construction 

Infrastructure 

(HCI) Skills 

Gateway

Imple-

ment

Graduation of first 

cohort of HCI 

Skills Gateway 

MSc scholars at 

Edinburgh Napier 

University on 27 

October 2021.

Delivery of COP26 

activity in 

partnership with 

LEGO, Pecha 

Kucha and other 

organisations.

G G 3

• Significant activity at COP26 during November 2021, including HCI Panel 

discussions with the Minister for Affordable Housing, Inclusive Housing 

Journalism and the Commissioner for Sustainability & Young People, plus the 

culmination of multiple HCI projects such as INTER SGN and Human Habitats 

challenge.

• HCI PM role now full-time, although still to be recruited by Edinburgh Napier 

University.

• Review of FE funding and delivery for 2021/22 underway.

Data-Driven 

Innovation 

(DDI)

Skills 

Gateway

Imple-

ment

School College 

Partnership (Pilot)

Castlebrae 

Community High 

School and 

Edinburgh College -

Delivering Data skills 

to S4-6 started 

Sep/Oct.

Development of 

COP-26 Live Lesson. 

Webinar series for 

teaching staff 

published events.

COP26 Live 

Lesson to be run 

twice in Nov– over 

1,000 sign ups to 

date.

Planning for two 

School-College 

Partnership 

events in 

December.

G A 2

• DDI SG team down to final three in Digital Leaders 100 Talent Initiative of the 

Year Digital Skills or Talent Initiative of the Year — Digital Leaders 100 

(digileaders100.com)

• COP26 Live Lesson ran on 9 and 10 November  Data Skills Live: Use Data 

Science to reduce your school's carbon footprint - Data Education in Schools 

(dataschools.education)

• Plans continue for Day of Data Schools College Partnership events to be held at 

Edinburgh and Borders Colleges in December / Fife & West Lothian in Spring 22.

• Engagement ongoing with Regional Education Improvement Collaborative to 

recruit teachers to support IOT initiative

• Events page on Data Education in Schools site recording numbers engaging with 

Live Lessons - Events for data education - Data Education in Schools 

(dataschools.education). Over 10,000 pupils have participated to date.

Workforce 

Mobility

Imple-

ment

17 August 2021

IRES Board plan 

approval. 

Success obtaining 

circa £180k for an 

EV transport 

charging feasibility 

study in the 

Scottish Borders 

through the UK 

Community 

Renewal Fund.  

August 2022

IRES Board –

review. 

Progressing data 

analysis in the 

Scottish Borders 

for the pilot in 

2022 to design 

bus services to 

match demand.  

G G 2

• Continued involvement in various work incl. Regional Prosperity Framework 

Delivery Plan; ‘Future of Transport Forum’, NTS2 Partnership, National Smart 

Ticket Advisory Board, Transport Governance & Collaboration Review Group and 

Accessible Travel Framework; CEC End Poverty Network of Networks 

• Data Analyst reviewing employment zones across all 6 LA boundaries to 

implement pilot schemes.

• Baseline data gathering continues to support final report at the end of Mar 22.

• Working with Borders College to design services that match student travel needs 

for the start of U22 free travel scheme. 

• Working with SUStran to jointly review a large bike on bus investment and how it 

performs to help connectivity in rural areas.

• Approval in principle from SOSE for a 50km active travel feasibility study to 

support better connectivity options across one of the most sparsely populated 

areas of the UK.

P
age 29

https://digileaders100.com/digital-skills-or-talent-initiative
https://dataschools.education/eventbrite-event/data-skills-live-use-data-science-to-reduce-your-schools-carbon-footprint/
https://dataschools.education/events/


ESESCR Deal Progress Report – August 2020

Page 10: Transport Theme

T: On Time?; B: On Budget?; SAV: Strategic Added Value Score

Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

A720 Sheriffhall

(last update 

provided by 

Transport 

Scotland on 

5 November 

2021)

Define

Consultation on 

draft orders 

closed 31

January 2020. 

Transport 

Scotland is 

currently 

responding to 

representations

. 

Ongoing statutory 

process.
G G 1

• Joint Committee ratified their support for the scheme as published on 3 

September 2021, following the consideration of further technical information.

• Engagement with objectors is underway to inform objection resolution.

• Formal objection response drafting is substantially complete, with over 1400 

responses issued to date.

• Background inquiry evidence preparation is underway.

West Edinburgh Define

Initial  

Development  

of package of 

interventions. 

Delivery of the 

Draft Preliminary 

Appraisal Report.

Transition into the 

next significant 

phase of the 

project (Stage 1B -

OBC) 

G G 1

In 2019, CEC developed a model to further prioritise the measures set out in the 

2016 West Edinburgh Transport Appraisal (which amounted to £108m Inc. 

optimism bias), with an emphasis on public transport and active travel 

prioritisation. Joint Committee have approved the appointment of Jacobs to 

execute Stage 1 of the project delivery plan. This will include further feasibility of 

proposals, developing outline designs, refining the current business case and 

updating the West Edinburgh programme delivery plan accordingly (including 

financial profiles). 

Agreement on funding between CEC and Transport Scotland has been agreed 

and Stage 1a has commenced. Discussions are to commence on the required 

approvals to proceed with Stage1B. Consultants are currently finalising Stage 1B 

proposal. 

Note: In April 2021, CRD partners submitted an application to Transport 

Scotland’s Bus Partnership Fund (BPF), which cites A8/89 as a key strategic 

Public Transport corridor. Subsequently, Transport Scotland notified CRD 

Partners that our application had been successful in securing funds to develop 

business case works and at the meeting of the Joint Committee on 3 September 

2021, the recommendation to mobilise and advance the associated Strategic 

Appraisal works (which includes the A89/A8) was approved. Draft Preliminary 

Appraisal Report to be presented to Transport Scotland for discussion and 

subsequent finalisation.  

P
age 30



Project Stage Last Milestone Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

Dunard Centre Define

Variation to 

planning 

application 

submitted.

Planning 

determination
A G 2

The City of Edinburgh Council’s Development

Management Sub Committee approved IMPACT

Scotland’s application to build Dunard Centre on St

Andrew Square on 24 November.

Page 11: Culture Theme

T: On Time?; B: On Budget?; SAV: Strategic Added Value score

P
age 31



Page 12: Housing Theme

T: On Time?; B: On Budget?; SAV: Strategic Added Value score

Project Stage
Last 

Milestone
Next Milestone T B SAV Comments

Affordable housing
Deliver & 

Define 

Investment 

Subgroup 

met for 

second time 

on 10 Nov.

Agree scope of group. A N/A 2

• Partners will work collaboratively with Scottish 

Government, agencies, RSLs and other stakeholders 

to secure more investment, innovation, commitment 

and partnerships to address the challenges above 

and deliver at scale and pace

Strategic sites
Implement 

& Define

Dunfermline 

draw down 

of phase 1 

funds. 

Granton 

Waterfront 

OBC  -

approved at 

CEC in Oct

Granton Waterfront 

Update to 3 Dec JC
A A 2

• Outline Business Cases for sites are at different 

stages of development.

• Regular leads meetings now established to explore 

challenges, innovation and shared learning from 

business case development.

Innovation & skills Implement

Edinburgh 

Home 

Demonstrat

or (EHD) 

update to 

16 Sep 

Board.

Est. pipeline of sites 

from across the region 

for 1000 homes. 

A N/A 3

• Demonstrator project will look at standardised 

housing types, procurement and delivery models to 

increase offsite manufacturing and delivery of net-

zero homes across the city region 

• Partnership between CEC,SFT, Scot Gov, CSIC, 

ENU and OSS.

Housing company  Deliver 

Draw down 

of funds 

completed.

Ongoing Delivery. G G 1

• The City of Edinburgh Council and Scottish Futures 

Trust will continue to share learning and financial 

models with partners, to explore regional delivery 

models.

P
age 32



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 
Region Deal Joint Committee 
 

10pm, Friday 3 December 2021 

Granton Waterfront Regeneration – Outline Business 

Case 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 Over the next 15 years, Granton Waterfront will set the standard for sustainable 

economic growth in Edinburgh. An ambitious approach to low carbon living in an 

environment that is climate resilient, inclusive and well connected will support 

prosperity and wellbeing, locally, and across the city region. 

1.2 Stage 1, Programme Delivery Plan was approved by the City of Edinburgh 

Council’s Policy and Sustainability Committee in February 2020 and Stage 2, 

Outline Business Case (OBC) was approved on 5 October 2021.  

1.3 This report presents the OBC and details the progress that will be made as part of 

Stage 3 activities. A progress update on Early Action Projects is also provided.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place, The City of Edinburgh Council 

Contact: Sat Patel, Edinburgh Waterfront Programme Lead 

E-mail: Satyam.Patel@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3185 

 

Item number 5.5  

Page 33

Agenda Item 5.5

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=303&Ver=4
mailto:Satyam.Patel@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 2 

 
Report 
 

Granton Waterfront Regeneration – Outline Business 

Case 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Joint Committee:  

2.1.1 Notes the findings and recommendations set out within the Outline Business 

Case (OBC);  

2.1.2 Notes the Stage 3 activities to be carried out to produce a Final Business 

Case (FBC) for Phase 1 ‘Heart of Granton’, which will include procurement of 

a development partner and progression of the business case stages for a low 

carbon district heat network; and  

2.1.3 Notes progress with delivering Early Action Projects within the Programme.  

3. Background 

3.1 Granton Waterfront is a 150-hectare site on the Firth of Forth in the northwest of 

Edinburgh, Scotland. Historically dominated by the Gasworks, the site now 

comprises a mix of vacant brownfield land, ageing industrial estates and derelict 

historic structures, along with pockets of residential and green space.  

3.2 The Granton Waterfront sits within a cluster of neighbourhoods that have historically 

suffered from relatively high levels of deprivation: Drylaw, Muirhouse, Pennywell, 

Pilton, Royston Mains and Wardieburn. 

3.3 Granton Waterfront is one of seven strategic sites prioritised for delivery as part of 

the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal. 

3.4 In March 2018, the Housing and Economy Committee agreed the high-level 

objectives for the regeneration of Granton Waterfront including the intention to work 

collaboratively with the public-sector partners and the local community to develop a 

vision for Granton.  This included agreement to create a development framework for 

the area to guide future development.  

3.5 In March 2018, the Finance and Resources Committee (B agenda) agreed to note 

the purchase of the Forthquarter site in Granton Waterfront.  In May 2018, land in 

Granton Waterfront held formerly in Waterfront Edinburgh Limited (WEL/EDI) 

ownership officially transferred over to the Council. As a result, the Council now 

owns approximately 50 hectares of developable land in Granton Waterfront. 

Page 34

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=287&MeetingId=2519&DF=22%2f03%2f2018&Ver=2


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 3 

3.6 In 2018, the Council formed a strategic partnership with five other organisations – 

Edinburgh College, National Galleries of Scotland (NGS), National Museums 

Scotland (NMS), the Scottish Futures Trust and the Scottish Government – to 

accelerate the regeneration of Granton Waterfront. The six organisations are 

collectively referred to as the “Strategic Partners”. 

3.7 On 25 February 2020 the Programme Delivery Plan for Granton was presented to 

the Council’s Policy and Sustainability Committee with agreement to develop an 

OBC for approval by Committee prior to development of detailed business cases.  

3.8 On 26 February 2020 the Council’s Planning Committee approved the Development 

Framework for Granton Waterfront as non-statutory planning guidance, setting out 

the vision and key principles for all future development.  

3.9 In mid-2020, the Council commenced work on an OBC for a Council-led 

regeneration of Granton Waterfront. 

3.10 On 5 October 2021 the OBC was presented to the Council’s Policy and 

Sustainability Committee with agreement to produce a Final Business Case (FBC) 

for Phase 1 ‘Heart of Granton’, which will include procurement of a development 

partner and progression of the business case stages for a low carbon district heat 

network  

3.11 The OBC, included in Appendix 1, has been prepared in accordance with the 

business case development process set out in Office of Government Commerce 

and HM Treasury guidance.  

3.12 In parallel with producing the OBC, a series of early action projects have been 

developed to enable accelerated delivery of net zero carbon affordable homes, 

enhanced connectivity and commercial and creative workspace. Further detail on 

progress within each of these projects can be found in Appendix 2. These projects 

are paving the way for Granton to become a leading example in sustainable 

development: supporting the transition to net zero carbon, creating an outstanding 

place and supporting inclusive growth.  

3.13 The work to produce the OBC and progress on the early action projects is overseen 

by the Edinburgh Waterfront All Party Oversight Group, in conjunction with an 

officer led, Edinburgh Waterfront Board.  

4. Main report 

4.1 Granton Waterfront regeneration will create a new coastal town, home to around 

8,000 people on Edinburgh’s waterfront. It will deliver around 3,500 net zero carbon 

homes, a primary school, a health centre, commercial and cultural space and a new 

coastal park. These new uses will be supported by new cycling and walking routes 

and enhanced public transport connections. Through exemplar urban design and 

planning, the realisation of benefits associated with achieving a 20-minute 

neighbourhood with enhanced connections to the city and wider region will create a 

truly outstanding place to live, work, learn and visit.  

Page 35

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=303&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=147&MId=326&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6004&Ver=4


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 4 

4.2 The overall development will make a significant contribution to Edinburgh’s target to 

become a net zero carbon city by 2030 through a mix of energy efficient buildings, 

renewable energy solutions, sustainable travel options and a nature-based 

approach to climate mitigation and adaptation. 

4.3 The main findings of the OBC are set out below: 

The Strategic Case 

4.4 The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme supports the delivery of the 

Council Business Plan, the City Mobility Plan and the emerging City Plan 2030.   

4.5 The Granton Waterfront regeneration has the potential to help meet the top three 

priorities for the Council: 

4.5.1 Ending poverty and preventing adverse outcomes such as 

homelessness and unemployment: the City of Edinburgh Council has set 

ambitious goals of delivering at least 20,000 new affordable homes 

(alongside registered social landlord partners) in Edinburgh by 2027 and 

eliminating poverty in Edinburgh by 2030. Granton Waterfront will deliver: 

4.5.1.1 At least 1,225 new affordable homes (of which around 455 will be 

delivered through early action projects, and 53 through phase 1 over 

the next five years), both reducing poverty and homelessness; 

4.5.1.2  Thousands of new construction and end-use jobs, creating 

employment and training opportunities for people who are 

unemployed or underemployed; 

4.5.1.3 New affordable workspaces will help people start their own 

businesses; and 

4.5.1.4 Educational outcomes which will be enhanced via new learning and 

upskilling opportunities, enabling people to enhance their 

employment prospects.   

4.5.2 Becoming a net zero city: the City of Edinburgh Council’s ambition is to 

achieve net zero carbon by 2030. A comprehensive regeneration such as 

Granton Waterfront is an excellent opportunity to deliver an exemplar 

community centred on sustainability. A suite of measures such as energy 

efficient well-insulated homes, renewable energy sources, natural flood 

defences, new and enhanced green spaces, improved public transport, 

minimal car ownership (with prioritisation of electric vehicles), new foot and 

cycle paths, innovative waste management strategies and local food 

production will contribute to the net zero carbon goal. 

4.5.3 Ensuring wellbeing and equalities are enhanced for all: Granton 

Waterfront will give residents easy access to services via new facilities such 

as a health centre, a nursery, and leisure amenities such as a new coastal 

park. Existing and emerging communities will shape the regeneration, 

ensuring it meets their diverse needs now and into the future.   

Page 36



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 5 

4.6 Additionally, Granton Waterfront will help deliver other local policies, such as a 

focus on delivering high-density housing on brownfield land (as articulated in the 

Council’s Choices for City Plan document) and a prioritisation of active travel and 

bus/tram-based mass rapid transit, as set out in the City Mobility Plan for 

Edinburgh. 

4.7 The regeneration of Granton Waterfront will also contribute to the delivery of 

relevant national policies. The Economic Strategy for Scotland sets out the four key 

priorities for Scotland’s economy of investment, innovation, inclusive growth and 

international outlook, while the Economic Recovery Implementation Plan 

emphasises a “jobs-led” recovery from the economic shock of COVID-19. Granton 

Waterfront will create the conditions and opportunities for massive-scale public and 

private investment in Scotland. Construction expenditure and the delivery of new 

workspaces and public sector facilities will bring employment to a historically 

deprived area, which in turn will support employment via indirect and induced 

multiplier effects.   

4.8 The delivery of low carbon energy solutions will create jobs in the emerging green-

sector. A revitalised Edinburgh College campus and modern affordable workspaces 

aimed at early-stage businesses in high-growth sectors such as technology and 

creative industries will encourage entrepreneurialism and innovation. The creation 

of new parkland and leisure facilities along with the restoration of historic buildings 

will drive visitor inflows, while the uplifting of Granton Waterfront will make it an 

attractive place for international investment, tourism, and migration. 

The Economic Case 

4.9 The economic appraisal of the Granton Waterfront regeneration programme tests 

delivery options to asses which represents best value for money. 

4.10 Critical success factors for the regeneration programme have been identified as: 

implementation and timing, delivery capabilities, affordability and strategic fit. Each 

delivery option has been assessed against these allowing a long list to be 

discounted to a short list of three categorised under “do minimum”, “partial 

investment” and “full investment”. These have been summarised below: 

Category Do Minimum Partial 

Investment 

Full Investment 

Homes  Approximately 

200 homes. 

 

Extensive 

brownfield sites 

left contaminated 

and undeveloped. 

Approximately 862 

homes. 

 

Extensive 

brownfield sites left 

contaminated and 

undeveloped. 

Approximately 2,864 homes– 

note that early action projects 

already committed (a further 

661 homes) have been 

excluded from economic and 

financial modelling.  Overall, a 

minimum of 35% of the total 

homes delivered will be 

affordable. 

Net zero 

carbon  

Minimum 

requirements 

only. 

Individual air 

source heat 

pumps.  

Low carbon district heating 

network.  

Page 37



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 6 

Sustainable 

Travel 

Minimal active 

travel measures 

and public 

transport 

enhancements. 

One transport hub, 

partial investment 

in active travel and 

public transport. 

Two new transport hubs, 

expansive active travel 

network, enhanced public 

transport connectivity. 

Commercial Existing 

commercial 

space. 

2,000 sqm of new 

commercial space. 

9,065 sqm of new commercial 

space. 

Place 

making 

None. Limited new public 

realm to join up 

plots, primary 

school, Limited 

coastal access. 

New school / healthcare 

facility / coastal park and 

upgraded promenade / 

coastal resilience from 

flooding/ public realm. 

Heritage  Maintenance of 

gas holder and 

other historic 

buildings.  

Maintenance of 

gas holder and 

other historic 

buildings.  

Refurbished gas holder and 

other historic buildings with 

scope for commercial long-

term reuse. 

4.11 A cost benefit analysis and economic impact assessment, in line with HM Treasury 

Green book guidance, has been carried out on the shortlisted options at an 

Edinburgh, City Region and Scotland level.  

4.12 The economic impact assessment is based on considering the impacts of both the 

construction phase and the operating phase, combined for a 40-year period.  At 

each area level, the “full investment” option returns the greatest economic impact. 

4.13 The “full investment” option delivers the strongest benefit-cost ratio (BCR): 1.3 at an 

Edinburgh level. When the BCR is weighted to reflect deprivation in Granton 

Waterfront and surrounding neighbourhoods, this rises to 2.9. (Table 10 within 

appendix 1 OBC provides further detail). 

4.14 The programme has a positive economic case, delivering £1.30 of benefit for each 

£1 of public sector investment. 

4.15 The “full investment” option will also generate significant wider non-monetised 

benefits such as reduction of carbon emissions, reduction in fuel poverty and an 

increase in health and well-being benefits. Therefore, in practice, the BCR will be 

comfortably above stated monetised levels. 

4.16 Overall, it is considered that the ‘full investment’ approach to the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront represents best value for money for the public sector whilst best 

achieving the strategic objectives set out within the strategic case. 

The Financial Case 

4.17 The financial model produced for the 2020 Programme Delivery Plan has been 

revised and updated to include: 

4.17.1 Detailed actual costings derived from early action projects; 

4.17.2 Updates based on phasing, decontamination and transport strategies; and  

4.17.3 Increased net zero carbon requirements. 

Page 38

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s14342/Item%207.12%20-%20Granton%20Waterfront%20Leading%20the%20Way%20in%20Sustainable%20Development%20Programme%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf


 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 7 

4.18 Existing funding sources have also been reviewed and have been updated where 

appropriate, including residual land value, developer contributions, grant funding 

and the level of borrowing that could be supported by the Council’s Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA) and Edinburgh Living through their net rental income 

streams. 

4.19 The cost plan assumes that the Council will deliver 35% of homes; Registered 

Social Landlords (RSL) 15% and the remaining 50% will be private sector led. A 

minimum of 35% of the homes will be affordable and delivered through Council and 

RSL partners.   

4.20 The outputs of the modelling suggest a large viability gap. The total funding shortfall 

in delivering phases 1-4 of regeneration is £381.2m (£306.2m net of optimism bias).  

The first phase of regeneration has a funding shortfall of £70.1m (£45.5m net of 

optimism bias). These are further detailed in the table below: 

 

 

Phase 
Cost 

Cost 

(Excl 
Optimism 

Bias) 

Available 
Funding 

Net 
position 

Net 
position  

(Excl 
Optimism 

Bias) 

One  Heart of Granton £197.5m £172.9m £127.4m £70.1m £45.5m 

Two Harbour Road £201.2m £182.2m £59.8m £141.4m £122.4m 

Three West Shore £127.2m £110.1m £46.8m £80.4m £63.3m 

Four  Upper Granton £163.2m £148.9m £73.9m £89.3m £75.0m 

TOTAL £689.1m £614.1m £307.9m £381.2m £306.2m 

4.21 Based on the extent of the shortfall, it is challenging to fund the entire programme 

from the outset, but the phased approach set out in paragraph 4.30 of this report, 

breaks down the programme into more achievable targets. 

4.22 Taking this phased approach, a funding strategy has been set out which considers 

the potential sources of external funding to address the shortfall in Phase 1 ’Heart of 

Granton’. This is set out in the below: 

Area of 
Investment 

Description Capital 
cost 

Funding Opportunity 

Housing 
(Council and 
Edinburgh 
Living) 

66 social rent homes, 
53 mid market rent 
and 
84 market rent 
homes. 
Including Commercial 

£48.6m Additional Affordable Housing 
Supply Programme grant funding; 
additional grant for mid market 
rent; debt sculpting to increase 
financial viability; City Region Deal 
Housing Infrastructure Fund  

Net zero 
carbon 

Low carbon heat 
technologies 

£5.9m Low Carbon Infrastructure 
Transition Programme, green 

Page 39



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 8 

recovery; Green Growth 
Accelerator; Scottish National 
Investment Bank; Shared 
Prosperity Fund  

Gas Holder 
restoration 
and other 
heritage 
assets 

Restoration of 
structural frame and 
other heritage 
buildings within 
framework area. 

£26.6m Levelling Up Fund Bid; Historic 
Environment Scotland; National 
Lottery Heritage Fund; Shared 
Prosperity Fund 

Place-
making and 
transport 

Public realm 
Cycle and footways 
Junction 
improvements 
Mobility hub 

£52.0m Place Based Investment 
Programme; Regeneration Capital 
Grant Fund; Places for Everyone; 
Sustrans; Shared Prosperity Fund 

Enabling 
and 
remediation 

Land remediation  £21.2m Vacant and Derelict land 
Investment Programme 

4.23 The table above excludes the Health Centre (£10.9m) and School (£32.3m) as 

funding is earmarked for these through NHS Lothian and the Council’s capital 

programme respectively. 

4.24 Success in delivering the regeneration in line with the vision will be dependent on 

the Council securing a package of funding from Government and other external 

parties as outlined above, and a commitment towards providing funding for future 

phases. 

The Commercial Case 

4.25 The Granton Waterfront programme has a highly complex delivery profile based on 

remediation and vast enabling infrastructure required.  

4.26 The delivery strategy has been informed by the key programme requirements along 

with an assessment of the main barriers to achieving these.   

4.27 A revised phasing strategy is proposed based on delivering plots with lower 

infrastructure and remediation costs earlier on with the anticipated benefits of a 

‘place premium’ being used to offset higher abnormal costs in later phases. 

4.28 Delivery models have been considered and it is concluded that a combination of 

partnering with the private sector and entering into contracts for specialist work will 

best help achieve the programme requirements at this current point in time. 

4.29 As highlighted within the Financial Case, there is a significant funding shortfall, thus, 

there is not considered to be a viable market option that would allow for delivery of 

the overall programme from the outset.   

4.30 The Council will retain the “master developer” role moving forward and apply a 

phased approach to development delivery that maximises opportunities and 

benefits, optimises market interest and manages risks. This phased approach is set 

out below:  

Phase Title No. of homes Start Completion 

Phase 1 Heart of Granton 788 May 2024 April 2028 

Page 40



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 9 

Phase 2 Harbour Road 768 March 2026 May 2031 

Phase 3 West Shore 726 June 2026 May 2033 

Phase 4 Upper Granton 
582 August 

2031 
May 2036 

Total 2,864 

4.31 The total number of homes above do not include early action projects, which will 

see an additional 661 homes delivered between 2022 and 2026. This takes the 

overall number of homes delivered within Granton Waterfront to 3,525. These 

homes will be delivered alongside key services and public realm as set out in the 

phasing plans within section 5 of appendix 1.  

4.32 A delivery strategy for phase 1 has been identified which seeks to appoint a 

development partner whilst in parallel progressing development of the district 

heating network business case stages. 

4.33 A pre-development period may be utilised following the appointment of a 

development partner. This stage can be useful in adding value, ensuring co-

ordination and managing risk.   

4.34 The procurement strategy for appointment of a development partner will be 

developed based on lessons learnt from recent exercises carried out by the Council 

on Fountainbridge and Meadowbank development sites. 

The Management Case 

4.35 A pre-development programme for phase 1 and a master programme for delivery of 

phases 1-4 have been developed based on the recommended delivery strategy. 

4.36 The pre-development period is assumed to run from October 2021 to May 2024 with 

enabling works and construction for phase 1 starting thereafter. 

4.37 The critical path for the pre-development period includes appointment of a 

development partner, development of the district heating business case, securing 

grant funding, obtaining detailed planning consent and assembling land. These are 

listed in the table below: 

Pre-Development Milestones 

Programme Milestone Date 

Completion of district heating network OBC April 2022 

Procurement of development partner  May 2022 

Full business case approved following pre-development period 
(including district heating network) 

June 2023 

Planning application submitted June 2023 

Development agreement award June 2023 

Land assembly complete (phase one) Jan 2024 

Planning consent secured  May 2024 

Enabling infrastructure contract award May 2024 

Page 41



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 10 

District heating contract award  May 2024 

Start on site – first residential block April 2025 

4.38 A risk management strategy has been developed to promote clear ownership 

across the programme team. 

4.39 Strong programme governance and programme management arrangements are in 

place and set out in detail within appendix 1 Fig 5 and Fig 6 within section 6. 

4.40 A benefits realisation strategy has been developed to create a framework for 

monitoring and evaluating benefits as each phase is delivered. 

4.41 A stakeholder management and communication plan has been developed to ensure 

that the regeneration programme meets the needs and expectations of the 

community and key stakeholders. 

Stage 3 

4.42 Stage 1, Programme Delivery Plan (PDP) approved in February 2020 

recommended a staged delivery approach to the programme.  

4.43 Stage 2 activities agreed within the PDP have been completed as part of the 

process of developing this OBC. 

4.44 The OBC was approved in October 2021 agreeing the commencement of stage 3, 

development of an FBC for phase 1 ‘Heart of Granton’ of regeneration as set out 

below: 

Programme Milestone Date 

Completion of district heating network OBC April 2022 

Procurement of development partner  May 2022 

Full business case approved following pre-development period 
(including district heating network) 

June 2023 

4.45 This will maintain progress on delivery of the regeneration programme by bringing in 

development partner skills and expertise, developing a case for a low carbon 

energy solution, progressing designs, achieving further cost certainty to reduce 

optimism bias and creating a deliverable phase 1 that aims to secure a package of 

government grant funding to close any remaining viability gap. 

5. Financial impact 

Outline Business Case 

5.1 Detailed analysis of costs and funding reveal a significant funding gap for the 

Granton Waterfront programme of £381.2m. This is a prudent estimate 

incorporating optimism bias.  Sensitivity testing has shown that improved market 

conditions could reduce the gap. However, there is also a risk that the gap could 

increase if market conditions deteriorate or other risks materialise. Based on the 

extent of the shortfall, it is difficult to fund the entire programme from the outset.  A 

phased approach to delivery will help to break this down into more achievable 

targets. 

Page 42



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 11 

5.2 A funding strategy has been devised setting out potential sources of external 

funding to address the shortfall in the first phase – ‘Heart of Granton’.  Should the 

Council be successful in securing the £70.1m required to close the funding gap, 

phase 1 could proceed and further detailed work could commence to obtain funding 

for the remaining three phases. 

Stage 3 

5.3 Stage 3 costs are estimated at £4.6m. As the Council’s HRA is a key stakeholder 

and landowner at Granton, these costs will be funded from the HRA revenue 

budget. An element of the cost represents front funding from the HRA and, with the 

HRA acting as an enabler, will allow the development of a proposed phased 

delivery of regeneration and new social and other affordable homes to progress. A 

key outcome of stage 3 is securing a funding and financing package to ensure a 

first phase of regeneration is viable and deliverable. Securing this will allow the HRA 

to benefit from front funding through the realisation of capital land receipts and 

government grant funding over the period of the approved project. 

5.4 Gateways are built into the stage 3 process to ensure that the viability and 

deliverability of a first phase of regeneration is tested at key points in the 

development process. This will ensure that progress to achieve the key outcomes is 

monitored at key intervals whilst minimising the risk of abortive costs being incurred. 

5.5 Following the completion of stage 3, a further report will be brought to a Council 

committee seeking approval of the FBC and the authority to enter into the delivery 

element of Phase 1. It is anticipated at this stage that this is likely to be a 

development agreement following a pre-development period. 

5.6 Funding to deliver the early action projects outlined within this report are contained 

within the current Council HRA and General Fund Capital Programmes.  

6. Alignment with Sustainable, Inclusive Growth Ambitions 

6.1 Based on the strategic context, the key issues and constraints, and the principles 

set out in the Development Framework, four strategic goals for the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront have been set:    

6.1.1 Create a new blueprint for net zero carbon development that supports 

sustainable living in the context of a changing climate;  

6.1.2 Be a driver of sustainable, inclusive economic growth, job creation, prosperity 

and resilience for local communities and the wider city region;  

6.1.3 Create a vibrant, well connected and welcoming coastal community with a 

strong sense of identity as a place that is inclusive, attractive and accessible 

to all; and 

6.1.4 Accelerate the delivery of development on brownfield sites to meet 

Edinburgh and the City Region’s housing need. 

 

Page 43



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Page 12 

7. Background reading/external references 

7.1 2030 Climate Strategy – Draft for Consultation, 2021 
 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1: Granton Waterfront OBC 

8.2 Appendix 2: Early Action Projects  

 

 

 

Page 44

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s34649/Item%207.7%20-%202030%20Climate%20Strategy%20-%20Draft%20for%20Consultation.pdf


  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 

2021 

Page 45



 
 

2 
  

Contents 
1.  Introduct ion.. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5  

Project background and description ...................................................................................... 5 

Scope of Outline Business Case .............................................................................................. 6 

2.  Strategic Case . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................... 9 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Background ............................................................................................................................. 9 

Strategic context .................................................................................................................. 10 

Key issues and constraints .................................................................................................... 12 

Socioeconomic issues ........................................................................................................... 12 

Environmental constraints ................................................................................................... 13 

Strategic goals and objectives .............................................................................................. 13 

Benefits, risks and dependencies ......................................................................................... 17 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 21 

3.  Economic Case . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................. 23 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 23 

Economic rationale for intervention .................................................................................... 24 

Appraisal of long-listed options ............................................................................................ 24 

Appraisal of short-listed options .......................................................................................... 28 

Economic impact assessment............................................................................................... 30 

Cost-benefit analysis ............................................................................................................ 34 

Carbon Scenario Tool ........................................................................................................... 36 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 39 

4.  Financial  Case . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  41  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................. 41 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 41 

Project Costs ......................................................................................................................... 42 

Cost Plan ............................................................................................................................... 42 

Contingency .......................................................................................................................... 43 

Financial model .................................................................................................................... 44 

Professional fees .................................................................................................................. 44 

Page 46



 
 

3 
  

Inflation ................................................................................................................................ 45 

Optimism Bias ....................................................................................................................... 45 

Items not included in the Cost Plan...................................................................................... 46 

Results .................................................................................................................................. 46 

Funding ................................................................................................................................. 47 

Revenue costs and income ................................................................................................... 48 

Modelling results .................................................................................................................. 48 

Affordability and funding ..................................................................................................... 48 

Opportunity cost .................................................................................................................. 49 

Risks and sensitivity .............................................................................................................. 49 

Risks and opportunities ........................................................................................................ 49 

Sensitivity analysis ................................................................................................................ 50 

Funding strategy ................................................................................................................... 51 

Conclusions ........................................................................................................................... 53 

5.  Commerc ial  Case  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  54  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................. 55 

Preparing an approach to delivery ....................................................................................... 55 

Key considerations ............................................................................................................... 56 

Programme requirements .................................................................................................... 56 

Barriers and mitigations ....................................................................................................... 58 

Overarching delivery strategy .............................................................................................. 59 

Phasing principles ................................................................................................................. 59 

Proposed phasing ................................................................................................................. 60 

Delivery model options ........................................................................................................ 64 

Programme delivery approach ............................................................................................. 67 

Phase one – delivering the Heart of Granton ....................................................................... 67 

Proposed delivery model...................................................................................................... 67 

Procurement and risk allocation .......................................................................................... 68 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 68 

6.  Management  Case . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  70  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................. 70 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 70 

Project plan .......................................................................................................................... 71 

Pre-development programme .............................................................................................. 71 

Page 47



 
 

4 
  

Procurement of a pre-development partner ....................................................................... 71 

Final business case ............................................................................................................... 71 

Land assembly – Landowners/ Occupiers ............................................................................ 71 

Planning ................................................................................................................................ 72 

Contract award for enabling infrastructure ......................................................................... 72 

Master programme .............................................................................................................. 73 

Risk management ................................................................................................................. 73 

Programme management framework .................................................................................. 74 

Programme structure and roles ........................................................................................... 74 

Programme governance and responsibilities ....................................................................... 75 

Key Roles and Responsibilities ............................................................................................. 76 

Programme administration .................................................................................................. 77 

Reporting management........................................................................................................ 77 

Benefits realisation strategy ................................................................................................. 78 

Stakeholder management .................................................................................................... 78 

Activities ............................................................................................................................... 78 

Objectives ............................................................................................................................. 80 

Communication .................................................................................................................... 80 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................ 81 

7.  Way Forward . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  82  

Chapter summary ................................................................................................................. 82 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 82 

Review of activities completed ............................................................................................ 82 

Stage 3 – development of Final Business Case for phase 1 .................................................. 83 

Estimated costs .................................................................................................................... 85 

Recommendation ................................................................................................................. 85 

 

  

Page 48



 
 

5 
  

1. Introduction 
Project background and description 

1.1. Granton Waterfront is a 150-hectare site on the Firth of Forth in the northwest of 

Edinburgh, Scotland. Historically dominated by the former Granton Gasworks, the site 

now comprises a mix of vacant brownfield land, ageing industrial estates and derelict 

historic structures, along with pockets of residential use and green space.  

1.2. The Granton Waterfront sits within a cluster of neighbourhoods that have historically 

suffered from relatively high levels of deprivation: Drylaw, Muirhouse, Pennywell, Pilton, 

Royston Mains and Wardieburn (referred to collectively as “North Edinburgh”).  

1.3. Granton Waterfront is one of seven strategic sites prioritised for delivery as part of the 

Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal. 

1.4. The manufacture of gas ceased in Granton in the late-1980s and all remaining activity at 

the Gasworks ended by 2001; the bulk of the former buildings have now been removed, 

with a small number of exceptions, most notably the 48m high Gas Holder No. 1 (“the Gas 

Holder”). Gradual redevelopment of the Gasworks and the wider Granton Waterfront 

commenced in phases in the 1990s, only to stall upon the onset of the global financial 

crisis in 2007. Subsequently, there has only been fragmented and piecemeal 

development, with the bulk of the land judged unviable to development due to a 

combination of low end use values linked to the deprivation of the area and high 

abnormal costs due to a combination of extensive contamination, steep topography, 

infrastructure gaps and poor ground conditions including substantial made ground.  

1.5. The City of Edinburgh Council has for many years held land in Granton Waterfront, and in 

early 2018 it acquired significant additional land from Waterfront Edinburgh, a Council-

arm’s length company that had incurred significant financial pressures due to the impacts 

of the financial crisis on the development industry. In March 2018, the Council purchased 

the site of the former Granton Gasworks (including the Gas Holder) from National Grid 

Property to facilitate a public sector-led regeneration of the area. As a result, the Council 

now owns approximately 50 hectares of development land in Granton Waterfront. 

1.6. In 2018, the Council formed a strategic partnership with five other organisations – 

Edinburgh College, National Galleries of Scotland, National Museums Scotland, the 

Scottish Futures Trust and the Scottish Government – to accelerate the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront. The six organisations are collectively referred to as the “Strategic 

Partners”. 

1.7. In February 2020, the Council agreed a Development Framework setting out the vision, 

strategy, and high-level design principles for the regeneration of the Granton Waterfront. 

The Council also agreed a Programme Delivery Plan setting out the high-level route to 

delivery.  

Page 49



 
 

6 
  

1.8. The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme is proposed to create a new 

residential-led mixed-use community, home to around 8,000 people on Edinburgh’s 

waterfront. It will deliver around 3,500 net zero carbon homes (of which at least 35% – 

1,225 – will be affordable), a primary school, a health centre, commercial and cultural 

space and a new coastal park. These new uses will be supported by new cycling and 

walking routes and enhanced public transport connections. The revitalisation of Granton 

Waterfront’s historic buildings and the delivery of new leisure and recreation 

opportunities will attract significantly increased visitors to the area. Partner organisations 

to the Council will deliver substantial new cultural and educational assets in the Granton 

Waterfront over the regeneration timeframe. The overall development will make a 

significant contribution to Edinburgh’s target to become a net zero carbon city by 2030 

through a mix of energy efficient buildings, renewable energy solutions, sustainable travel 

options and a nature-based approach to climate mitigation and adaptation. 

1.9. In mid-2020, the Council commenced work on an Outline Business Case (OBC) for a 

Council-led strategic regeneration of Granton Waterfront. In advance of the OBC, a 

programme of early action projects with standalone business cases have been initiated: 

the delivery of around 700 net zero carbon homes, the refurbishment of the former 

Granton Gasworks railway station (“Granton Station”) and a disused former warehouse 

(“West Shore Studios”) as creative enterprise hubs, and the illumination of the Gas 

Holder.   

Scope of Outline Business Case 

1.10. The area as outlined within the red boundary below forms the scope of this OBC. 

 

1.11. The OBC has been developed in accordance with HM Treasury Green Book guidance.  It 

builds on the existing Programme Delivery Plan (PDP). The elements of the OBC are 

summarised below: 

Page 50



 
 

7 
  

• A Strategic Case demonstrating the strategic fit of the Granton Waterfront project 
with local and national policy objectives; 

• An Economic Case that demonstrates that the preferred option for delivering the 
regeneration of Granton Waterfront represents best value, including an economic 
impact assessment of the shortlisted options; 

• A Financial Case demonstrating that whilst the overall regeneration of Granton is 
currently unviable, adopting a phased approach underpinned with a funding strategy 
for delivering phase 1 will help create more cost certainty, reduce the funding gap 
and create a place premium that will help fund future phases.  The financial model 
has been updated based on a revised cost plan.  Revisions to the cost plan have been 
informed by additional studies including transport and energy masterplans, a 
decontamination strategy, and an early-action housing delivery plan; 

• A Commercial Case demonstrating that a phased approach to the delivery of Granton 
Waterfront is the most viable option in creating greater cost certainty whilst 
managing and sharing risk; and 

• A Management Case demonstrating that the Council has the resources and 
experience to successfully deliver the regeneration of Granton Waterfront, ensuring 

targets in terms of cost, time and quality are achieved.  

 

Page 51



 
 

8 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Case 
 

Page 52



 
 

9 
  

2. Strategic Case 

Chapter summary 

  

• The public sector-led regeneration of Granton Waterfront will play a key 
role in meeting the demand of a growing city: delivering new homes 
(including affordable provision) and workspaces to meet contemporary 
social and economic needs within a community centred on sustainability. 

• The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme supports the delivery of 
the Council Business Plan, the City Mobility Plan and the emerging City 
Plan.  It will also support the delivery of key national policy objectives 
including the Economic Strategy for Scotland, the Housing to 2040 vision 
and the goal of making Scotland carbon neutral by 2045. 

• Granton Waterfront sits within an area of persistent multiple deprivation 
with considerable socioeconomic challenges.  The regeneration programme 
will help to address these 

• Environmental constraints exist that make regenerating the area 
challenging in terms of adding greater cost, complexity and risk to 
construction. 

• Four strategic goals and eight strategic objectives for the regeneration of 
Granton Waterfront have been set. 

• The strategic benefits of regenerating Granton Waterfront have been 
summarised along with the main risks and dependencies affecting the 
programme. 

 

 

Introduction 

2.1. The Strategic Case sets out the strategic rationale for investment in Granton 

Waterfront: how the regeneration programme will help Edinburgh and Scotland 

achieve key policies. 

Background 

2.2. Edinburgh is a growing city, with annualised population growth of around 1% - 

representing over 5,000 new residents each year. This, coupled with household 

changes, drives demand for new homes, along with workspaces, retail/leisure 

destinations, and social infrastructure such as schools, libraries, nurseries and health 

centres. There is particular demand for affordable housing, with the popularity of 

Page 53



 
 

10 
  

Edinburgh as a place to live resulting in lower-income households being priced out of 

the market.  

2.3. As with most cities in developed countries, Edinburgh’s economy has experienced a 

shift in recent decades away from primary industries and manufacturing towards the 

service sector, with longstanding sources of employment such as financial services 

augmented by the growth of industries such as tourism and technology. This structural 

change in the jobs market requires new workspaces, with ageing factories and low 

density uses such as warehouses and depots giving way to new uses.   

2.4. Sustainability is of growing importance with Edinburgh having set the ambitious target 

of becoming a net zero carbon city by 2030, ahead of the Scotland wide target of 

doing so by 2045. This requires a huge range of interventions, including making homes 

and workplaces more sustainable, promoting a shift away from travel by car towards 

walking, cycling and public transport, and increasing green infrastructure such as trees 

and natural flood defences. 

2.5. The public sector-led regeneration of Granton Waterfront will play a key role in 

responding to the above dynamics: delivering new homes and workspaces to meet 

contemporary social and economic needs within a community centred on 

sustainability. 

Strategic context  

2.6. The regeneration of Granton Waterfront can make a significant contribution to the 

delivery of multiple policies for Edinburgh.  

2.7. The Council’s Business Plan sets out the three top priorities for the Council: ending 

poverty and preventing adverse outcomes such as homelessness and unemployment, 

becoming a net zero city, and ensuring wellbeing and equalities are enhanced for all. 

The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme has the potential to help meet each 

of these priorities: 

• Ending poverty and preventing adverse outcomes such as homelessness and 
unemployment: The Council has set ambitious goals of delivering at least 20,000 
new affordable homes (alongside registered social landlord partners) in Edinburgh 
by 2027 and eliminating poverty in Edinburgh by 2030. Granton Waterfront will 
deliver at least 1,225 new affordable homes, both reducing poverty and reduce 
homelessness.1 Granton Waterfront will deliver thousands of new construction and 
end-use jobs, creating employment opportunities for people who are unemployed 
or underemployed, while new affordable workspaces will help people start their 
own businesses. Educational outcomes will be enhanced via new learning and 
upskilling opportunities, enabling people to enhance their employment prospects.   

 
1 This will in turn contribute to the Scottish Government’s Housing to 2040 vision, which sets an 
overarching objective of delivering more homes across all tenures which are sustainable and built to 
the long-term needs of residents. 

Page 54



 
 

11 
  

• Becoming a net zero city: The Council’s ambition is to achieve net zero carbon by 
2030.2 A comprehensive regeneration such as Granton Waterfront is an excellent 
opportunity to deliver a model community centred on sustainability. A suite of 
measures such as energy efficient well-insulated homes, renewable energy 
solutions, natural flood defences, new and enhanced green spaces, improved public 
transport, minimal car ownership (with prioritisation of electric vehicles), new foot 
and cycle paths, innovative waste management strategies, and local food 
production will contribute to the net zero carbon goal. 

• Ensuring wellbeing and equalities are enhanced for all: The Granton Waterfront will 
give residents easy access to services via new facilities such as a health centre, a 
nursery, and leisure amenities such as a new coastal park.3 Residents and 
community councils will shape the regeneration, ensuring it meets the diverse 

needs of the community.   

2.8. Additionally, Granton Waterfront will help deliver other local policies, such as a focus 

on delivering high-density housing on brownfield land ,as articulated in the Council’s 

Choices for City Plan document and a prioritisation of active travel and bus/tram-

based mass rapid transit, as set out in the City Mobility Plan for Edinburgh. 

2.9. The regeneration of Granton Waterfront will also contribute to the delivery of relevant 

national policies. The Economic Strategy for Scotland sets out the four key priorities 

for Scotland’s economy of investment, innovation, inclusive growth and international 

outlook, while the Economic Recovery Implementation Plan emphasises a “jobs-led” 

recovery from the economic shock of COVID-19. Granton Waterfront will create the 

conditions and opportunities for massive-scale public and private investment in 

Scotland. Construction expenditure and the delivery of new workspaces and public 

sector facilities will bring employment to a historically deprived area, which in turn will 

support employment via indirect and induced multiplier effects.   

2.10. The delivery of low carbon energy solutions will create jobs in the emerging green-

sector. A revitalised Edinburgh College campus and modern affordable workspaces 

aimed at early-stage businesses in high-growth sectors such as technology and the 

creative industries will nurture entrepreneurialism and innovation. The creation of 

new parkland and leisure facilities along with the restoration of historic buildings will 

drive visitor inflows, while the uplifting of Granton Waterfront will make it an 

attractive place for international investment, tourism, and migration. 

2.11. The vision, principles and Development Framework for Granton Waterfront 

established guidelines to ensure future development also align with the Scottish 

Government’s Place Principles and ’20-minute neighbourhood’ concept. By creating a 

place that meets everyday needs, numerous benefits will be realised, including a 

stronger local economy, enhanced health and wellbeing, improved connectivity and 

increased resilience through tackling climate change. 

 
2 This will in turn contribute to the Scottish Government’s goal of making Scotland carbon neutral by 
2045. 
3 This supports the “20-Minute Neighborhood” principle, which entails residents being able to access 
key day-to-day services within a 20-minute journey of their homes 

Page 55



 
 

12 
  

 

2.12. Granton Waterfront therefore has the potential to make a significant contribution to 

key local and national policy objectives. The contribution of Granton Waterfront to 

these objectives will be assessed over the period of the programme and beyond (more 

information on how the programme will be monitored is set out in the Management 

Case of the OBC). 

Key issues and constraints 

Socioeconomic issues 

2.13. Granton Waterfront sits within an area of persistent multiple deprivation with 

considerable socioeconomic challenges. A baseline review carried out in support of 

the OBC has highlighted the below issues:  

• Deprivation: multiple data-zones with Granton Waterfront and the surrounding 
neighbourhoods are classified in the lower (i.e. more deprived) deciles of the 2020 
Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation (SIMD), with multiple falling in the bottom 5% 
and 10% nationally. This highlights the mix of challenges facing the area. 

• Education and opportunity:  23% of the population of Granton Waterfront and the 
surrounding neighbourhoods have no qualifications compared with the overall 
Edinburgh average of 17%. This weakens the employment and earning prospects of 

residents.    

• Crime and neighbourhood: Parts of Granton Waterfront and the surrounding 
neighbourhoods have twice the crime rate of Edinburgh as a whole. The area has 
persistent issues with vandalism, arson and antisocial behaviour. 

• Earnings and household income: The average household income in Granton 
Waterfront and the surrounding neighbourhoods was 42% below the city average. 

• Health: Across several measures, Granton Waterfront and the surrounding 
neighbourhoods have consistently achieved below average health outcomes. There 
are persistent issues with substance abuse. 

• Housing stock: 74% of the current housing stock in Granton Waterfront and the 
surrounding neighbourhoods sits within the lowest three Council Tax bands. The 
housing stock includes multi-storey flats, pre and post war tenements and low-rise 
housing in Council, Registered Social Landlord and private ownership with 
significant investment required to repair and improve homes. 

• Poverty and inequality: The Forth ward, which Granton Waterfront and the 
surrounding neighbourhoods partly fall within, has the highest relative rate of 

poverty and the highest income inequality of any ward in Edinburgh. 

• Industrial mix: Granton Waterfront and the surrounding areas have high 
concentrations of employment in traditional sectors that are in long-term decline 
and low concentrations of employment in growth sectors. For example, 27% of 
people employed in the Granton and Royston Mains intermediate zone work in 
manufacturing (compared to 2% for Edinburgh overall), while 44% of people 

Page 56



 
 

13 
  

employed in the Granton West and Salvesen intermediate zone work in the 
electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply sector (compared to 1% for 

Edinburgh overall). 

Environmental constraints 

2.14. As set out above, the regeneration of Granton Waterfront has hitherto been 

characterised by piecemeal development and a slow build out rate. Among the factors 

driving this slow pace of development are the myriad of practical environmental 

constraints that add great cost, complexity, and risk to construction. These key issues 

are summarised below:  

• Contamination:  Site investigations have identified multiple contaminated areas 
characterised by coal, tar, blue billy4, and hydrocarbons. These issues are 
exacerbated by the steep topography and large areas of made ground.   

• Flood risk and coastal erosion: The vulnerability of the area to coastal flooding has 
been identified through technical studies as a significant risk. Furthermore, studies 

have concluded that there is a high risk of coastal erosion. 

• Infrastructure: The existing infrastructure provision throughout Granton Waterfront 
is inadequate with particularly weak north-south permeability.  

• Place: Granton Waterfront is characterised by pockets of housing, vacant/derelict 
land, and residual industrial uses which results in an uneasy mix of neighbouring 
uses creating issues such as noise, pollution, antisocial behaviour, and an overall 
weak sense of place and limited aesthetic appeal. 

• Heritage: Granton Waterfront has a rich history and heritage with many historic 
listed buildings and structures currently in poor condition. There are substantial 
costs associated with bringing them back into good condition.  

Strategic goals and objectives 

Strategic goals 

2.15. Based on the strategic context, the key issues and constraints, and the principles set 

out in the Development Framework, four strategic goals for the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront have been set:    

• Create a new blueprint for net zero carbon development that supports sustainable 
living in the context of a changing climate;  

• Be a driver of sustainable, inclusive economic growth, job creation, prosperity and 
resilience for local communities and the wider city region;  

• Create a vibrant, well connected and welcoming coastal community with a strong 
sense of identity as a place that is inclusive, attractive and accessible to all; and 

 
4 Blue billy is a contaminant containing high levels of cyanide deriving from past industrial processes. 

Page 57



 
 

14 
  

• Accelerate the delivery of development on brownfield sites to meet Edinburgh and 
the City Region’s housing need. 

Strategic objectives 

2.16. Based on the four strategic goals, eight strategic objectives for the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront have been set. These objectives – and how they are proposed to 

be delivered – are set out below. 

Objective one – net zero: “Deliver an integrated low carbon and climate resilient 

community centred on net zero carbon homes, active travel, and mass rapid 

transit.” 

2.17. As set out above, there are a range of interventions that will contribute to the delivery 

of this strategic objective. These include the design and construction methods for the 

new homes and workspaces, the green infrastructure, and the transport and active 

travel infrastructure, coupled with measures to disincentivise private car ownership.  

2.18. An energy study for the Granton Waterfront was carried out in which a range of low 

carbon energy technologies was evaluated and the ability to support low carbon 

benefits and lifecycle costs assessed. The study concluded that the best solution would 

be a site-wide district heating network energy solution which harnessed heat from the 

sea and sewers. This would meet the heat demand of Granton Waterfront from 

entirely renewable sources. This could be supplemented by on-site micro-renewables 

generating both heat and electricity for Granton Waterfront. 

2.19. In terms of climate resilience, the main risk identified for Granton Waterfront is from 

coastal flooding, with coastal protection required for any development proximate to 

the coastline. A technical analysis concluded that the preferred mitigation against 

coastal flooding was nature-based coastal protection using the existing landscape, 

integrated into a new coastal park.   

Objective two – connectivity and travel choices: “Create a coastal town that 

connects communities through well-designed new streets and paths, a prioritised 

active travel network, and strong public transport links.” 

2.20. Analysis was undertaken of existing transport problems facing Granton Waterfront 

and potential interventions to resolve these were identified and evaluated against 

criteria aligned to the objective and compliant with Scottish Transport Appraisal 

Guidance (STAG). This exercise produced a set of recommendations for interventions 

to support improved connectivity and more sustainable travel choices, including: 

• An expanded and joined-up active travel network;  

• A 75% car free development;  

Page 58



 
 

15 
  

• Enhanced public transport linkages;5 and  

• Two new transport hubs.   

Objective three – economic and inclusive growth: “Create high value jobs in key 

economic sectors and support learning and upskilling opportunities to ensure the 

economic benefits of the development are shared equitably.” 

2.21. New commercial space will be aligned with major developments planned for the area 

such as “The Art Works” (a facility being developed by National Galleries of Scotland 

for the curation of Scotland’s art collection) to create opportunities for collaboration 

between the public and private sector.    

2.22. The delivery of around 3,500 homes along with commercial space and infrastructure 

will support construction jobs along with skills development via apprenticeships.  

Delivery of low carbon energy solutions will create jobs in the emerging green sector.  

2.23. The provision of a primary school and health centre will bring additional public sector 

jobs to the area. 

2.24. Additional learning infrastructure will be created ranging from a new nursery to an 

enhanced Edinburgh College campus.  

Objective four – quality and affordable homes: “Granton Waterfront will be a 

sustainable community that will stand the test of time by delivering high quality 

net zero homes across a range of tenures that are affordable to live in and 

manage.” 

2.25. A variety of different homes both in size and typology will be delivered across a mixed  

‘tenure blind’ community. The Development Framework identifies different “character 

areas” throughout Granton Waterfront; these have been designated to capitalise on 

the various features of the area, creating a range of housing and placemaking 

opportunities. Early Action housing projects at Western Villages, Silverlea and 

Demonstrator site at plot D1 are now well advanced and will contribute to the 

realisation of both the Council’s housing strategy and the Development Framework, 

with over 650 homes moving into construction phase. Development of new homes 

and neighbourhoods will take place alongside investment in neighbouring estates as 

part of the Council’s strategy to improve the quality of existing homes and estates and 

connect communities.  

 

 

 
5 The analysis also strongly validated the importance of the extension of mass rapid transport to 
Granton Waterfront (albeit this is out-with the remit of this business case). 

Page 59



 
 

16 
  

Objective five – empowering communities: “Create a revitalised and sustainable 

local community where people can live, work, move, play and thrive.” 

2.26. A wide range of actions around enterprise, health, learning etc, will contribute to this 

objective. The primary school, health centre, commercial, workspace and other new 

facilities being delivered in the area will contribute to embedding the 20-minute 

neighbourhood principle in Granton Waterfront. 

Objective six – enterprise and workplaces: “Increase entrepreneurial and social 

innovation capacity in the area and deliver a mix of modern workspaces at 

Granton Waterfront that will support new and growing enterprises.” 

2.27. The creation of new modern, flexible, affordable workspaces aimed at early-stage 

businesses will encourage entrepreneurialism and inward investment in Granton 

Waterfront, with a focus on high growth sectors such as technology. 

Objective seven – public realm and open space: “Create outstanding and 

welcoming streets and open spaces in Granton Waterfront that incorporate 

nature, enhance biodiversity and provide access to natural and urban coastal 

activities that will attract visitors from the city and beyond as well as supporting 

health and wellbeing locally.” 

2.28. The Development Framework for Granton Waterfront sets out a range of 

interventions to enhance the landscape and open space and to capitalise on the 

coastline. A suite of site-specific interventions is identified, the most significant of 

which is the creation of a new Coastal Park that will connect to create one of the 

largest green spaces of its kind in Europe stretching from Granton Harbour to 

Cramond and Lauriston Castle, delivering recreational and biodiversity benefits. 

Objective eight – built heritage: “Restore and preserve existing heritage assets 

and work with local community and cultural organisations and residents to create 

a dynamic cultural environment at Granton Waterfront.” 

2.29. Granton Waterfront possesses rich built heritage but much of this is in poor condition. 

A culture strategy developed in collaboration with the Strategic Partners identified 

interventions required to enhance key heritage assets such as the Gas Holder, Granton 

Station and the former Madelvic Car Factory. Implementation of the strategy has 

already begun with work to restore the ‘B’ listed Granton Station as an enterprise hub, 

with project funding secured and a principal contractor appointed.  

 

Page 60



 
 

17 
  

Benefits, risks and dependencies 

Benefits 

2.30. In line with HM Treasury Green Book guidance, the strategic benefits to be delivered 

by the programme have been identified (further information on how benefits will be 

measured and monitored is set out in the Management Case). The benefits are 

summarised below: 

Table 1: Summarised benefits 

Strategic objective Output Benefit 

Objective one: net zero Reduced operational costs 

for homes via better 

energy efficiency  

Household savings of £12m over 

a 30-year period helping to 

reduce fuel poverty 

Planting of circa 1,500 new 

trees  

Carbon sequestration of over 

2,000 tonnes over a 50-year 

period 

Natural-based flood 

defences  

£1.6m (net present value) in 

savings over a 50-year period 

Over 100,000 sqm of 

enhanced high-quality 

green space  

Biodiversity and wellbeing  

Objective two: 

connectivity and travel 

choices 

Provision of new bus 

services to key locations 

and rerouting of existing 

services to the 

Development Framework 

area   

Better accessibility to-and-from 

Granton Waterfront; improved 

journey times  

Environmental benefits 

associated with improved 

public transport and 

around 5km of new active 

travel infrastructure  

Reduced emissions supporting 

better air quality and transition to 

net zero carbon  

Two new transport hubs 

providing multiple transport 

choice for users in one 

location 

Reinforced connectivity-related 

benefits via providing all transport 

modes in same location 

Objective three: 

economic and inclusive 

growth  

Jobs generated through 

the construction of around 

3,500 homes 

2,700 construction person-years 

of employment (Edinburgh level) 

Page 61



 
 

18 
  

Strategic objective Output Benefit 

Economic productivity 

increased over 

construction period  

£162m of additional gross value 

added (GVA) at an Edinburgh 

level 

Permanent jobs created 

via occupation of 

commercial space 

Additional 5,800 full time 

equivalent (FTE) jobs over a 40-

year period (Edinburgh level) 

Over 700,000 visitors per 

annum to Granton 

Waterfront by the end of 

the delivery phase (year 

15) 

From year 15 onwards to year 

40, an additional 5,900 FTE jobs 

and £67m GVA (Edinburgh level) 

Economic activity 

supported by additional 

Council Tax revenue  

Additional 600 FTE jobs and 

£19m GVA over a 40-year period 

(Edinburgh level) 

Additional household 

spending through 

population growth in 

Granton Waterfront  

Additional 4,200 FTE jobs and 

£54m of GVA over a 40-year 

period (Edinburgh level) 

Objective four: quality 

and affordable homes  

Over 1,200 affordable 

homes to be delivered  

Unmet housing demand is 

addressed  

Around 3,500 new homes 

delivered to net zero 

carbon standards 

Supporting transition to net zero 

carbon and delivering 

households out of fuel poverty 

through better energy efficient 

homes 

Health and wellbeing 

benefits supported by more 

resilient homes 

Tenant satisfaction surveys score 

high satisfaction rates  

Objective five: 

empowering 

communities 

20-minute neighbourhood 

principles achieved 

through joined up services 

and access to leisure and 

cultural amenities 

Placemaking benefit that will 

make Granton Waterfront more 

attractive and accessible 

 

Objective six: 

enterprise and 

workplaces 

Around 10,000 sqm of new 

commercial space provided 

across the framework 

£176m of additional GVA over a 

40-year period (Edinburgh level) 

11,000 sqm of new 

learning space 

New primary school 

Page 62



 
 

19 
  

Strategic objective Output Benefit 

Objective seven: public 

realm and open space 

60 ha of land remediated 

to unlock housing growth  

Housing and other uses 

supported on land previously 

vacant and derelict 

Over 10 hectares of new 

coastal park  

Mental and physical wellbeing 

improved  

New linkages to create 

what will become 17km 

of new promenade  

Benefit to recreation and active 

enjoyment of the coastal 

location  

Granton Station building 

upgrades and new 

public square  

Placemaking benefit that will 

make Granton Waterfront more 

attractive and accessible; 

preservation and re-use of 

historic building  

Objective eight: built 

heritage 

Reduction in long-term 

running and 

maintenance costs of 

heritage assets  

Long term capital expenditure 

budgets can be directed to 

other projects  

Strategic Partner 

projects will deliver 

strong cultural led 

benefits 

Up to 50,000 visitors per year 

 

  

Page 63



 
 

20 
  

Risks 

2.31. The greatest risks to the programme at this stage are summarised below: 

Table 2: Greatest Risks 

Risk description Score 

A large funding gap exists that threatens the viability of this 

programme  

25 

Government grant funding is not secured to allow the programme to 

progress 

20 

Low carbon goals on the project are not achieved either through 

design or construction 

20 

Industry capacity to deliver regeneration is limited due to shortage of 

materials, skilled workforce, new technologies 

20 

 

2.32. The programme risks are quantified in the Financial Case, considered how to be 

allocated in the Commercial Case, and managed in the Management Case. 

Dependencies 

2.33. As with all complex projects, the Granton Waterfront regeneration programme has 

areas of dependency where decisions are made outside the scope of the protect.  It is 

vital to manage these dependencies to protect the programme, particularly where 

transitioning from development phase to delivery phase in a timely manner is 

concerned. Dependencies will be managed through the framework set out in the 

Management Case. 

  

Page 64



 
 

21 
  

 

Table 3: Dependencies 

Affected activity Dependency 

Enabling works  

The outputs of the energy strategy workstream will have a 

direct bearing on the planning, design and delivery of enabling 

works 

Land requirements  The land to be acquired from third parties may impact upon 

timing of delivery if it cannot be secured in line with the 

programme 

Social infrastructure  Public sector partners and their respective requirements and 

funding sources and timing may directly impact on the delivery 

plan for Granton Waterfront 

Interaction with tram strategic 

business case 

Multiple planning, construction and operational dependencies 

which will need to be managed  

Coordinated place  The activities led by the Strategic Partners will be a material 

influence on the success of the project 

 

Conclusion 

2.34. The regeneration of Granton Waterfront will help to address the existing challenges 

facing the area and make a substantial contribution to key local and national policy 

objectives. 

2.35. The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme is fully consistent with, and 

supports the delivery of key local and national strategic objectives that will shape the 

future development of Edinburgh and the wider region, including: 

• The City of Edinburgh Council Business Plan; 

• Choices for City Plan; 

• City Mobility Plan; 

• The Economic Strategy for Scotland; 

• Housing to 2040 vision; and 

• The goal of making Scotland carbon neutral by 2045. 

Page 65



 
 

22 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

_ 

Economic Case 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 66



 
 

23 
  

3. Economic Case 

Chapter summary 

• The economic appraisal of the Granton Waterfront regeneration programme has 
tested a number of delivery options to assess which represents best value for 
money. 

• Critical success factors for the regeneration programme have been identified. Each 
delivery option has been assessed against these, allowing a long list to be 
discounted to a short list of three categorised under “do minimum”, “partial 
investment” and “full investment”. 

• A cost benefit analysis and economic impact assessment in line with HM Treasury 
Green Book guidance has been carried out on the shortlisted options at an 
Edinburgh, Edinburgh City Region and Scotland level.  

• The economic impact assessment is based on considering the impacts made by both 
the construction phase and the operating phase, combined for a 40-year period.  At 
each area level, the “full investment” option returns the greatest economic impact. 

• The “full investment” option delivers the strongest benefit-cost ratio (BCR): 1.3 at 
an Edinburgh level. When the BCR is weighted to reflect deprivation in Granton 
Waterfront, this rises to 2.9. 

• The programme has a positive economic case, delivering £1.30 of benefit for each 
£1 of public sector investment. 

• The “full investment” option will also generate significant wider non-monetised 
benefits such as reduction of carbon emissions, reduction in fuel poverty and an 
increase in health and well-being benefits. Therefore, in practice, the BCR will be 
comfortably above stated monetised levels. 

• Overall, it is considered that the ‘full investment’ approach to the regeneration of 
Granton Waterfront represents best value for money for the public sector whilst 
best achieving the strategic objectives set out within the strategic case. 

 

Introduction  

3.1. The Economic Case sets out the rationale for the Granton Waterfront regeneration 

programme in terms of value for money by testing options which present alternative 

ways of delivering the project objectives (within the defined parameters of the 

Development Framework) to assess which represents best value. To strengthen this 

process, it has been assessed to what extent each option achieves “critical success 

factors” defined for the project, with a cost-benefit analysis being carried out on the 

shortlisted options. 

Page 67



 
 

24 
  

3.2. Supporting the economic appraisal is an economic impact assessment based on HM 

Treasury Green Book guidance and additionality guidance. The gross and net economic 

impacts of the proposed project are calculated by considering the likely direct, indirect 

and induced impacts of the development, factoring in multipliers and displacement. 

Economic rationale for intervention 

3.3. Granton Waterfront is characterised by piecemeal development and an incoherent sense 

of place. Redevelopment of the land has been slow and in recent years has largely stalled, 

principally due to constraints such as contamination, long ground leases, derelict historic 

buildings and structures, and complex infrastructure requirements. This market failure 

indicates a need for public sector intervention to bring forward development. 

Appraisal of long-listed options 

3.4. Nine different options for taking forward the redevelopment of Granton Waterfront have 

been identified. These options represent scenarios in which different approaches to 

progressing the development are taken, ranging from a reactive laissez-faire approach to 

a public sector-led approach.  Each option represents a separate and distinct delivery 

approach that could be adopted to regenerate Granton Waterfront.  A shortlist was then 

produced by assessing to what degree each of the options would meet with the “critical 

success factors” for the programme. The critical success factors are the attributes that are 

essential for the programme to be delivered successfully; they are distinct from the 

project goals, projects objectives, and benefits. The four critical success factors for the 

Granton Waterfront programme are: 

• Implementation and timing (the timescale/phasing associated with the option): 
Options that delivered the programme in a timeous and strategic manner were 
appraised higher, whereas options that delivered the programme in a more 
incremental/fragmented way were appraised lower. This reflects the desire to deliver 
the regeneration in a comprehensive, holistic way rather than the fragmented 
approach that has hitherto been the case.   

• Delivery capabilities (the extent to which the option brings the appropriate capabilities 
to bear on the project): Options that marshalled private resource capabilities were 
appraised higher, whereas options that relied on the capabilities of the public sector 
were appraised lower. This reflects the desire to exploit the commercial expertise of 
the private sector and share the risks of the programme.   

• Affordability (to what extent the option can realistically be funded): Options that were 
judged to be fundable were appraised higher, whereas option that were regarded as 
having a funding gap were apprised lower, reflecting the requirement for the 
programme to be financially viable. 

• Strategic fit/scope (how well the option aligns to the strategic goals and wider 
strategic context for the programme): Options that aligned more closely to these 
were appraised higher, where options that had a looser aligned were appraised 
lower. This reflects the desire to deliver the strategic aims identified in the Strategic 
Case. 

Page 68



 
 

25 
  

3.5. The table below summarises the nine longlisted options and their performance against 

each of the four critical success factors.  A Red Amber Green status has been applied to 

denote each options performance with green representing good alignment, amber 

representing reasonable alignment and red representing poor alignment. 

Table 4: Nine Long Listed Options  

Options Implementation & 
timing 

Delivery 
capabilities 

Affordability Strategic 
fit/scope  

Option 1 – Reactive 

market led approach 
to housing and other 
uses  

Reactive to market 

demand and timing 
unpredictable  

Market led Private Finance Predominantly 

existing use with 
some contribution 
to housing 

Option 2 – Smaller 
scale public sector 
led approach to 

housing and place  

Plot-by-plot approach 
with longer time 
horizon to deliver 

strategic outcomes 

Public sector led Funding Deficit 
exists that needs to 
be dealt with on a 

plot by plot basis by 
public sector alone 

Contribution to 
housing and wider 
placemaking  

Option 3 – 
Comprehensive 
public/private 

collaborative 
approach to deliver 
Development 

Framework  

Large scale 
comprehensively 
planned approach and 

delivered with 
momentum to secure 
strategic outcomes 

quicker 

Public/private 
collaboration  

Combination of 
public funding and 
private finance 

requirements 

Strong alignment 
to the strategic 
goals of the 

project  

Option 4 – Enhanced 
asset management 

approach to existing 
estate  

Single strategy 
approach to seek an 

investor/partner to 
asset manage the 
existing assets as part 

of slower longer 
approach to 
regeneration  

Market led Private finance 

 

Existing uses 
improved but weak 

correlation to 
strategic goals of 
the project 

Option 5 – Smaller 
scale public sector 
led approach with 

stronger weighting 
on commercial and 
retail uses 

Plot-by-plot approach 
with longer time 
horizon to deliver 

strategic outcomes 

Public sector led Funding deficit but 
potentially more 
opportunity for 

private finance due 
to weighting towards 
commercial uses 

Contribution to 
housing and other 
uses as part of 

wider placemaking 
approach 

Option 6 – 
Comprehensive 
private sector led 

approach to deliver 
Development 
Framework 

Large scale 
comprehensively 
planned approach and 

delivered with 
momentum to secure 
strategic outcomes 

quicker 

Market led Large funding deficit 
expected to deter a 
market led approach 

Strong alignment 
to the strategic 
goals of the 

project  

Option 7 – 
Opportunity led 

approach 

 

 

 

  

Passive approach to 
regeneration to wait 

for a large-scale 
opportunity to 
materialise which 

could be a catalyst for 
regeneration i.e. major 
land requirement for 

blue chip organisation 

Market led Private finance and 
some public funding 

anticipated 

Impossible to 
predict at this 

stage 

Page 69



 
 

26 
  

Options Implementation & 
timing 

Delivery 
capabilities 

Affordability Strategic 
fit/scope  

Option 8 – 
Affordable housing 

led approach 

Plot-by-plot approach 
with longer time 

horizon to deliver 
strategic outcomes  

Public sector led Public funding 
through established 

affordable housing 
grant 

Affordable housing 
led approach 

would deliver to 
some scope 
requirement but 

would not give rise 
to balanced tenure 
community  

Option 9 – 
Comprehensive 
public Sector led 

approach to deliver 
Development 
Framework 

Large scale 
comprehensively 
planned approach and 

delivered with 
momentum to secure 
strategic outcomes 

quicker 

Public sector led Combination of 
public funding and 
finance 

requirements 

Strong alignment 
to the strategic 
goals of the 

project  

 

3.6. Based on the above long-list, three short-listed options have been identified based on 

their ability to align closest to the critical success factors outlined above. These are 

summarised below. 

“Do minimum” - (option 1 from longlisted options - reactive market led 

approach) 

3.7. The “do minimum” option makes the following assumptions:  

• A modest number of housing plots identified in the latest Housing Land Audit would 
be developed out organically despite the Development Framework not being 
delivered.  This would deliver approximately 200 homes.   

• Some active travel measures would be implemented in Granton Waterfront.  

• Energy solutions for any new housing would reflect minimum requirements.   

• Public transport would continue to have limited penetration into the area; the 
business case for a tram extension to Granton Waterfront is weaker under this 
option.  

• The commercial strategy for the area would focus on driving further value from 
existing assets, e.g. the refurbishment and reletting of the disused former warehouse 
at 20 West Shore Road, but with no new development.  

• The existing green space across the Development Framework area would remain in its 
current state.  

• A new primary school would not be required under this option.  

• Heavily contaminated plots within the character areas identified as West Shore and 
Upper Granton would remain undevelopable.  

Page 70



 
 

27 
  

• The Gas Holder and other historic buildings and structures would continue to attract 
significant maintenance costs to keep them safe and secure.  

“Partial investment” - (option 2 from longlisted options - smaller scale 

public sector led approach) 

3.8. The “partial investment” option makes the following assumptions: 

• Approximately 862 homes would be delivered in the Heart of Granton (670 units) and 
Harbour Road (192 units) character areas.  

• The energy strategy would be focused on individual air source heat pumps rather than 
more comprehensive approaches such as district heating network, with lower upfront 
capital costs but higher lifecycle costs.  

• No existing employment space would be displaced; current employers in the area 
would remain in place indefinitely.  

• 2,000 m2 of commercial floorspace would be delivered along Waterfront Broadway and 
via the refurbishment/modernisation of the former lighthouse building on West 

Harbour Road.  

• A more extensive package of active travel interventions would be delivered. 

• A new transport hub would be delivered in this option. The area would potentially 
benefit from a tram extension.  

• A new primary school would be delivered.  

• Coastal access would remain limited as at present. 

• The Gas Holder and other historic buildings and structures would continue to attract 
significant maintenance costs to keep them safe and secure; no major restoration 
works would be carried out beyond those already scheduled. 

“Full investment” - option 3 from longlisted options - comprehensive 

public/private collaborative approach) 

3.9. The “full investment” option makes the following assumptions: 

• Around 2,864 homes would be delivered. A further 661 homes (a mixture of social 
housing, mid market rent, market rent and homes for sale) will be delivered through 
early action projects already committed to.  Overall, a minimum of 35% of the total 
homes delivered will be affordable.  

• 9,065 m2 of new commercial floorspace, predominantly on the ground floor of 
residential blocks which would be suitable for a variety of uses including retail, 
hospitality, office etc and provide accommodation for small scale/start-up/incubator 
businesses. 

• A new primary school and health centre would be delivered. 

• A low carbon district heating network would be installed. 

Page 71



 
 

28 
  

•  Deliver a major new enhanced green space and coastal placemaking through a new 
coastal park and upgraded promenade whilst also strengthening coastal resilience 
from flooding.  

• Two new transport hubs would be delivered along with an expansive active travel 
network and improved public transport penetration; the case for a tram extension to 

Granton Waterfront would be considerably strengthened. 

• The Gas Holder and historic buildings and structures would be restored. 

Appraisal of short-listed options 

3.10. The short-listed options were appraised via multi-criteria analysis and a traditional cost-

benefit analysis in line with HM Treasury Green Book guidance. Costs are taken from the 

project cost plan, while benefits are taken from the programme benefits register. The 

timing of benefits and costs has been informed by the master programme. The benefits 

associated with each strategic objective are set out below. 

Table 5: Short Listed Options  

Objective Benefits 

Low carbon and resilient place  

Energy efficient buildings, reduction in fuel 

poverty, contribution to local and national 

carbon reduction targets 

Economic benefit and inclusive growth  

Creation of new jobs, upskilling of people to 

more productive jobs, improve wealth 

creation from within the community to be 

reinvested into the community and support 

local business 

Delivery of quality and affordable homes  

Mix of well designed, energy efficient, quality 

homes to address housing need and 

demand on brownfield sites 

Connectivity and travel choices 

A range of transport interventions to support 

a change in how people move to, from and 

within Granton Waterfront with strong 

emphasis on place making 

Quality public realm, open space and heritage  

High quality active public spaces and optimal 

use of the natural environment to create 

better quality of life for residents and visitors 

Joined up services  

Innovative approaches to service delivery to 

create better access to these and provide 

excellent user experience 

Enterprise and workplaces 

Increase entrepreneurial activity and social 

innovation, delivery of a mix of modern 

workplaces that will support new and 

growing enterprises 

Page 72



 
 

29 
  

 

3.11. The contribution made by the “do minimum”, “partial investment”, and “full investment” 

options to the benefits associated with each strategic objective is set out below, with the 

strategic objectives weighted to reflect their relative importance as assessed by the 

project team in conjunction with stakeholders. 

Table 6: Short Listed Options to Associated Benefits 

  Do minimum Partial 
Investment 

Full investment 

Scoring 
criteria 

Weighting Score 
Weighted 
score 

Score 
Weighted 
score 

Score 
Weighted 
score 

Low carbon 
and resilient 
place  

100% 1 1 3 3 4 4 

Economic 
benefit and 
inclusive 
growth  

100% 2 2 3 3 5 5 

Delivery of 
quality and 
affordable 
homes  

100% 1 1 3 3 5 5 

Connectivity 
and travel 
choices 

100% 1 1 3 3 5 5 

Quality 
public 
realm, open 
space and 
heritage  

100% 1 1 3 3 5 5 

Joined up 
services  

70% 1 0.7 1 0.7 3 2.1 

Enterprise 
and 
workplaces 

70% 1 0.7 1 0.7 3 2.1 

Overall score 8 7.4 17 16.4 30 28.2 

 

Page 73



 
 

30 
  

3.12. The exercise identified a clear gap between the “full investment” option and the “do 

minimum” option which was a reasonably foreseeable outcome. The difference between 

the “full investment” option and the “partial investment” case was also sufficiently wide 

to suggest that the preferred option represented the most compelling case from a 

benefits appraisal perspective. The “partial investment” case did however provide some 

insight in support of the phased delivery of the “full investment” option by demonstrating 

a ‘base’ level of benefit which could be supported from what essentially comprised a 

single master phase of development i.e. Heart of Granton. By the same token, the 

disparity in score with the “full investment” option makes it very clear that a single phase 

in isolation would lack the long-term vision and coordination to drive the optimal benefits 

from the project.  

Economic impact assessment 

3.13. To quantify the project data for inclusion into the cost-benefit analysis in a manner 

consistent with HM Treasury Green Book guidance, an economic impact assessment (EIA) 

of the three options was undertaken which built on the source data and applied Green 

Book compliant assumptions.  

3.14. The EIA was carried out for two phases: the construction phase and the operating phase. 

3.15. The construction phase impact of the total programme is the impact of the infrastructure 

spend plus the construction impacts of the build-out of land made available for 

residential, commercial and other development.  This included a breakdown of all cost 

elements including enabling works, build costs for housing and commercial premises and 

transport improvement costs. Costs included ensuring development was net zero carbon 

through low carbon energy solutions. Sunk and committed costs associated with projects 

already underway have been excluded, as funding has already been identified for these 

early actions. These are Silverlea, Western Villages, Demonstrator site at plot D1 and the 

refurbishment of Granton Station.  This is in line with the financial model produced for 

the financial case.  

3.16. The costs provided were all at 2021 current prices.  A maintenance cost of 1% of 

cumulative build cost was also applied on an annual basis.  Optimism bias at 20% was 

applied to all construction costs to account for uncertainty and risks.   

  

Page 74



 
 

31 
  

3.17. The construction costs for each of the options are outlined below: 

Table 7: Construction Costs 

Granton Waterfront construction costs 

Cost element Do minimum 
Partial 
investment 

Full investment 

Infrastructure and build costs £60m £216m £721m 

Optimism Bias £12m £43m £144m 

Maintenance costs £22m £70m £226m 

Land costs £21m £21m £21m 

Total costs (public and private) £115m £350m £1.1bn 

Net present value over 40 years £99m £263m £793m 

Public sector costs £115m £151m £600m 

Value of land sales to private sector £0m £27m £89m 

Public sector costs minus land sales £115m £124m £511m 

Net present value of public sector costs £99m £113m £380m 

3.18. The operating phase impact is based on four sources: 

▪ The occupation of the commercial space and jobs arising from this. 

▪ Additional spending in the local economy from new households moving into the area. 

▪ Visitor spend generated by the new development. The development intends to create an 
attractive green space and park areas. There will also be heritage and cultural facilities 
highlighting the history of the area. The position of these features adjacent to the 
coastline and within the wider development will attract visitors. This is under the “full 

investment” option only. 

▪ Council Tax revenues generated by the new households.  This gross value added is 
calculated as the impact of services that the additional revenues will fund. 

  

Page 75



 
 

32 
  

3.19. The number of projected jobs created across the construction and operating phases have 

been calculated and presented below. 

Table 8: Number of Projected Jobs  

Jobs Do minimum Partial investment Full investment 

  Edinburgh 
City 

Region 
Scotland Edinburgh 

City 

Region 
Scotland Edinburgh 

City 

Region 
Scotland 

Construction 

phase 

 

Construction 

jobs (PYEs) 
231 240 316 800 800 600 2,700 2,800 1,900 

Operating 

phase (FTEs) 

 

Occupation 

of 

commercial 

space  

0 0 0 1,300 1,100 1,000 5,800 5,200 5,200 

Additional 

household 

expenditure  

386 291 206 1,300 1,100 800 4,200 3,500 2,600 

Visitor 

expenditure  
0 0 0 0 0 0 5,900 4,200 2,300 

Additional 

Council Tax 

revenue  

29 38 43 200 200 300 600 700 800 

Total impact 646 569 565 3,600 3,200 2,700 19,200 16,400 12,800 

 

  

Page 76



 
 

33 
  

3.20. The net present value (NPV) of the gross value added (GVA) of all the benefits over a 40-

year period have been calculated and presented below.  

Table 9: NPV of Benefits 

Economic 

impact 
Do minimum Partial investment Full investment 

  Edinburgh 
City 

Region 
Scotland Edinburgh 

City 

Region 
Scotland Edinburgh 

City 

Region 
Scotland 

Construction 

phase 

 

Construction 

impact  
£16m £17m £24m £51m £54m £39m £162m £173m £125m 

Operating 

phase 

 

Occupation 

of 

commercial 

space 

impact  

£0m £0m £0m £37m £31m £28m £176m £166m £169m 

Additional 

household 

expenditure 

impact  

£5m £5m £3m £18m £15m £12m £54m £47m £37m 

Visitor 

expenditure 

impact 

£0m £0m £0m £0m £0m £0m £67m £50m £28m 

Additional 

Council Tax 

revenue 

impact 

£1m £1m £1m £6m £8m £8m £19m £24m £26m 

Total impact £22m £23m £28m £112m £108m £87m £478m £460m £385m 

 

3.21. The “full investment” case returns the greatest economic impacts in terms of the sizes of 

the construction and operating benefits.  The total benefits of the “full investment” 

option are around four times the size of the “partial investment” option and over 20 

times the size of the “do minimum” option. 

Page 77



 
 

34 
  

 Cost-benefit analysis 

3.22. The results of a cost-benefit analysis carried out at the Edinburgh, Edinburgh City Region, 

and Scotland levels are set out in table 10 on the following page.  The benefit cost ratio 

(BCR) for each option and geographical area was calculated by taking the NPV of the total 

net benefits over 40 years and dividing this by the NPV of the total costs over the same 

period.  

3.23. Welfare weights can be applied to benefits when a project aims to improve a deprived 

area through some level of intervention.  HM Treasury Green Book guidance was used to 

do this, with a welfare weight calculated by dividing the average income of all households 

(at the different area levels) by that of the North Edinburgh households and then 

multiplying this figure by a factor of 1.3.  This factor is used to take account of the 

marginal utility of income i.e. that the impact of an increase to a household’s income 

diminishes the higher that base income is. This welfare weight has been applied to the 

calculation of net additional discounted GVA to provide a weighted benefits figure to 

reflect the improvement to deprivation this regeneration programme seeks to deliver. 

 

  

Page 78



 
 

35 
  

Table 10: Net Additional Discounted GVA 

 Do minimum Partial investment Full investment 

 Edin City 
Region 

Scot Edin City 
Region 

Scot Edin City 
Region 

Scot 

Costs  

Public sector 
(discounted)  

£99m £99m £99m £113m £113m £113m £380m £380m £380m 

Gross 
benefits  

 

Construction 
(PYEs) 

400 400 400 1.500 1,500 1,500 5,100 5,100 5,100 

Operating 
(FTEs) 

8,000 8,000 8,000 34,200 34,200 34,200 129,000 129,000 129,000 

Gross GVA 
(discounted) 

£138m £138m £138m £583m £583m £583m £2.1bn £2.1bn £2.1bn 

Net benefits   

Construction 
(PYEs) 

231 240 316 800 800 600 2,700 2,800 1,900 

Operating 
(FTEs) 

415 329 249 2,800 2,400 2,100 16,500 13,600 10,900 

Net GVA 
(discounted) 

£22m £23m £28m £112m £108m £87m £478m £460m £385m 

Net GVA 
(discounted 
and socially 
weighed) 

£51m £53m £64m £255m £246m £199m £1.1bn £1.0bn £878m 

Number of 
new homes  

206 206 206 862 862 862 2,864 2,864 2,864 

Value for 
money 

 

Public sector 
costs BCR 

0.2 0.2 0.3 1.0 1.0 0.8 1.3 1.2 1.0 

Welfare 
weighted 
public sector 
costs BCR 

0.5 0.5 0.6 2.3 2.2 1.8 2.9 2.6 2.3 

 

3.24. The “full investment” option delivers the strongest benefit-cost ratio: 1.3 at an Edinburgh 

level. When the BCR is weighted to reflect deprivation in Granton Waterfront, this rises to 

2.9. 

Page 79



 
 

36 
  

Carbon Scenario Tool  

3.25. In addition to the impact outlined in table 9, the Carbon Scenario Tool (CST), jointly 

developed by the City of Edinburgh Council and the Edinburgh Centre for Carbon 

Innovation (ECCI) was used to model the emissions impact of delivering the programme.  

The regeneration of Granton Waterfront is being used as a pilot project for the CST. It is 

expected that the output of the CST will change to reflect ongoing development of, and 

evolution in the specifications of the programme. 

3.26. During stage 3 of the programme to progress phase 1’ Heart of Granton’, the project will 

continue to model the impact of carbon emissions through use of the CST and report back 

on this as part of the business case to future committees to help further inform decision 

making. 

3.27. Alongside the new homes at Granton, the tool has been used to assess the impact of the 

new biodiverse parkland, a school, medical centre, creative and commercial space, new 

cycling and walking routes and enhanced sustainable transport connections within the 

city. In addition, there is also a key opportunity to provide heat and hot water to new and 

existing communities through a low carbon heating network. 

 

Fig 1: Embodied and Operational Emissions  

 

3.28. The CST analysis provides initial estimates for both embodied and operational emissions 

as shown in Fig 1 above.  Embodied emissions associated with, for example, manufacture 

of construction materials, are not included in the city’s territorial emissions footprint; in 

carbon accounting terms they ‘belong’ to the geographic area where they were 

manufactured.  Embodied emissions are included here for transparency and, although 

they are not included in the city’s target, the design brief requires the use of sustainable 

materials wherever practicable.   

3.29. Operational emissions are associated with activities such as transport and powering 

homes and businesses and are evaluated against a Business As Usual (BAU) baseline. This 

Page 80



 
 

37 
  

baseline reflects the commitment to develop the area and allows analysis to show the 

extent to which the current Granton Business Case delivers an improvement to 

operational emissions from the site. The BAU baseline can be seen in Fig 2 below: 

 

Fig 2: BAU Baseline 

 

3.30. The initial findings of the CST highlighted a positive benefit of the approach in comparison 

to BAU. Evaluation was done against a number of key assumptions and scenarios. The 

conservative medium decarbonisation scenario of the electric grid shows a 56 % CO2e 

saving in favour of the new development, compared to BAU. This could increase to 70 % 

in a high decarbonisation scenario, See Fig 3 below. The largest increase in savings is 

linked to housing heating and to transport emissions, and the projected cumulative 

emissions savings by 2030 are equivalent to the annual emission of 2,450 households, or 

78,400 return flights from Edinburgh to London.  

 

Fig 3: Carbon Emissions in 2030 

 

Page 81



 
 

38 
  

3.31. Granton Waterfront’s approach to emissions reduction, through exemplar design and 

promotion of sustainable life choices, will make a significant contribution to ensuring the 

city meets the needs of its growing population in a more sustainable way. As progress is 

made through the next phases of the programme, continual assessment of new 

technologies and ways of doing things will aim to push down emissions as low as possible 

alongside developing a  suite of community based carbon capturing measures that can be 

used to offset residual emissions , contributing to Edinburgh’s target to become a net 

zero city 2030.  

3.32. In addition to greenhouse gas emissions, the CST analysis also includes consideration of 

wider sustainability and co-benefits indicators, such as air quality and population health.  

Figure 4 below illustrates analysis adapted from the Doughnut Economics Model and the 

Cornwall Decision Making Wheel6 which seek to ensure social needs are met in a 

sustainable way, without overshooting environmental boundaries. The CST analysis shows 

that overall Granton Waterfront could secure positive social impacts in areas such as 

health, jobs and wealth, alongside positive environmental impacts in areas such as air 

quality, energy and pollution.  Negative impacts identified are limited or short term and 

relate to factors inevitably associated with development, such as resource use and impact 

on biodiversity. There are opportunities to minimise these impacts by using low carbon 

and renewable construction materials, reused materials, working with experts to mitigate 

harm to local species and delivering improvements through habitat creation or 

enhancement. The impact on land conversion is estimated to be negligible as the 

programme is focussing on delivering high-density housing on brownfield land rather than 

greenfield. 

Fig 4: Sustainability Indicators

 
6 Visual framework for sustainable development, University of Oxford 2012 

https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/cornwall-council-doughnut-economics 

Page 82

https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/cornwall-council-doughnut-economics


 
 

39 
  

Conclusion 

3.33. The Economic Case sets out the process that was undertaken to identify a preferred 

option for delivering the regeneration of Granton Waterfront, including an options 

appraisal and a cost-benefit analysis supported by an economic impact assessment. The 

“full investment” option is judged to make the greatest contribution towards delivering 

the benefits associated with the strategic objectives, to deliver the greatest net economic 

impacts, and to achieve the strongest benefit-cost ratio. 

3.34. According to the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Appraisal 

Guidance, BCRs of less than 1 represent poor value for money, while those between 1 

and 2 represent good value for money and those over 2 represent high value for money. 

In this context, the “do minimum option” represents poor value for money, even on a 

weighted basis, while the “full investment” option represents good value for money on an 

unweighted basis and high on a weighted equivalent. The “partial investment” option is 

good value for money on an unweighted basis and high on a weighted basis. 

3.35. The DCLG estimates that the overall BCR associated with regeneration activity would be 

expected to be on average around 2.3 to 3.5.  This average is based on regeneration 

schemes that involve large scale investment in this context, the above BCRs are relatively 

low. However, Granton Waterfront involves considerable upfront infrastructure 

investment and relatively expensive commitments on net zero buildings and affordable 

housing. This average is also based on regeneration schemes that involve large scale 

investment in office accommodation which is not proposed by the Granton Waterfront 

Development Framework. The full investment case will also generate significant non-

monetised benefits such as reduction of carbon emissions, reduction in fuel poverty and 

an increase in health and well-being benefits. Therefore, in practice, the BCR will be 

comfortably above stated monetised levels. 

3.36. Overall, it is considered that the “full investment” approach to the regeneration of 

Granton Waterfront represents best value for money for the public sector whilst best 

achieving the strategic objectives set out within the strategic case. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



 

 

40 
  

` 

 

 

 

 

 

_ 

Financial Case 
 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



 
  

41 
  

4. Financial Case 

Chapter summary 

  

• The financial model produced for the 2020 Programme Delivery Plan has been 
revised and updated to incorporate a renewed cost plan. 

• This takes into account more detailed costings from early action projects, updates 
based on the phasing, decontamination and transport strategies and increased net 
zero carbon requirements. 

• Existing funding sources have also been reviewed and have been updated where 
appropriate, including residual land value, developer contributions, grant funding 
and the level of borrowing that could be supported by the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) and Edinburgh Living through their net rental income streams. 

• The outputs of the modelling suggest a large viability gap.  The total funding 
shortfall in delivering phases 1-4 of regeneration is £381.2m (£306.2m net of 
optimism bias).  The first phase of regeneration has a funding shortfall of £70.1m 
(£45.5m net of optimism bias). 

• Sensitivity testing has been undertaken on the key assumptions showing the 
financial impact of changes. 

• Based on the extent of the shortfall, it is difficult to fund the entire programme 
from the outset, but the phased approach set out in the Commercial Case breaks it 
into more achievable targets. 

• A funding strategy has been set out which considers the potential sources of 
external funding to address the shortfall in the first phase - the Heart of Granton. 

• Success in delivering the regeneration in line with the vision will be dependent on 
the Council securing a package of funding from Government and other external 
parties for the first phase, and a commitment towards providing funding for future 
phases. 

 

 

Introduction 

4.1. The Financial Case seeks to assess the affordability of the Granton Waterfront 

regeneration programme to the Council. The full costs and income have been modelled. 

This includes carrying out enabling works, developing net zero carbon Council-owned 

homes, commercial properties, educational facilities, public realm and greenspace 

together with all income related to development. 

Page 85



 
  

42 
  

4.2. The financial model produced for the 2020 Programme Delivery Plan has been revised 

and updated to incorporate a renewed cost plan, which takes into account more detailed 

costings from early action projects, updates based on the phasing, decontamination and 

transport strategies and increased net zero carbon requirements. 

4.3. Existing funding sources have also been reviewed and have been updated where 

appropriate, including residual land value, developers’ contributions, grant funding and 

the level of borrowing that could be supported by the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

and Edinburgh Living (the council’s mid-market rent and market rent vehicles) through 

their net rental income streams. 

4.4. A funding strategy has been developed with a view to securing additional resources in 

order to take forward the project on a phased basis. 

Project Costs 

Cost Plan 

4.5. Project costs have been derived from a detailed cost plan produced by consultants 

Arcadis, which estimates the total cost of development (including private sector 

development and early action projects) to be £831.9m in today’s prices. This estimate is 

based on the following assumptions: 

• Housing construction costs have been benchmarked against a range of both Council 
and private sector developments of a similar nature. 

• The costs assume that the Council will deliver 35% of homes; RSL 15% and the 
remaining 50% will be private sector led. A minimum of 35% of the homes will be 

affordable and delivered through Council and RSL partners.   

• Contingency has been included to allow for the level of design information available. 

• Net zero carbon costs are based on the solution being developed for Western 
Villages. 

• Costs for commercial buildings, park buildings and the health centre have been based 

on benchmarking information. 

• Costs for the primary school are based on Scottish Futures Trust metrics. 

• Costs for infrastructure are based on Western Villages where this is appropriate, and 

otherwise based on benchmarking. 

• Heritage and cultural works, such as the Gas Holder and Granton Station, are based 

on separate consultants’ reports along with existing contract prices. 

• The Cost Plan for the Silverlea project is separate and includes a further £30.6m of 
cost. 

• The key cost metrics are set out in the following table (all in 2020/21 prices): 

 

Page 86



 
  

43 
  

Table 11: Key cost metrics for cost plan 

Element Metric Total Cost 

Private homes including sales, 

marketing, legal and finance 

charges but excluding net zero 

carbon  

£145,730 per unit £253.3m 

Council led / Edinburgh Living 

Homes excluding net zero 

carbon 

£140,675 per unit £160.9m 

Registered social landlord 

homes excluding net zero 

carbon 

£140,675 per unit £71.0m 

Silverlea Based on separate cost plan £30.6m 

Net zero carbon £18,558 per unit £62.9m 

Commercial buildings £1,100 / sqm £10.0m 

Education buildings £3,872 / sqm £20.4m 

Health buildings £4,300 / sqm £6.0m 

Parks and greenspace  £14.1m 

Heritage regeneration  £18.3m 

Enabling and Infrastructure  £215.0m 

Total  £862.5m 

 

Contingency 

4.6. In order to allow for financial risks, a £47m contingency has been allowed for in the cost 

plan, based on an initial assessment of risk. The allowance is as set out below: 

  

Page 87



 
  

44 
  

Table 12: Contingency allowances within Cost Plan 

Element Contingency Description 

Buildings £33m 
5% client and 5% contractor contingency for 

Council and RSL housing 

Enabling works £13m 

3% on remediation as Site Investigation has been 

undertaken, 10% for all other areas due to design 

being at high level 

Green space £1m 10% due to design being at high level 

Heritage and culture £0m Deemed to be included within budget allowances 

Total £47m  

 

4.7. However, given the early stage of design and the extended timescale of the project, it is 

unlikely that this level will be sufficient to cover the level of potential risk. 

Financial model 

4.8. In order to establish the overall cost to the Council of taking forward the programme, 

costs attributable to private and registered social landlord housing and health buildings 

are excluded from cost projections as these will be met by third parties. Sunk and 

committed costs associated with projects already underway have also been removed, as 

funding has already been identified for these early actions. These are Silverlea, Western 

Villages, Demonstrator and the refurbishment of Granton Station. This reduces the 

underlying cost plan requirement to £367.2m. 

4.9. The revised cost plan figures are then adjusted for professional fees, inflation, optimism 

bias and items not included in the Cost Plan as set out below: 

Professional fees 

4.10. The financial model adjusts the costs to allow for professional fees as follows: 

• Professional fees and client costs associated with a master developer are factored 
into the appraisal using a 17.5% uplift, excluding those associated with compulsory 
purchase orders (CPOs) and decontamination. This has been benchmarked against 
other relevant programmes in the UK. 

• Professional fees and client costs associated with the CPOs and decontamination are 
factored into the appraisal using a 5% uplift in line with other Council projects.  The 
reduced rate for these categories of expenditure reflect the fact that less work will be 
required to manage these processes. 

Page 88



 
  

45 
  

Inflation 

4.11. Costs are profiled according to the phased programme set out in the Commercial Case 

and then uplifted for inflation based on a construction inflation forecast of 4% per annum. 

Optimism Bias 

4.12. Academic research has shown that the final cost of major projects is often 

underestimated due to unrealistic budgets influenced by project team optimism. This 

phenomenon is known as optimism bias. To counteract this, the project has considered 

UK Government guidance.  

4.13. HM Treasury Green Book guidance sets out a number of categories of project and the 

upper and lower levels of optimism bias which should be provided for each of these. 

Three of these categories are considered relevant to Granton Waterfront: 

Table 131: HM Treasury Green Book project categories relevant to Granton Waterfront 
and optimism bias 

Type Upper bound Lower bound 

Standard buildings 24% 2% 

Non-standard buildings 51% 4% 

Standard civil engineering 44% 3% 

4.14. The Green Book also sets out how the level of optimism bias should be reduced in 

proportion to risk avoidance or risk mitigation measures observed. Following a detailed 

internal review of risk mitigation measures, optimism bias has been calculated for each 

category.  

Table 14: Reduced optimism bias levels assessed against risk avoidance and mitigation 
observed for each Granton Waterfront phase 

Type Upper bound Lower bound 
Evidence-based 

adjusted level 

Standard buildings (housing) 24% 2% 8% 

Standard Buildings (other) 24% 2% 24% 

Non-standard buildings 51% 4% 27% 

Standard civil engineering 44% 3% 19% 

4.15. It is recognised that an allowance for contingency is included in the cost plan but, to 

remain prudent, an allowance to include both contingency and optimism bias has been 

favoured in the assessment of risk. 

Page 89



 
  

46 
  

Items not included in the Cost Plan 

4.16. Two further items were not included in the Cost Plan: 

• Acquisition of land and/or buildings on the site which are within the development 
area but not in Council control, currently assumed to be through compulsory 
purchase order.  These have been included in the financial model based on an 
assessment of cost from a District Valuer report. 

• A small number of heritage regeneration projects that are not related to specific plots 
have not been included in the cost plan. They have been included directly in the 
financial model based on assessment of costs as a result of structural and condition 
survey reports. 

Results 

4.17. The results of the updated cost estimate are summarised in the table below: 

Table 15: Updated cost estimates to factor in professional fees, inflation and optimism bias 

Phase Cost plan Inflation Profess

ional 

fees 

Land/buildi

ng 

acquisition 

Additional 

heritage 

regeneration 

Total 

excluding 

optimism 

bias 

Heart of 

Granton 

£118.5m £27.2m £19.2m £4.5m £3.5m £172.9m 

Harbour Road £104.0m £40.1m £23.5m £13.1m £1.5m £182.2m 

West Shore £67.9m £27.9m £9.8m £3.5m £1m £110.1m 

Upper Granton £76.8m £51.4m £20.7m £0m £0m 148.9m 

Overall Project £367.2m £146.6m £73.2m £21.1m £6.0m £614.1m 

Table 16: Updated cost estimates to factor in optimism bias 

Phase Total excluding 

optimism bias 

Optimism bias Total including 

optimism bias 

Heart of Granton £172.9m £24.6m £197.5m 

Harbour Road £182.2m £19.0m £201.2m 

West Shore £110.1m £17.1m £127.2m 

Upper Granton £148.9m £14.3m £163.2m 

 £614.1m £75.0m £689.1m 

Page 90



 
  

47 
  

Funding 

4.18. In assessing the funding currently available for the project, existing Council budgets have 

been assessed together with income that may be generated by the development itself. 

The main sources of funding are: 

• Capital expenditure supported by HRA/Edinburgh Living business plans – The 
Council intends to deliver its new affordable homes through a combination of 
borrowing against rental income streams and government grant. The value included 
in the model is consistent with Council approved business plans and reflects the 
proposed house types and tenures set out in the cost plan. 

• Land receipts - Plots of land that will be developed privately (but in line with the 
Development Framework) will be transferred to private developers and registered 
social landlords, in return for a capital receipt. This calculation takes into account the 
anticipated sale value (inclusive of place premium where appropriate), the expected 
level of developer’s profit margin, and the costs to develop each plot, as set out in the 
cost plan. In addition, sales price inflation of 2% per annum has been applied. 

• Section 75 developer contributions – Contributions are based on assumptions set out 
in the Council’s Local Development Plan Action Programme. 

• Council Capital Investment Programme – funding has been approved in the 10-year 
sustainable capital budget strategy for Granton Primary School.  It is assumed that 
any current gap funding on this will be considered as part of the Council’s longer term 
capital planning. 

• NHS Lothian – It is assumed that the costs of the health centre will be met by NHS 
Lothian 

4.19. Funding can be broken down is as follows: 

Table 17: Available funding  

Capital supported by HRA and Edinburgh Living £155.2m 

Capital receipts for land sales £106.1m 

Council Capital Investment Programme £28.2m 

Developer contributions £9.4m 

NHS Lothian £9.0m 

Total £307.9m 

 

Page 91



 
  

48 
  

Revenue costs and income 

4.20. As well as the capital costs and funding identified above, the financial model identifies a 

one-off revenue cost of £11m for compensation associated with breaking long-term 

ground leases, and a future revenue stream of approximately £0.5m per annum plus 

inflation for rental of commercial units.  

Modelling results  

Affordability and funding  

4.21. The net position is as follows:  

Table 18: Resulting net positions for each Granton Waterfront phase 

 Cost  Funding Net position  

Heart of Granton £197.5m £127.4m £70.1m 

Harbour Road £201.2m £59.8m £141.4m 

West Shore £127.2m £46.8m £80.4m 

Upper Granton £163.2m £73.9m £89.3m 

Total £689.1m £307.9m £381.2m 

 

Table 19: Resulting net positions for each Granton Waterfront phase excluding 
optimism bias 

 Cost excluding 

optimism bias 

Funding Net position 

excluding optimism 

bias 

Heart of Granton £172.9m £127.4m £45.5m 

Harbour Road £182.2m £59.8m £122.4m 

West Shore £110.1m £46.8m £63.3m 

Upper Granton £148.9m £73.9m £75.0m 

Total £614.1m £307.9m £306.2m 

Page 92



 
  

49 
  

 

Opportunity cost 

4.22. In making a decision on any major capital investment, it is good practice to consider the 

opportunity costs, i.e. the amount that could be available to spend on other projects if 

the capital investment were not made.  

4.23. Should the Council decide to take forward some or all of this project from its own 

budgets, funding would need to be diverted from other Council priorities. However, given 

the size of the funding gap, this, without any external funding, is not a realistic option. 

Risks and sensitivity  

Risks and opportunities 

4.24. The plan also assumes investment of government grant to provide affordable housing 

which could in theory be invested elsewhere. However, there are insufficient sites within 

the city for housing investment of the scale required to achieve the Council’s 20,000 

affordable homes target.  

4.25. The detailed Granton Waterfront financial model is based on multiple assumptions.  

There are risks in relying on any financial model, particularly one covering such a long 

period of time and with multimillion-pound costs and income streams. 

4.26. There is a risk that logical errors in the modelling result in misleading projections.  A peer 

review of the model has been carried out by a finance officer who was not involved in the 

initial build. In addition, the model has been internally reviewed using a commercially 

available model auditing package, to ensure its logical integrity. The model is also 

maintained in accordance with the Financial Modelling Framework as signed off by the 

Council’s internal auditors. 

4.27. There is also a risk that key assumptions regarding costs and income prove to be 

inaccurate.  Some assumptions which could significantly change the financial impact of 

the project include: 

• Level of development costs as given in the cost plan; 

• Level of capital supported by the HRA and Edinburgh Living; 

• Assumed sales values for private and registered social landlord housing; 

• Level of contingency; and 

• Future legislative change which has not been anticipated. 

Page 93



 
  

50 
  

4.28. In response to this, sensitivity analysis has been carried out, against the base case, to 

determine the financial impacts to the Council should costs and income change for the 

worse 

Sensitivity analysis  

4.29. To improve confidence in modelling outputs, the following sensitivities have been tested: 

• Optimism bias manifests at the upper bound; 

• The HRA and Edinburgh Living can support 10% less capital (e.g. through reductions in 
grants available); 

• Private sector build costs are 10% higher than anticipated; 

• Place Premium does not materialise; and 

• The cumulative effect of all of the above manifesting. 

 

4.30.  Contrary to this, there are a number of possible “up-side” sensitivities that could occur: 

• Optimism bias manifests at the lower bound; 

• Improvements to housing market increase the sales value of private and RSL 

homes by 10%, increasing the size of the capital receipt; 

• Increased level of grant or reduced interest rates allow a larger contribution from 

the HRA and Edinburgh Living; and 

• The cumulative effect of all of the above manifesting. 

4.31. The analysis below shows that if cost estimates prove to be overly optimistic or there are 

changes in the market that are detrimental to house sale prices, then the size of the 

funding gap will increase. The occurrence of the up-side sensitivities would decrease the 

size of the gap; however, a large shortfall would remain. 

  

Page 94



 
  

51 
  

4.32. The outputs from the sensitivity analysis are: 

Table 20: Outputs from sensitivity analysis  

Scenario Net position 

Base case £381.2m 

  

Optimism bias at upper bound £477.7m 

HRA / Edinburgh Living support less capital £396.6m 

Place premium does not materialise £428.4m 

Higher build costs £417.8m 

Combined downside £577.3m 

  

Optimism bias at lower bound £325.7m 

HRA/Edinburgh living support more borrowing £365.5m 

Increased sales values for private homes £333.7m 

Combined upside £262.8m 

 

Funding strategy 

4.33. There are four key phases of delivery that will bring about the realisation of the vision for 

Granton Waterfront. Each phase has been developed to maximise the benefits from 

investment and create a sense of place from day one. Paramount to this is the 

infrastructure first approach which will allow homes, commercial space and key services 

to be built at pace and scale. While ad hoc funding for individual sites can be pursued, 

success in delivering the regeneration in line with the vision will be dependent on the 

Council securing a package of funding from Government and other external parties for 

Phase 1 (Heart of Granton), and a commitment towards providing funding for future 

phases. 

4.34. Table 18 in paragraph 4.21 of this chapter provides an overview of the affordability and 

funding of phase 1. With an overall cost of £197.5m to deliver phase 1 and funding 

identified in the region of £127.4m from the Council’s Housing Revenue Account, 

Page 95



 
  

52 
  

Edinburgh Living and grant subsidy from the Affordable Housing Supply Programme 

(AHSP) for delivery of homes, there is currently a funding shortfall of around £70.1m.   

4.35. The table below breaks down the capital cost into five key areas of investment and 

matches them to potential sources of additional funding. As part of the pre-development 

phase, bids will be made to government and external parties matching the programme’s 

requirements with the criteria set out for each opportunity.  

 

Table 21: Potential sources of additional funding 

Area of 
Investment 

Description Capital 
cost 

Funding Opportunity 

Housing (Council 
and Edinburgh 
Living) 

66 homes for social rent 

53 homes for mid-
market rent 

84 homes for market 
rent 

Including Commercial 

£48.6m Additional Affordable 
Housing Supply 
Programme grant 
funding; additional 
grant for mid-market 
rent; debt sculpting to 
increase financial 
viability; City Region 
Deal Housing 
Infrastructure Fund 

Net zero carbon Low carbon heat 
technologies 

£5.9m Low Carbon 
Infrastructure 
Transition Programme, 
green recovery; Green 
Growth Accelerator; 
Scottish National 
Investment Bank; 
Shared Prosperity Fund 

Gas Holder 
restoration and 
other heritage 
assets 

Restoration of 
structural frame, 
demolition of the bell 
and decontamination of 
the plot, landscaping 

£26.6m Levelling Up Fund Bid; 
Historic Environment 
Scotland; National 
Lottery Heritage Fund; 
Shared Prosperity Fund 

Place-making and 
transport 

Public realm 

Cycle and footways 

Junction improvements 

Mobility hub 

£52.0m Place Based Investment 
Programme; 
Regeneration Capital 
Grant Fund; Places for 
Everyone; Sustrans; 
Shared Prosperity Fund 

Enabling and 
remediation 

Land remediation  £21.2m Vacant and Derelict 
land Investment 
Programme 

Page 96



 
  

53 
  

4.36. Table 21 above excludes Health Centre (£10.9m) and school (£32.3m) as funding is 

indicatively earmarked for these through NHS Lothian and the Council’s capital 

programme respectively. 

4.37. Securing the required funding from various sources will allow the Council and its 

development partner(s) to enable phase 1 to be delivered within the timescales specified 

and allow for pace and scale as set out within the master programme in table 25 at 

section 6.14 of the management case. Throughout the pre-development period, the 

programme team will continue to monitor the funding gap on phase 1 of regeneration. 

Through working with the development partner and securing funding as necessary, a 

viable and deliverable phase 1 of regeneration can be achieved. 

Conclusions 

4.38. Detailed analysis of costs and funding reveal a significant funding gap for the Granton 

Waterfront programme of £381.2m. This is a prudent estimate, incorporating optimism 

bias. Sensitivity testing has shown that improved market conditions could reduce the gap. 

However, there is also a risk that the gap could increase if market conditions deteriorate 

or other risks materialise. Based on the extent of the shortfall, it is difficult to fund the 

entire programme from the outset, but the phased approach set out in the Commercial 

Case breaks it into more achievable targets. 

4.39. The funding strategy sets out potential sources of external funding to address the 

shortfall in the first phase - the Heart of Granton. Should the Council be successful in 

securing the £70.1m required to close the funding gap, phase 1 could proceed and further 

detailed work could commence to obtain funding for the remaining three phases. 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



  
 

54 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Case 
 

  

Page 98



  
 

55 
  

5. Commercial Case 

Chapter summary 

 

• The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme has a highly complex delivery 
profile based on remediation and vast enabling infrastructure required.  

• The delivery strategy has been informed by the key programme requirements 
along with an assessment of the main barriers to achieving these.   

• A revised phasing strategy is proposed based on delivering plots with lower 
infrastructure and remediation costs earlier on with the anticipated benefits of 
a ‘place premium’ being used to offset higher abnormal costs in later phases. 

• Delivery models have been considered and it is concluded that a combination of 
partnering with the private sector and entering into contracts for specialist work 
will best help achieve the programme requirements at this current point in 
time. 

• As a significant funding shortfall exists, there is not considered to be a viable 
market option that would allow for delivery of the overall programme from the 
outset.   

• The Council will retain the “master developer” role moving forward and apply a 
phased approach to development delivery that maximises opportunities and 
benefits, optimises market interest and manages risks. 

• A delivery strategy for phase 1 has been identified which seeks to appoint a 
development partner whilst in parallel progressing development of the district 
heating network business case stages. 

• A pre-development period may be utilised following the appointment of a 
development partner.  This stage can be useful in adding value, ensuring co-
ordination and managing risk.   

• The procurement strategy for appointment of a development partner will be 
developed based on lessons learnt from these recent exercises on 
Fountainbridge and Meadowbank.  

 

Preparing an approach to delivery 

5.1. The purpose of the Commercial Case is to identify the best structure in terms of 

delivering the project, achieving the desired outcomes, ensuring value for money, 

appropriately assigning risks, and identifying a viable procurement route.  

5.2. The Granton Waterfront regeneration programme is highly complex in its delivery profile.  

It is a large development opportunity with a variety of constraints and generally modest 

Page 99



  
 

56 
  

end use values. The significant level of remediation required, and the vast enabling 

infrastructure needed to create developable plots, mean the opportunity is not currently 

attractive to a private developer on a strictly commercial basis.  Managing the timing and 

interdependencies between different work packages also adds an additional layer of 

complexity and risk. 

5.3. In developing the Commercial Case, key considerations have been identified to inform the 

commercial strategy.  The programme requirements as identified by the Development 

Framework are set out further in this chapter along with the issues standing in the way of 

progress, as well as potential approaches to address these. 

5.4. Through this analysis, a delivery strategy for the overall programme has been formulated 

along with a consideration of how phase 1 can be procured whilst effectively managing 

risk, achieving desired outcomes and ensuring value for money. 

Key considerations 

5.5. The barriers that currently deter private developers need to be fully understood and 

explored so that alternative approaches can be identified that could support market 

engagement and ultimately investment in the area. Key programme requirements along 

with barriers and opportunities informing the Commercial Case have been identified and 

are set out below. Soft market testing under strict engagement criteria has also been 

used to obtain feedback from a range of sources including registered social landlords, 

volume housebuilders, place/regeneration specialist developers, and institutional 

investors to further inform the approach.  

Programme requirements 

5.6. A vital component of the delivery approach is to understand the key parameters around 

how any commercial deal can be structured. “Must haves” that are considered vital to the 

programme’s success are set out below, providing parameters with which to assess the 

approach to delivery and consider further how best these outcomes could be secured. 

  

Page 100



  
 

57 
  

Table 22: Approach to Delivery ‘Must Haves’ 

Requirement Summary comments 

Energy and 

sustainability 

Energy and sustainability are fundamental and must run through 

every aspect of the project. Planning authority controls built into the 

delivery model may be required to ensure these requirements are 

passed onto third parties. 
 

Profit and costs The success of the project will be demonstrated through a holistic 

benefits case. Commercial metrics remain important and it will be 

incumbent on the project to recover its initial costs, albeit long-term 

profit generation is not a key priority for the delivery model. 

Affordable housing 

and equitable society 

Affordable Housing provision is an important requirement of the 

regeneration with an assumption that at least 35% of homes 

delivered will be of this tenure. The creation of jobs and 

apprenticeships within the local area will contribute to the 

sustainability of the community and is therefore a key theme to be 

considered in the delivery approach. 

Control and flexibility There is a need to future-proof the vehicle(s) used for developing 

the project (for example, a joint venture (JV)). It must be agile and 

be able to adapt to the challenges of the future and the unknown 

issues that may arise.  

Control is important to the Council and in certain phases it would not 

want to lose control; however, there are instances where having a 

private sector-led JV can open the door to funding and financing 

opportunities unavailable to a public sector-led JV.  

Different stages of the project will require different levels of retained 

control by the Council. In some phases, it might be appropriate to 

have the private sector lead with reduced levels of control by the 

Council accepted.  

It is impossible to capture everything in a contract so there is the 

need to choose the right partner{s) for the long term - this can be 

done through engaging the market early and the procurement 

process. 

Phased approach There is a need to package up different sections and adopt a 

phased approach.  The phasing needs to be programmed in order 

to create place making from the outset and regenerate distinct areas 

in one go rather than pepper potting development throughout the 

Development Framework area. 

Political buy-In Ensuring the programme aligns with Scottish Government and UK 

Government policies will ensure objectives are synchronised and 

help secure funding required to proceed. 

Risk The allocation of risk is applied in a way which reflects the party best 

placed to manage that risk. Consideration must be given in the 

delivery strategy to those required capabilities both financially and 

technically when allocating risk. 

Page 101



  
 

58 
  

Barriers and mitigations 

5.7. The key challenge for the project is addressing market failure that has restricted progress 

to date. From a delivery perspective, it is vital to recognise the need for the skills and 

expertise of the private sector to help enable and deliver the desired outcomes.  For the 

project to be successful it needs to be attractive to the market and capable of securing 

investment. This therefore needs to be a fundamental requirement of any delivery 

strategy. To frame a clearer understanding of the viability challenges, the key 

components of the project have been broken down with options identified to remove the 

barriers that exist within these and which currently precludes the market participation 

that is required. The table below sets out the barriers and the preferred approaches to 

addressing each.  

 

Table 23: Barriers to Viability 

Commercial 

component 
Barrier to viability 

Preferred delivery 

option 
Feasibility 

Net zero 

carbon 

High associated costs 

with different options.  

Market not yet paying 

premium to reflect 

additional 

environmental benefits.  

Centralised low carbon 

district heating  

Several emerging 

business models being 

applied elsewhere 

through the use of 

energy service 

companies (ESCOs).  

Government funding 

available to make this 

more viable. 

Affordable 

housing  

Income streams from 

affordable rents do not 

always offer sufficient 

capitalised value to 

cover costs of delivery 

without grant funding. 

 

Traditional delivery 

route through Council’s 

house building and that 

of registered social 

landlords (RSL) 

partners. Unlikely to 

support land value 

uplift but this could 

emerge at later phases 

with possible 

institutional partner 

investment. 

Traditional model well 

understood and clear 

evidence of delivery.  

Institutional appetite for 

long dated income 

streams becoming 

more evident in the 

market. 

Infrastructure 

first approach  

High levels of upfront 

cost required prior to 

realisation of market 

value and place 

premium. 

Master developer 

approach to 

coordinated enabling 

works and long-term 

alignment to deliver 

place premium.  

Need to secure the 

optimal contractual 

model with partner, 

define clear long-term 

business plan, phasing 

strategy which 

optimises delivery, 

clear commitments 

around what is 

expected of each party.  

Page 102



  
 

59 
  

Commercial 

component 
Barrier to viability 

Preferred delivery 

option 
Feasibility 

Contaminated 

land  

Extent of potential 

remediation required 

and associated costs, 

risks and liabilities 

clearly unattractive to 

the market. 

Detailed remediation 

strategy applied to 

inform approach.  

Preferable position to 

appoint specialist 

contractor jointly with a 

development partner 

with the full 

understanding of 

requirements, risk 

transfer and 

warranties.  

As a legacy of previous 

land use and within the 

Council ownership, it is 

likely that public funds 

would be required to 

fund the removal.  This 

should be based on a 

phased approach which 

manages public 

cashflow and allows for 

any outperformance of 

the scheme financials 

to offset future costs. 

 

Overarching delivery strategy 

5.8. Informed by the key considerations above, this section sets out the delivery strategy for 

the Granton Waterfront regeneration programme.  The approach taken is to break down 

and reposition the opportunity in a way that is more likely to generate a market response 

and create competitive tension, while also balancing the risk to the public sector in line 

with value for money considerations, and ultimately that will deliver the project 

objectives and realise the project benefits.  Project phasing and preferred delivery models 

designed to achieve this are set out in more detail below. 

Phasing principles 

5.9. A detailed review of initial phasing strategy proposals has been undertaken and 

considered against the growing body of technical information. This review identified 

some key opportunities to enhance the approach to delivery as follows: 

• The approach to remediating contaminated hotspots could be revised to reflect the 
remediation strategy which now anticipate a much lower offsite removal of material.  

• The focus on early benefit realisation identified a strong opportunity to build on the 
established uses located within the centre of the Development Framework area and 
enable a critical mass of mixed-use activity supported through key elements such as 
the refurbishment of Granton Station and opportunities to capture strong 

socioeconomic benefits.   

• A stronger response from the market could be generated from a phasing approach 
which presented early opportunities to invest with confidence based on an analysis of 
the relative viability prospects across different plots. This analysis identified 
significant variation in the level of infrastructure and remediation costs by plot.  A 
phasing principle was therefore adopted to position plots with proportionately lower 
infrastructure and remediation costs to earlier phases with the anticipated benefits of 
a ‘place premium’ arising in the longer-term used to offset some of the additional 
abnormal costs in the later phases. 

Page 103



  
 

60 
  

Proposed phasing 

  

5.10. The proposed phasing plan for the Granton Waterfront regeneration is shown above. This 

divides the developable plots into early action projects (red); phase one (yellow); phase 

two (orange); phase three (blue); and phase four (purple). The plan shows the housing 

trajectory numbers indicate potential to deliver over 3,500 new homes by 2036. 

These phases are described below. 

Early action projects 

 

5.11. A number of early action projects are currently underway and will be delivered between 

2021 and 2026.  These projects are: 

Page 104



  
 

61 
  

• Homes being constructed at Western Villages, Demonstrator site at plot D1 and 
Silverlea.  This will create around 661 net zero carbon homes of mixed tenure – social, 
mid market rent, market rent and homes for sale; 

• The refurbishment of Granton Station and the surrounding public realm for use as a 
creative hub; 

• The illumination of the gasholder for up to two years as a partnership project 
between The City of Edinburgh Council and Edinburgh College; and 

• The acquisition of the ground lease at 20 West Shore Road with lease for creative hub 

use. 

Phase one – Heart of Granton 

 

5.12. The central area of the Development Framework as identified mainly by the ‘Waterfront 

Broadway’ character area was agreed to be a natural ‘heart’ of the area.  The established 

presence of key occupiers such as the Scottish Gas headquarters and the Morrison’s 

supermarket and the geographical location of these plots as both a gateway to the area 

and a connection to the coastline supported this as the starting point to delivery. A 

working title of ‘Heart of Granton’ has been given to this new first phase of the 

Development Framework. 

5.13. This phase also includes key public realm interventions to the east of Waterfront 

Broadway and complements projects being brought forward by strategic partners. 

5.14. Heart of Granton also provides an early opportunity to lead on placemaking intent 

through the delivery of a key assets such as a primary school, healthcare facility and 

restored Gas Holder. 

5.15. Establishing a change in travel choices away from private car usage towards more 

sustainable modes of transport will be required from the outset of the delivery phase.  A 

Page 105



  
 

62 
  

new transport hub and active travel network will help engender that philosophy as part of 

the Inclusive mobility plan.  

5.16. This phase benefits from an existing highway infrastructure and a relatively low risk of 

remediation as compared to other parts of the Development Framework, although the 

Gas Holder falls into phase one and unquestionably carries a significant cost (to be further 

explored through later design stages).  

Phase two – Harbour Road 

 

5.17. A sequential strategy building upon phase one was to form an ‘arrow type’ penetration to 

the coast. This entailed the first phase driving the linear route to the coast and then 

spreading out both east and west to activate as early as can be the coastal placemaking 

dimension.   An application of the phasing principles determined that phase two should 

be the Harbour Road character area.   

5.18. In terms of constraints, Harbour Road presents a less challenging set of remediation 

requirements compared to West Shore where extensive soil and groundwater 

remediation are required. 

5.19. In terms of benefit realisation, the connection between Heart of Granton and Harbour 

Road through active travel and public realm linkage supports a strong place making 

dimension. This is supported by the green space and coastal enhancements delivered 

under this phase.  

5.20. The constraint to this phase is principally the remediation requirements coupled with 

offsite transport contributions and the cost of sea wall defences.   

Page 106



  
 

63 
  

Phase three – West Shore 

 

5.21. To maintain and enhance further the coastal theme, West Shore is the natural next phase 

of development.  It does however polarise in terms of opportunity and constraint.  The 

site levels and positioning present opportunities to develop high quality homes with 

excellent sea views and the Coastal Park access which will be a major benefit to Granton 

Waterfront and the wider area.  The extent of contamination, however, presents a major 

barrier to its delivery, much of which is related to the Coastal Park and therefore holds 

significant public value but little in terms of private value to incentivise speculators to 

invest in this. 

5.22. At this stage in the projected timeline, it is anticipated that the extent of development 

taken place in phase one and two will give rise to a place premium’ which will drive a 

more positive and investable proposition to the extent that the housing requirement can 

be delivered with a reduced deficit or even viable in traditional market terms. 

5.23. The Coastal Park will have a clear demand profile from a growing population who will be 

seeking the benefits that this intervention can bring.   

Page 107



  
 

64 
  

Phase four – Upper Granton 

 

5.24. The Upper Granton phase will deliver the final phase of the Development Framework and 

will be represent a matured coastal neighbourhood underpinned by net zero carbon living 

and fully embraced sustainable transport modes. 

5.25. This phase will require similar interventions around remediation however some of the key 

enabling infrastructure identified within the phase will be carried by earlier phases such 

as the restored gas holder and the spine road requirements to connect from Waterfront 

Broadway to Marine Drive now in phase three to unlock the West Shore. 

Delivery model options 

5.26. The regeneration programme presents a complex undertaking of different elements of 

enabling and infrastructure works together with a range of uses from housing, 

commercial space, primary school, healthcare facility, coastal park and a potential district 

heating network.  Overarching those different elements is a requirement to meet the 

strategic objectives for the project.  

5.27. A deeper examination was undertaken as to the most suitable delivery model(s) which 

could best support meeting the requirements identified for the programme whilst 

retaining those elements identified around the optimal balance of control versus 

flexibility, with a focus on sustainability, affordable housing, and societal improvement. 

The range of different delivery models explored are summarised below: 

Option one:   Joint venture (JV) arrangement with private sector partner(s)  

Advantages:  This model is well known and understood in the market and can be 

attractive to the private sector. 

Page 108



  
 

65 
  

 A separate legal entity can contract in its own name and is therefore 

ringfenced from the Council.  

This model allows multiple interested parties to participate in the JV e.g. 

developer, housebuilder, heat network provider. 

Disadvantages: Land is likely to be transferred to the JV as part of the Council’s 

contribution, meaning the Council loses control of its land other than 

through its JV interest. This can lead to challenges if the JV becomes 

insolvent. 

There are high level costs associated with establishing and maintaining a 

separate entity.  

Directors of the company must act in the best interests of the company.  

This may not be the same as the best interests of the Council. 

A single procurement to appoint JV partners may not secure the best in 

class for all elements (e.g. strong developer but weak heat network 

partner). 

Perspective: There is concern around a possible lack of control over the delivery of the 

place vision and the pace of delivery required to deliver step change across 

the framework area which may not always align to the commercial 

interests of a development partner. There are potential complexities 

identified around unwinding a JV entity if the JV does not perform.  A multi-

party procurement exercise may not be the most advantageous route to 

procuring best-in-class partners across the range of specialist areas 

required.  

Option two:   A series of contracts; one for each specialism 

Advantages: This allows specialists to be appointed to each individual aspect of a 

project, securing best-in-class providers. 

   The Council retains control and ownership of the land.  

The Council retains control of contracting arrangements.  If one particular 

contractor is underperforming, the Council can terminate and appoint a 

replacement without prejudicing the entire project. 

Disadvantages: The Council has to manage different contractors/agents.  

The Council carries risks in interface between those contractors/agents.  If 

there is delay under one contract, the Council may be exposed to 

additional cost and carry the risk in delay to the programme.  

Page 109



  
 

66 
  

Perspective: This option lends itself to distinct skillsets to deliver the identified 

requirements.  Best-in-class partners can be selected across different 

specialist areas such as remediation, district heating, and infrastructure.  

There is a concern regarding the Council’s resources to manage multiple 

contracts with interdependencies. 

 

Option three: Partnering 

Advantages: Council appoints a single partner (private sector development partner 

(PSDP)) through a single contract and that partner then takes on all other 

interfaces and contractual interdependencies therein and reduces the 

Council’s risk profile across the different elements of delivery. 

The Council retains ownership of land and no separate legal entity is 

required to be set up, making this less costly than a formal JV partner 

approach. 

Disadvantages: Residual liabilities will to some extent be pushed onto to the Council by the 

development partner where matters exist outside the partner’s control.  

These liabilities could be mitigated through insurance policies and 

warranties. 

The level of risk taken on by the development partner will be priced 

accordingly and may impact on the market responsiveness to the 

opportunity and/or result in limited opportunity to commit contractually 

to a land receipt. 

Perspective: This option presents a lower risk profile, albeit not entirely risk free, and 

could be attractive to a single-phase undertaking.  The balance of risk and 

reward would need to be structured appropriately.  One option could be 

to explore market facing risk via a pre-development agreement stage.  This 

would allow some work to be undertaken with an option for both parties 

to proceed or agree to halt at a specified point. 

 

5.28. All of these options have merit but when reviewed against the key considerations and 

requirements set out above, some combination of option two (a series of contracts; one 

for each specialism) and option three (partnering) was identified as the preferred option 

at this stage.  It should be noted however, that this should be reviewed as the programme 

moves forward as successful delivery of initial phases of development may create new 

opportunities. 

Page 110



  
 

67 
  

Programme delivery approach 

5.29. Work to date has identified a significant funding shortfall and there is not considered to 

be a viable market option that would allow for delivery of the overall programme at this 

juncture. As such, the Council will retain the “master developer” role moving forward. A 

phased approach to development delivery that maximises opportunities, optimises 

market interest, and manages risks will be taken forward. An energy and heat partner will 

be secured for Granton Waterfront as a whole (likely via a design, build, operate, and 

maintain agreement), while development partner(s) will be secured on a phase-by-phase 

basis (likely via development agreements). 

Phase one – delivering the Heart of Granton 

5.30. This section sets out how phase one of the project – “Heart of Granton” – will be 

delivered. 

Proposed delivery model 

5.31. As “master developer”, the Council will progress plans for delivering a district heating 

network. A detailed technical feasibility study has recently been completed.  This 

concluded that a district heating network serving the new development and existing 

assets within the area would be viable.  This is on the assumption that the energy centre 

would be built out in phases and that the capital cost would be supported with some level 

of government grant subsidy.  The next stage is to produce an outline business case for 

the district heating network.  This would be led by a technical team of consultants, 

bringing in financial and legal advisors.  The outputs of this stage would be designs, more 

accurate financial modelling and a conclusion on the commercial route to secure an 

energy partner to deliver this. 

5.32. In parallel with driving forward the district heating network outline business case stage, 

the Council will progress with the procurement of a development partner.  The 

development partner will be appointed to deliver phase 1 of the regeneration 

programme in the first instance, but this may include an option to extend into future 

phases subject to key milestones being achieved. 

5.33. The appointment of a development partner would coincide with the completion of the 

district heating network outline business case stage.  The development partner would be 

appointed on the basis of accepting the energy solution proposed for Granton, working 

with the Council and an energy partner to deliver this and managing it as a key 

interdependency within the wider phase 1 regeneration work packages. 

5.34. A pre-development period may be utilised following the appointment of a development 

partner.  This stage can be useful in adding value, ensuring co-ordination and managing 

risk.  This would likely be a 12-month stage where designs for phase 1 regeneration would 

be progressed, the final business case for the district heating network completed and all 

required planning submitted.  The Council will also continue dialogue with both UK and 

Scottish Governments to explore and try to secure necessary grant funding that may be 

Page 111



  
 

68 
  

required to close the overall viability gap.  The funding strategy for phase 1 is set out in 

sections 4.33 to 4.36 of the financial case. 

5.35.  The culmination of this activity would allow a final business case for phase 1 of 

regeneration, including delivery of a district heating network to be submitted to Council 

for approval.  If successful, this would allow a development agreement to be signed with 

a development partner and the procurement of delivery partner(s) to take forward the 

enabling, infrastructure and district heating network delivery. 

Procurement and risk allocation 

5.36. In pursuing a pre-development approach based on a period of collaboration with a 

development partner, a procurement strategy will be implemented based on the principle 

that a longer-term contractual agreement may evolve from the period of collaboration.  

Appropriate risk management will be developed through this process seeking to allocate 

it on basis of ensuring value for money, expertise and market appetite.    It is therefore 

incumbent upon the Council to engage with the market in line with its established 

procurement process.   

5.37. The Council has recently undertaken two substantial procurement exercise on other 

development opportunities at Fountainbridge and Meadowbank which propose similar 

two stage type arrangements.  The procurement strategy for Granton Waterfront will be 

developed based on lessons learnt from these recent exercises and in the context of the 

more challenging delivery environment of this major regeneration programme. 

Conclusion 

5.38. As there is not yet a viable proposition for the market across the overall programme, the 

Council need to continue in the master developer role if the regeneration is to move 

forward. The key actions proposed are that the Council continue with the early action 

projects, funding applications and delivery where appropriate.  The next stages for 

securing an energy partner for the programme and in the first instance, phase 1 will be 

progressed. A phased delivery approach that makes sense in terms of outcomes and 

market appetite will be taken forward with the procurement for a Phase 1 development 

partner or partners that may include a pre-development period as a means of adding 

value, ensuring co-ordination and managing risk.  

Page 112



  
 

69 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_ 

Management Case 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 

 

70 
  

6. Management Case  

Chapter summary 

 

• A pre-development programme for phase 1 and a master programme for 
delivery of phases 1-4 have been developed based on the recommended 
delivery strategy. 

• The pre-development period is assumed to run from October 2021 to May 
2024 with enabling works and construction for phase 1 starting thereafter. 

• During the pre-development period a number of key activities sit on the 
critical path to completion including appointment of a development 
partner, development of the district heating business case stages, securing 
grant funding required, obtaining detailed planning consent and 
assembling land. 

• A risk management strategy has been developed to promote clear 
ownership across the programme team. 

• Strong programme governance and programme management 
arrangements are in place. 

• A benefits realisation strategy has been developed to create a framework 
for monitoring and evaluating benefits as each phase is delivered. 

• A stakeholder management and communication plan has been developed 
to ensure that the regeneration programme meets the needs and 
expectations of the community and key stakeholders. 

 

 

Introduction  

6.1. The Management Case sets out clearly how the delivery of the Granton Waterfront 

programme will be managed. The following items will be covered: 

• Project plan (pre-development and master programme) 

• Risk management  

• Project management  

• Benefits realisation  

• Stakeholder management  

Page 114



 

 

71 
  

Project plan  

6.2. The project plan comprises the pre-development programme for phase 1 and the master 

programme for delivery of phases 1-4. The programmes are the principal management 

tools used to plan, manage and monitor the key activities and milestones required to 

realise the completion of the various stages of the project. The programme manager is 

responsible for setting the main project milestones and scheduling work to achieve these. 

Pre-development programme  

6.3. Key pre-development activities and milestones are summarised below. 

Procurement of a pre-development partner  

6.4. As set out in the Commercial Case, the commercial strategy considers the potential to 

adopt a two-stage approach to selecting a development partner with the first stage being 

the pre-development period. This will be a fixed period for the parties to explore a wide-

ranging set of commercial and delivery options to deliver Phase 1. The project plan calls 

for a development partner to be appointed by May 2022. 

6.5. The selection of the development partner is a critical path activity which will directly 

influence the implementation strategies selected for design and delivery of enabling 

infrastructure. This stage needs to take account of the delivery of the low carbon district 

heating network. The district heating network will be developed to Outline Business Case 

stage in advance of appointing a development partner. During the 12-month pre-

development period, the Council will develop this to Full Business Case stage working 

collaboratively with the development partner to ensure co-ordination with all enabling 

works. After the 12-month pre-development period, a development agreement will be 

entered into provided the parties meet the requirements set out in the pre-development 

agreement.  Critical to signing a development agreement will be achieving a deliverable, 

viable phase 1.  This will likely involve the Council securing government grant funding to 

cover a remaining funding gap. 

Final business case 

6.6. A final business case (FBC) for phase one of the Granton Waterfront regeneration 

programme, including a low carbon district heating network will be prepared as part of 

the pre-development agreement with a view to securing approval by June 2023. The FBC 

will update the commercial strategy for phase one. 

Land assembly – Landowners/ Occupiers 

6.7. The project plan identifies a phased land acquisition requirement to secure the various 

land rights to deliver the project.  Phase one requires the acquisition of land and 

properties on West Shore Road and West Granton Road by January 2024. It is assumed 

the land requirements will be secured through managing end of lease terms and private 

negotiation with the landowners; however, a compulsory purchase order (CPO) may be 

required if these negotiations are not successful. Failure or delay to secure the required 

Page 115



 

 

72 
  

land rights within the timescales will impact programme and result in delays to 

infrastructure delivery.  

Planning   

6.8. A detailed planning application will be required for phase one and will include a Transport 

Impact Assessment and any relevant studies regarding remediation, noise, and ecology 

matters. The detailed application is scheduled for submission in June 2023. 

6.9. The Development Framework has been approved by Committee as non-statutory 

guidance to inform future development on the site and negates the need for a planning 

application in principle. Planning consent is scheduled to be secured by May 2024, 

allowing for a 12-month determination period.  This is a critical path activity to the start 

on site date. 

Contract award for enabling infrastructure 

6.10. Upon securing detailed planning consent, the next key milestone will be the contract 

award to deliver the enabling infrastructure. The current programme schedules the 

commencement of procurement of the enabling infrastructure six months from a 

planning application being submitted in December 2023 with contract award in May 

2024.  This assumes that the Council has within six months of submission of planning 

gained reasonable certainty over the outcome on planning to be sufficiently confident to 

engage with the contracting market. Any planning risk delay to this activity will directly 

impact on the scheduled start on site for phase one.   

6.11. There will be a separate procurement and contract award for the delivery of the district 

heating network, working in parallel and aligning with the programme for delivering 

enabling works. 

Start on site  

6.12. The start on site for phase one is scheduled for May 2024 which will start with the 

commencement of enabling infrastructure. This is expected to take 12 months and for 

construction of the first residential block within phase 1 by April 2025. 

  

Page 116



 

 

73 
  

6.13. The key project pre-development programme milestones are summarised below: 

 

Table 24: Pre-Development Milestones 

Programme milestone 
Date 

Completion of district heating network OBC April 2022 

Procurement of development partner  May 2022 

Full business case approved following pre-development period (including 

district heating network) 
June 2023 

Planning application submitted June 2023 

Development agreement award June 2023 

Land assembly complete (phase one) Jan 2024 

Planning consent secured  May 2024 

Enabling infrastructure contract award May 2024 

District heating contract award  May 2024 

Start on site – first residential block April 2025 

Master programme 

6.14. A master programme has been developed and is summarised below: 

 

Table 25: Master Programme  

Phase Title No. of homes Start Completion 

Phase 1 Heart of Granton 788 May 2024 April 2028 

Phase 2 Harbour Road 768 March 2026 May 2031 

Phase 3 West Shore 726 June 2026 May 2033 

Phase 4 Upper Granton 582 August 2031 May 2036 

Total  2,864  

 

6.15. The total number of homes above do not include early action projects, which will see an 

additional 661 homes delivered between 2022 and 2026. This takes the overall number of 

homes delivered within Granton Waterfront to 3,525. 

Risk management  

6.16. The primary objective of the risk management strategy is to identify, assess, and address 

potential risks and opportunities across the project lifecycle which could impact on 

delivery and/or inform better decision making.  

Page 117



 

 

74 
  

 

6.17. The Granton Waterfront programme risk strategy is directed by the risk manager who 

leads on the risk management activities. 

 

6.18. The risk management strategy has been designed to promote clear ownership across the 

programme team and drive a ‘risk aware’ culture that encourages the ongoing 

identification and assessment of project risk. 

Risk register  

6.19. The risk register is a live document which captures all project risks, sets out the risk 

response option and actions, defines the risk mitigation plan, assesses the residual 

likelihood and impact, identifies any secondary risks; and assigns a risk owner and 

actionee.  

Risk mitigation plans 

6.20. The assignment of mitigation plans is directed by the risk manager to the relevant risk 

action owner. The risk action owner has the responsibility for developing and 

implementing the mitigation plan. 

Financial impact  

6.21. The risks outlined in the risk register have been costed by the project quantity surveyor 

with an estimate on how much cost each risk in question would add to the project should 

it materialise. The intention is that with the mitigation plans enacted, this value should 

reduce as the programme of work develops. In particular, as the pre-development 

agreement period elapses, the key phase and project deliverables will have had risk 

mitigation strategies implemented and risk levels reduced. Monte Carlo financial 

modelling has been carried out to allow consideration of possible extremes in risk costs. 

Risk reporting  

6.22. As overall accountability of the project sits with the Edinburgh Waterfront Programme 

Board, risks will be reported vertically to the Programme Board on a regular basis with 

clear categorisation of where risks sit within the context of the project and the wider 

statutory/corporate environment. 

 

Programme management framework   

Programme structure and roles  

6.23. Set out below is the proposed structure for the delivery of Early Action Projects and the 

pre-development period which will result in a Full Business Case for phase 1. 

 

Page 118



 

 

75 
  

Strategic oversight resides with the Programme Board and overall responsibility for the 

programme delivery with the programme lead. The day to day responsibilities reside with 

the programme manager.  

 

Fig 5: Programme Governance Structure  

 

Programme governance and responsibilities  

6.24. The Programme Board is chaired by the Executive Director of Place, the designated 

project sponsor. Key responsibilities of the Board are as follows: 

• Executive / corporate decision-making group taking overall responsibility for the 
project on behalf of the Council; 

• Ensuring that the purpose and objectives of the Granton Waterfront programme 
underpin the strategic direction of the Granton Waterfront Development Framework 
and the Council; 

• Responsible for connectivity between the Council and the programme; 

• Gateway approval of the business case stages; 

• Monitoring progress against budget and project programme and report to the All-
Party Oversight Group (APOG); 

• Approval of high-level commitments and expenditures for the project; 

• Approval of high-level variations; 

Page 119



 

 

76 
  

• Setting the business plan targets; 

• Approval and sign off at project gateways; 

• Provide sponsorship to and take overall responsibility for successful project delivery; 

• Review project risks and related risk if escalated; and 

• Approval of procurement decisions plus setting delegated authority limits to the 
programme lead. 

 

6.25. An All Party Oversight Group was established in Oct 2018 to provide cross party political 

leadership of the regeneration, discuss significant issues and projects, and provide advice 

and guidance to officers on the implementation of decisions and monitor progress. 

Key Roles and Responsibilities  

6.26. For each of the workstreams identified above, further information on core tasks are 

outlines below:  

Fig 6: Programme Workstreams   

6.27. The workstream leads will be supported by external advisors and Council service areas 

during the next stage.  

Page 120



 

 

77 
  

Programme administration  

The meeting arrangements will be designed to support effective ongoing management 

and provide a clear pathway to making informed decision making. At the core of the 

design principles for the programme administration is a structure of meetings which bring 

together targeted groups to manage and report progress on different aspects of the 

overall programme. Ultimate programme oversight and decision-making accountability 

sits at Granton Waterfront Board level. The meeting structure is summarised below: 

 

Table 26: Meeting Structure 

Reporting management  

6.28. The reporting arrangements for the programme should support the most effective use of 

the programme meeting structure. The focus of all reporting is to issue reports to a 

predetermined frequency and provide a platform to track and update on how the project 

is performing against key milestones. A key tool employed to capture an overview on all 

project actions is the action tracker.   This is a collaborative live document which all 

members of the team contribute to and includes issues/actions arising from progress 

meetings, actions arising from risk workshops, and schedule-driven actions required to 

achieve project milestones and gateways. 

Meeting Frequency Purpose 

Granton Waterfront 

Board 

Monthly  To drive forward all aspects of the programme in 

relation to funding and delivery in line with the 

Granton Waterfront programme. 

Granton Waterfront 

progress meetings 

 

Fortnightly  
To advance the programme in a coordinated 

manner to support design progress and decision 

making. 

Granton Waterfront 

programme team 

meeting 

Every three 

weeks 
To provide guidance, approvals and instructions to 

progress the programme. 

Risk management 

workshops 

Quarterly  To provide cross team input into risk identification 

and mitigation planning. 

Risk review 

meetings 

Monthly  
Ongoing review of the status of risks identified  

Value management 

meetings  

Quarterly Convened and led by the cost manager to drive 

delivery of design to budget. 

Page 121



 

 

78 
  

Benefits realisation strategy   

6.29. A core requirement of the programme framework and the governance of this will be to 

ensure that benefits are realised. This entails defining the actives to be carried out in each 

stage to deliver the strategic objectives. The management arrangements will build on this 

by defining the outputs for each phase, how these align to the strategic objectives, and 

the type of funding sources required. 

6.30. A phase specific benefits management plan with clear ownership, detailed forecasting on 

timing and impact, and agreed measurement criteria for each activity will be developed 

with clear monitoring and evaluation. The Granton Waterfront Board must put in place a 

framework of ownership of the benefits management plan and identify key stakeholders 

with clear role responsibility or accountability to deliver the anticipated benefits. Finally, 

the benefits management plan includes a post management evaluation strategy which 

puts in place a process and assurance framework.  

Stakeholder management 

6.31. Stakeholder management is a critical part of ensuring this major intervention addresses 

community needs and ambitions as well as maximises synergy with relevant policies and 

other planned investments in the area. This section sets out activities to be carried out to 

ensure the Granton Waterfront intervention meets the needs and expectations of the 

community and key stakeholders and therefore wins their support and buy-in.  

Activities  

6.32. Activities undertaken within the stakeholder management process include: 

• A stakeholder engagement and communications plan has been prepared to provide a 
brief on the objectives, target audience and methodology for communication and 

engagement; 

• Identifying activities that can empower local people; 

• Identifying key stakeholders and creating a community of “change champions” from a 
variety of stakeholder groups to help articulate the case for the programme and 
demonstrate support; 

• Deliver an impact analysis to demonstrate how the benefits case impacts the 
stakeholders and aligns to their needs; 

• Produce stakeholder-specific communications materials to increase awareness, create 
enthusiasm, and maximise buy-in; and 

• Developing a programme of culture and learning opportunities and meanwhiles uses to 
empower local people and build the brand. 

 

6.33. A detailed stakeholder identification exercise has been carried out. These key 

stakeholders identified are set out below: 

Page 122



 

 

79 
  

Table 27: Stakeholders 

Stakeholder Type Stakeholder  Methods of Communication 

UK Government Minister Iain Stewart MP, Under 
Secretary of State for Scotland 

One to one / written briefings 

Local Government Kevin Stewart, MSP, Minister for Mental 
Wellbeing and Social Care, Champion 
Minister for Granton Waterfront 
regeneration 

One to one / written briefings 

Local Authority Councillor Cammy Day, Depute Leader of 
the City of Edinburgh Council and 
Granton Waterfront Champion. 
 
The Edinburgh Waterfront All Parties 
Oversight Group (APOG) was established 
in 2018. The membership is made up of 
convenorships of several Council 
committees and is chaired by the Depute 
Leader of the City of Edinburgh Council. 

One to one / written briefings 
 
Quarterly Meeting 

Strategic Partners  There are six strategic public-sector 
partners of the regeneration: 

The City of Edinburgh Council  
Edinburgh College 
National Museums Scotland 
National Galleries of Scotland 
Scottish Government 
Scottish Futures Trust 

Memorandum of Understanding 
signed by all key partners 

Quarterly Meetings 

Internal 
Stakeholders 

Comprising of service areas across the 
City of Edinburgh Council such as: Active 
Travel, Archaeology, Communities & 
Families, Culture, Education, 
Environmental Protection, Estates, 
Flooding, Forestry, Parks, Locality Offices, 
Transport, Planning, Road Safety, 
Sustainability and Waste. 

Regular meetings and 
correspondence 
 
 

Developers, 
Investors and 
Funders 

Interested development partners, 
investors and funders. 

Presentations 

Road shows 

Events 

Discussion forums 

Ad hoc meetings 

External Interest 
Groups 

Comprising of partner agencies and 
interested parties such as: Architecture & 
Design Scotland, Business Gateway, 
Community Renewal, Creative Scotland, 
Central Scotland Green Network, Lothian 

Regular meetings and 
correspondence 

Page 123



 

 

80 
  

Stakeholder Type Stakeholder  Methods of Communication 

Buses, NHS Lothian, RSPB, SEPA and 
Sustrans. 

Local Community, 
Networks and 
Groups  

Residents, businesses, public service 
institutions (schools, libraries and health 
centres), youth groups, community 
centres, places of worship, community 
support and voluntary organisations. 

Community newsletter 

Community events and 
meanwhile projects 

Press releases 

Digital media (website 
and social media. 

Ad hoc meetings 

Community 
Councils 

There are six local Community Councils: 

Granton and District 
West Pilton/West Granton 
Muirhouse and Salvesen 
Cramond and Barnton 
Leith Harbour and Newhaven 
Trinity   

Regular meetings 

Dedicated newsletter 

 

Objectives 

6.34. The key objectives of the stakeholder engagement and communication plan are to: 

• Ensure the programme addresses community needs and ambitions; 

• Maximise collaboration with key partners and stakeholders; 

• Reflect the diverse needs and backgrounds of the Granton Waterfront community;  

• Ensure that the programme benefits are valued and trusted by the people who are 
impacted directly;  

• Work collaboratively with the community, partners and private sector to deliver a 
programme of culture and learning activities and meanwhiles uses over the next 10–15 
years to empower local people. 

 

Communication  

6.35. The objective of communications and stakeholder activity is to generate trust and 

empowering local communities and stakeholders to contribute to the project. Key aspects 

include:  

• Ensuring stakeholders are provided with up-to-date information about the project; 

Page 124



 

 

81 
  

• Ensuring stakeholders are given appropriate opportunities to provide comment on 
the timing, phasing and scope of the programme; 

• Ensuring consultation activities for inputting into programme design development are 
clear, open, accessible, and transparent; 

• Managing and mitigating opposition to the project through open and transparent 
communication; 

• Acknowledging and actively monitoring stakeholders’ concerns and taking their views 
and interests into account in decision making; 

• Developing a communications governance structure to define ownership and 

responsibility for communications across the programme; and 

• Recognising interdependencies among certain stakeholders, taking into account their 
respective risks and exposures. 

Conclusion 

6.36. A robust framework has been created to ensure that the delivery of the Granton 

Waterfront regeneration programme is managed in a logical and planned manner.  The 

creation of a pre-development programme for phase 1 and master programme for the 

overall regeneration will ensure that key activities and interdependencies are monitored 

and kept on track.  A comprehensive risk management strategy will ensure that potential 

risks to delivery are identified, assessed and addressed on an ongoing basis throughout 

the programme lifecycle.  Strong programme governance and programme management 

are in place to support the delivery.  Alongside this, a benefits realisation strategy has 

been developed to create a framework for monitoring and evaluating benefits to ensure 

the regeneration achieves the strategic objectives identified.  A stakeholder management 

and communication plan has been developed so that the community and other key 

stakeholders are kept up to date with the delivery timescales and that their needs and 

expectations are met.

Page 125



 

 

82 
  

7. Way Forward 

Chapter summary 

  

• The Programme Delivery Plan approved in February 2020 recommended a 
staged delivery approach to the programme.  
 

• The stage 2 activities agreed within the Programme Delivery Plan have been 
completed as part of the process of developing this Outline Business Case. 
 

• It is recommended that the project proceeds to stage 3 – development of a 
Final Business Case for phase 1 of regeneration. 
 

• This will maintain progress on delivery of the regeneration programme by 
bringing in development partner skills and expertise, developing a case for a 
low carbon energy solution, progressing designs, achieving further cost 
certainty to reduce optimism bias and creating a deliverable phase 1 that aims 
to secure a package of government grant funding to close any remaining 
viability gap. 

 

 

Introduction 

7.1. The Programme Delivery Plan (PDP) approved by Policy and Sustainability Committee in 

February 2020 recommended a staged delivery approach to the programme.  This Outline 

Business Case represents the completion of a number of key workstreams and activities 

agreed as Stage 2 within the PDP.    

Review of activities completed 

7.2. The table below sets out the key Stage 2 activities agreed by Committee along with their 

status.  The budget for Stage 2 was £2m and the tasks have been completed within 

budget. 

 

Table 28: Stage 2 Activities  

Activity Status Complete 

Outline Business 
Case development 

Cost plan and financial model updated, 
development of procurement and funding 
strategy, market testing of emerging 
procurement strategy, social and 
economic appraisal carried out 

✓ 

Page 126



 

 

83 
  

Activity Status Complete 

Development and 
regeneration 

Plot viability testing, delivery of early 
action housing projects progressed 

✓ 

Enabling and 
Infrastructure 

Remediation strategy developed, energy 
strategy developed, phasing strategy 
developed, station building refurbishment 
progressed, relocation strategy developed 
 
 

 

✓ 
 
 
 

Transport Active travel, transport and parking 
strategies all developed; active travel 
designs progressed for early action 
projects 

✓ 

Culture and 
Learning 

Steering groups established, action plans 
developed and early implementation, 
development of community benefits, 
social and economic appraisal carried out, 
development of meanwhile uses, 
stakeholder engagement and 
communications plan developed. 

✓ 

 
 

 

Stage 3 – development of Final Business Case for phase 1 

7.3. Stage 3, which is scheduled to take approximately 20 months, is the pre-development 

period which will conclude in the completion of a final business case for phase 1 of the 

regeneration programme. 

 

7.4. During this stage, a development partner will be procured, the district heating network 

business case stages will be progressed, and a pre-development period may be utilised to 

progress designs, consider commercial options for delivery of work packages culminating 

in a deliverable first phase of regeneration.  In parallel to this, a funding and financing 

package will be finalised.  

 

 

7.5. The table below sets out the recommended Stage 3 activities and the expected outcomes 

at the end of the stage. 

  

Page 127



 

 

84 
  

Table 29: Stage 3 Activities  

Activity Outcome 

Completion of district heating outline business 

case stage 

A technical team of consultants, bringing in 

financial and legal advisors will be procured 

from the Council’s Professional Services 

Framework, building in the potential to 

extend this to delivery of a final business 

case.  This work will progress designs, more 

accurate financial modelling and a 

conclusion on the commercial route to 

secure an energy partner to deliver this. 

Procurement of development partner 

A procurement route is yet to be finalised but 

will be informed by recent strategies followed 

on Fountainbridge and Meadowbank.  The 

route for these projects was a competitive 

procedure with negotiation.  This entails 

extending an invitation to tender to a 

selected number of potential suppliers, 

followed by an optional negotiation period. 

Then a final tender prior to award. 

Carry out pre-development period 

A 12-month pre-development period may be 

utilised on appointing a development partner 

and prior to signing a development 

agreement.  This stage can be useful in 

adding value, ensuring co-ordination and 

managing risk.  Designs will be progressed 

and commercial options for delivery of phase 

1 considered.  The key outcome of this 

activity would be a viable and deliverable 

phase 1 of regeneration. 

Completion of district heating final business 

case stage 

Using an extension of the consultant team 

who have delivered the district heating 

outline business case stage, designs will be 

finalised, and a delivery partner sought to 

enter into commercial arrangements to 

deliver a low carbon energy solution. 

Finalise funding arrangements  

Throughout the pre-development period, the 

programme team will continue to monitor the 

funding gap on phase 1 of regeneration and 

pursue the strategy set out in the finance 

case. Through working with the development 

partner and securing government and other 

external funding as necessary, a viable and 

deliverable phase 1 of regeneration can be 

achieved.  

Implement stakeholder engagement and 

communications plan 

The stakeholder engagement process will 

run continuously throughout the life of the 

programme.   

Page 128



 

 

85 
  

Estimated costs 

7.6. Based on an analysis of the key activities required, an estimation of the costs to complete 

Stage 3 of the programme to completion of final business case for phase 1 of 

regeneration has been produced.  This is summarised below over the key cost elements.  

 

Table 30: Key Stage 3 Costs 

Element Budget (£m) 

Programme Team resources (Council team 

and external advisors for specialist 

workstreams) 

 £0.9m 

Technical team for delivery of district heating 

outline and final business case stages; and 

Potential pre-development period costs – 

funding development partner activity before 

development agreement is signed 

£3.7m 

 

7.7. As the HRA is a key stakeholder and landowner at Granton, the costs set out above will be 

funded from the HRA revenue budget.  An element of the cost represents front funding 

from the HRA to allow the development of a proposed phased delivery of regeneration 

and new social and other affordable homes to progress.  A key outcome of stage 3 is 

securing a funding and financing package to ensure a first phase of regeneration is viable 

and deliverable.  Securing this will allow the HRA to benefit from front funding through 

the realisation of capital land receipts and government grant funding over the period of 

the approved project. 

 

7.8. Gateways are built into the stage 3 process to ensure that the viability and deliverability 

of a first phase of regeneration is tested at key points in the development process.  This 

will ensure that progress to achieve the key outcomes as set out in table 30 is monitored 

at specific intervals whilst minimising the risk of abortive costs being incurred.  

Recommendation 

7.9. It is recommended that the programme proceeds to Stage 3 as described above. 

 

7.10. Based on the overall viability gap of the programme, proceeding to stage 3 and 

developing a Final Business Case for phase 1 of regeneration will progress delivery by: 

• Aiming to develop a first phase of regeneration that is viable and deliverable through 
the expertise and skills of a development partner and through securing government 
grant funding 

Page 129



 

 

86 
  

• Allowing development of design to achieve further cost certainty so that optimism 
bias can be reduced, and viability can be tested 

• Developing a case for a low carbon energy solution that can form a key part of 
enabling infrastructure and which can attract low carbon grant funding; and 

• Potentially utilising a pre-development period to add value, ensure co-ordination and 
manage risk.  

 

Page 130



  
 

87 
  

 

Page 131



 

Appendix 2: Early Action Projects  

In parallel with delivering the OBC, early action projects have been progressing to 

accelerate delivery of around 661 Council led homes, key amenities and enhanced 

connectivity as outlined below. 

New Homes  

Planning permission has been secured for 444 homes at Western Villages which will 

deliver social (195), mid-market rent (62), market rent (63) and homes for sale (124) 

tenures. At least 20% of the homes will be three bedroom or above to cater for mixed 

family groups and 10% of the social rented properties will be provisioned for those who are 

physically disabled or wheelchair users. All homes will achieve net zero carbon through a 

combination of measures including; producing renewable energy on site, increased 

insulation and build quality to reduce heat loss and no use of fossil fuels with heat pumps 

being used to increase the efficiency of the energy used for space heating and hot water. It 

is expected construction will start in Spring 2022.  

Western Villages includes a significant active travel infrastructure upgrade in the form of a 

3m wide fully segregated bi-directional cycle track along the eastern/southern side of 

Marine Drive and West Shore Road linking Gypsy Brae, Forthquarter Park and the 

Western Villages development with the North Edinburgh Active Travel Connection 

improvements at Pennywell Road Roundabout. Also included are improvements to the 

pedestrian infrastructure along the route including additional active travel links to 

Forthquarter Park and crossing infrastructure for both pedestrians and cyclists at key 

locations. Sustainable urban drainage (SUDs) infrastructure will be implemented along the 

route where possible and will include landscaping improvements, most notably to the 

boundary of Forthquarter Park with West Shore Road. 

Design work is underway to deliver around 142 affordable net zero homes at the former 

Silverlea care home site, 91 of the homes will be for social rent with the remaining 51 for 

mid market rent.  35 of these homes will be for those who are physically disabled or 

wheelchair users. Construction is expected to start in August 2022. New facilities for 

Craigroyston Community Youth Football Club will also be provided as part of the 

redevelopment alongside improved walking and cycling connections. 

Within Granton, around 75 homes for rent will be delivered on a site to the rear of Granton 

Station building. These homes will be used as a pilot for the Edinburgh Homes 

Demonstrator (EHD) Programme and will deliver social (37), mid-market rent (19) and 

market rent (19).  The EHD Programme aims to develop a new housing delivery model, 

specifically a method of design, construction and delivery that is based on off -site 

construction and will deliver net zero carbon homes. The programme aims to streamline 

housing design and construction for both the benefit of the Council’s house building 

programme as well as those of the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

(ESESCRD) partners. The homes at D1 will be used to evaluate the net zero carbon 

design at the completion and occupancy phase by using a series of monitoring and 

evaluation metrics.  The development will contain an air source heat pump network as well 

as an underground refuse system and minimum parking as well as sustainable drainage 

system. It is expected construction will start in Spring 2022. 

 

Page 132

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=148&MId=6084&Ver=4


Registered Social Landlord (RSL) Partners  

In addition to the Council led homes, RSL partners have recently completed or have under 

development around 864 homes on Granton Harbour and Waterfront Avenue. Over 700 of 

these homes are for affordable rent, helping meet Edinburgh’s target to deliver 20,0000 

affordable homes by 2027 while creating an accessible high-quality place for people to live 

and enjoy. 

Bringing assets back to life 

On 4 March 2021 Finance and Resources Committee agreed the appointment of Kier 

Construction Ltd to carry out the restoration of Granton Station, an Edwardian B-listed 

building in the heart of Granton Waterfront into a high-quality creative workspace. The 

project is part-funded through Scottish Government Regeneration Capital Grant Funding 

and Town Centre Funding. The restoration commenced in June 2021 and will include the 

creation of a public square for community events and recreation to be enjoyed by residents 

and visitors to the area. Work will conclude in spring 2022. 

 On 12 August 2021, Finance and Resources Committee approved a 25 year lease of 

Granton Station to Wasps Ltd. Wasps is a charity specialising in providing studio and 

workshop space for artists in Scotland. Founded in 1977, Wasps now operates more than 

20 buildings across Scotland, providing workspaces for approximately 900 artists. It is the 

largest provider of affordable studio space in the UK. Wasps has previously brought 

several historic buildings back into use as creative workspaces, for example the Meadow 

Mill former jute mill in Dundee. The future use of the building and new public square will 

secure a people centred approach to economic development, supporting up to 40 jobs per 

annum and providing both indoor and outdoor space for community events. 

The Granton Gas Holder has been an iconic fixture on Edinburgh’s waterfront for more 

than a century. It is a category A listed structure and is a much-loved local landmark.  One 

of the first early action projects in Granton has been the illumination of the Granton Gas 

Holder with a creative light show each evening to signify the regeneration of the Granton 

area. The project was launched on 19 May 2021 and the gas holder will be illuminated for 

a period of up to two years.   

The project is a collaboration between the City of Edinburgh Council and Edinburgh 

College. Creative lighting design company 21CC Productions was appointed to transform 

the gas holder into one of Scotland’s biggest works of art. As well as being an exciting 

work of art, the project is operating as a practical training opportunity for students across 

the College’s Creative Industries faculty.  The students are working alongside 21CC 

Productions to create and operate the lightshows and are gaining practical experience, 

using some of the newest technology available, thus creating an opportunity to turn theory 

into practice across key industry sectors including theatre, media, marketing, lighting 

design, sound production and photography. The lighting sequence will change each month 

with themed ‘events’ for special dates such as festivals. Community groups will be invited 

to suggest themes for lighting events. 

On the 20 May 2021, Finance and Resources Committee approved the purchase of the 

ground interest at 20 West Shore Road and a 15 year lease of the property to Edinburgh 

Palette. Edinburgh Palette is a social enterprise and charity who are seeking to transform 

this former warehouse into a creative enterprise hub. 

Page 133

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=5565&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=5567&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=5566&Ver=4


On the 20 May 2021, Finance and Resources Committee approved a 25 year lease of the 

land at Lauriston farm to Edinburgh Agroecology Co-op CIC. The project will initially focus 

on creating a market garden, building the projects infrastructure, rewilding areas and 

working to engage the community in activity. There is a strong focus on working towards 

net zero in line with the wider vision for the area and city.   

A Culture Strategy for Granton Waterfront 

In June 2020, The Edinburgh Waterfront board agreed and published A Culture Strategy 

for Granton, which was prepared in collaboration with partners. The aim of this is to create 

a place-based strategy for the Granton redevelopment in response to an ambition to 

deliver culture led regeneration. The strategy seeks to improve the health, wellbeing, 

prosperity and quality of life of people who live in, work in and visit north Edinburgh; as 

well as supporting the local economy through attracting increased visitors and new 

residents to the area. 

In January 2021, a Steering Group was established bringing together key strategic 

partners, anchor cultural organisations working in the area and specialist advisors to 

oversee implementation of actions set out within the Strategy. The membership includes: 

City of Edinburgh Council, Edinburgh College, NGS, NMS, Edinburgh Health and Social 

Care Partnership, North Edinburgh Arts and Creative Carbon Scotland. 

Early actions in this workstream have included the illumination of the Granton Gas Holder 

– a two-year collaborative project with Edinburgh College - and the refurbishment of 

Granton Station into a new creative workspace, due to open in 2022. 

A Learning Strategy for Granton Waterfront 

In June 2020, The Edinburgh Waterfront board approved and published A Learning 

Strategy for Granton. The aim of this Strategy is to create a place-based learning Strategy 

for the Granton redevelopment and surrounding communities. The overarching themes of 

the Strategy are to: 

• Improve the environment for learning; 

• Create more diverse pathways into and through learning; 

• Create better connected experiences; and  

• Raise the levels of ambition and the range of opportunities. 

The delivery of this Strategy is now part of a pilot for a city-wide initiative – ‘Edinburgh 

Learns for Life’ – which is seeking to transform how learning is delivered in the city.   

In January 2021, a Steering Group was established bringing together key learning partners 

working in the area including; the City of Edinburgh Council, Edinburgh College, 

Craigroyston High School, St David’s R.C. Primary School to represent all local primary 

schools, NGS, NMS and the Capital City Partnership.  

An early action of this workstream has been the development of an artist-led consultation 

with learners across all ages who live, work and study in North Edinburgh about their 

learning experience, interests, passions and ambitions. The aim of the project is to 

meaningfully engage communities to better establish how local learning provision 

(including the curriculum offer) can better respond to and reflect local needs as we emerge 

from the coronavirus pandemic.  

Page 134

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=140&MId=5566&Ver=4
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28866/culture-strategy
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28866/culture-strategy
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28867/learning-strategy
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28867/learning-strategy


 

Strategic Partners  

Alongside delivery of the key strategy documents above, the Council’s strategic partners 

are also delivering key assets within Granton. 

Within ‘The Art Works’, a new proposed facility at Granton Waterfront, NGS will host the 

country’s internationally significant art collection and become Scotland’s largest building 

designed to Passivhaus standard. Access and inclusivity are central to its purpose. The Art 

Works will be a key cultural venue for the Granton community and the wider area, with 

multi-purpose spaces available for all kinds of local events and gatherings, in addition it 

will attract and be a focus for collection researchers from across the Scotland, the UK and 

internationally. 

NMS is planning further new buildings and facilities at the NMS Collection Centre in 

Granton Waterfront which will include a new visitor centre. 

A new active travel route will link West Granton Road and surrounding communities with 

these new facilities. Side by side, NGS and NMS collections with their tens of millions of 

treasured objects will offer an unprecedented bringing together of national art and culture 

for local and international visitors alike. 

In addition, a revitalised Edinburgh College campus will provide a strong foundation on 

which to build on their current construction centre of excellence, providing training in 

modern methods of construction and technologies aimed at the transition to net zero.  

Sustainable Transport and Active Travel 

On 19 August 2021, Committee approved proposals to investigate, prepare initial designs 

and consult residents on appropriate parking controls for the Granton Waterfront 

Development Area. It is anticipated that a form of car parking control and regular 

enforcement will be required to support modal shift and the maximum car parking level of 

25% (one space for every four residential units) as set out in the Granton Waterfront 

Development Framework. Parking Controls will also ensure that any impact from overspill 

car parking is minimised, particularly for existing residents in the surrounding streets. The 

outcomes of this consultation will be reported back to a future committee. 

Public transport to and from Granton through new and existing services amendments 

(increase service frequency, reduce journey times and integrate routes through 

development area) will also be explored and implemented where possible. This will include 

two mass transit route options linking Granton with the City Centre which are currently 

being assessed and Council officers have been liaising to ensure the analysis is consistent 

with objectives for Granton and ties in with the Granton transportation study undertaken as 

part of this OBC process. 

The first alignment follows West Granton Access Road from Ferry Road to Caroline Park. 

This option is the existing safeguarded route and provides a direct and segregated tram 

and parallel high-quality active travel route. From the southerly tip of the West Granton 

Access Road, two options are being analysed. The first ties in with the existing tram line at 

Roseburn and then follows the Roseburn Path from the A8 to Ferry Road, west of Crewe 

Toll. The alignment is fully segregated, following an old railway track bed, and now an 

active travel corridor and part of National Cycle Network route 1. The alignment is the 

Page 135

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36331/Item%207.6%20-%20Granton%20Waterfront%20Investigation%20of%20Parking%20Controls.pdf


safeguarded route for transit with existing parliamentary powers in place for Tram. The 

second route option ties in with the existing tram line at Shandwick Place at the west end 

of Princes Street and assumes an on-street route following Queensferry Road, Orchard 

Brae and Crewe Road South.  

It is anticipated that an emerging preferred route for mass transit, between Granton and 

the city centre, will be available at the end of 2021, with consultation on the emerging route 

taking place in early 2022. Liaison with the mass transit study team will continue to ensure 

a joined-up approach to the development of both programmes. 

The vision, principles and Development Framework for Granton Waterfront established 

guidelines to ensure future development also align with the Scottish Government’s Place 

Principles and ‘20-minute neighbourhood’ concept. By creating a place that meets 

everyday needs, numerous benefits will be realised, including a reduction in the need to 

travel. The introduction of shared mobility (car club and bike hire) and mobility hubs will 

also help with modal shift and realising the benefits that come with this.  

 

 

Page 136



Granton OBC
Joint Committee

Friday 3rd December 2021

Western Villages 

P
age 137



OBC Route Map to Delivery  

All Party Oversight 
Group

Policy and 
Sustainability 
Committee

Joint Committee 

5 Oct 211 September 21 3 Dec 21

P
age 138



Strategic  - Local and National Priorit ies  

P
age 139



Economic – Short Listed Options     

Category Do Minimum Partial Investment Full Investment

Homes Approximately 200 homes Approximately 900 homes Approximately 2,900 homes (minimum 

35% affordable) – note that early 

action projects already committed (a 

further 600 homes) have been 

excluded from economic and financial 

modelling

Net zero carbon Minimum requirements only Individual air source heat 

pumps 

Low carbon district heating network 

Transport Minimal active travel measures One transport hub, partial 

investment in active travel

Transport hubs, expansive active 

travel network, improved public 

transport 

Commercial Existing commercial space only 2,000 sqm of new commercial 

space

9,065 sqm of new commercial space 

Place making None Limited new public realm to join 

up plots

New school / healthcare facility / 

coastal park / public realm 

Heritage Maintenance of gas holder and 

other structures 

Maintenance of gas holder and 

other structures 

Refurbished gas holder with scope for 

commercial long-term reuse

P
age 140



Economic – Public Sector Cost BCR   

Do minimum Partial investment Full investment
Geographical location Edin ECR Scot Edin ECR Scot Edin ECR Scot

Costs

Public sector (discounted) £99m £99m £99m £113m £113m £113m £380m £380m £380m

Gross benefits 

Construction (PYEs) 400 400 400 1,500 1,500 1,500 5,100 5,100 5,100

Operating (PYEs) 8,000 8,000 8,000 34,200 34,200 34,200 129,000 129,000 129,000

Gross GVA (discounted) £138m £138m £138m £583m £583m £583m £2.1bn £2.1bn £2.1bn

Net benefits 

Construction (PYEs) 231 240 316 800 800 600 2,700 2,800 1,900

Operating (PYEs) 415 329 249 2,800 2,400 2,100 16,500 13,600 10,900

Net GVA (discounted) £22m £23m £28m £112m £108m £87m £478m £460m £385m

Net GVA (discounted and 

welfare weighed)
£51m £53m £64m £255m £246m £199m £1.1bn £1.0bn £878m

Number of new homes 206 206 206 862 862 862 2,864 2,864 2,864

Value for money

Public sector costs BCR 0.2 0.2 0.3 1.0 1.0 0.8 1.3 1.2 1.0

Welfare weighted public 

sector costs BCR
0.5 0.5 0.7 2.3 2.2 1.8 2.9 2.8 2.3

P
age 141



Finance – Updates to cost plan     

Early action Costs Transport Strategy 

Tenure Mix 

Decontamination 
Strategy 

Increased Net 
Carbon CostsPhasing Strategy  

P
age 142



Finance – Updated Cost Estimates     

Phase Cost plan Inflation Professional 
Fees 

Land/Building 
acquisitions 

Additional 
Heritage 

Total Excl
OB

OB Total 
including OB

Heart of 
Granton

£118.5m £27.2m £19.2m £4.5m £3.5m £172.9m £24.6m £197.5m

Harbour 
Road

£104.0m £40.1m £23.5m £13.1m £1.5m £182.2m £19.0m £201.2m

West Shore £67.9m £27.9m £9.8m £3.5m £1m £110.1m £17.1m £127.2m

Upper 
Granton 

£76.8m £51.4m £20.7m £0m £0m 148.9m £14.3m £163.2m

Total £367.2m £146.6m £73.2m £21.1m £6.0m £614.1m £75.0m £689.1m

P
age 143



Finance – Funding      

Funding 

Capital supported by HRA and Edinburgh Living £155.2m

Capital receipts for land sales £106.1m

Council Capital Investment Programme £28.2m

Developers’ contributions £9.4m

NHS Lothian £9.0m

Total £307.9m

P
age 144



Finance – Net Posit ion      

Phase Cost Funding Net position 

Heart of Granton £197.5m £127.4m £70.1m

Harbour Road £201.2m £59.8m £141.4m

West Shore £127.2m £46.8m £80.4m

Upper Granton £163.2m £73.9m £89.3m

TOTAL £689.1m £307.9m £381.2m

Phase Cost excluding 
Optimism Bias Funding Net position excluding 

Optimism Bias

Heart of Granton £172.9m £127.4m £45.5m

Harbour Road £182.2m £59.8m £122.4m

West Shore £110.1m £46.8m £63.3m

Upper Granton £148.9m £73.9m £75.0m

TOTAL £614.1m £307.9m £306.2m

P
age 145



Finance – Phase 1 Funding Strategy     

Area of Investment Description Capital cost Funding Opportunity

Housing (Council and 

Edinburgh Living)

66 homes for social rent

53 homes for MMR

84 homes for Market Rent

Incl Commercial 

£48.6m Additional AHSP grant funding; additional 

grant for mid market rent; debt sculpting to 

increase financial viability; innovative housing 

models; City Regional Deal Housing 

Infrastructure Fund

Net zero carbon Low carbon heat technologies £5.9m LCIPT, green recovery; Green Growth 

Accelerator; Scottish National Investment Bank

Gasholder Restoration and 

Other Heritags Assets

Restoration of structural frame, 

demolition of the bell and 

decontamination of the plot, 

landscaping

£26.6m Levelling Up Fund Bid; Historic Environment 

Scotland; National Lottery Heritage Fund

Place-making and 

Transport

Public Realm

Cycle and footways

Junction improvements

Mobility hub

£52.0m Place Based Investment Programme; 

Regeneration Capital Grant Fund; Places for 

Everyone; Sustrans

Enabling and remediation Land remediation 

CPO

£21.2m Vacant and Derelict land Investment 

Programme

Table excludes Health Centre (10.9m) and School (32.3m) 

P
age 146



Commercial – Phasing Principles     

Place Premium Remediation On-site  Early Benefits Realisation  

P
age 147



Phase 0  2022 - 2026 

Western Villages; 444 homes
2022- 2026 

Silverlea ; 142 homes
2023- 2025 

Station; 75 homes
2022- 2024 

661 Homes 930 m2
Commercial 

Controlled 
Crossing

Pocket Parks
Public Plaza  

Station Building
Gasholder 

Restoration
Silverlea Pavilion 

1019m of new or 
enhanced cycle & 

footpaths 

P
age 148



P
age 149



Commercial – Delivery Options     

Option Type Advantages Disadvantages Perspective

One JV with 
Private 
Sector 
Partners 

• Well know and understood
• Separate legal entity can contract 

in its own name 
• Can have multiple interested 

parties

• Loss of control as land transferred to JV
• High level of costs associated with 

establishing and maintaining separate entity
• Director acts in best interest of company, may 

not be best interest of Council.
• Single procurement may not secure best for 

all elements

• Lack of control over pace and 
vision

• Unwinding difficult if not 
performing

• Multi-party procurement may 
not be most advantageous for 
getting best party for each 
element 

Two Series of 
contracts; 
one for each 
element

• Allows specialist to be appoint to 
each aspect

• Council retains control and 
ownership of land

• Council retains control of 
contractual arrangements and can 
terminate individual elements for 
under performance whilst keeping 
project going

• Council has to manage different contractors/ 
agents

• Council carries risk in interface; thus carries 
risk of delay to programme 

• Lends itself to getting best 
contractors; skillsets for each 
element of programme

• Council may lack resources to 
manage multiple contracts 
with interdependencies 

Three Partnering • Council appoints a single partner 
who takes on interface and 
contractual  risks of managing 
interdependencies

• Council retains ownership of land 
• No single entity required; less cost

• Residual liability pushed onto Council; if 
outside partners control, these can be 
mitigated through insurance policies & 
Warranties

• Developer will price in risk; may impact on 
market responsiveness to opportunity and/ or 
result in limited opportunity for land receipt

• Lower risk profile; could be 
attractive to single phase.

• Need to structure balance/risk
• Explore market facing risk via 

pre-development stage
• Option to proceed or agree to 

halt at specific points

P
age 150



Commercial – Delivery Model     

Procure 
Development 
Partner for Ph 1

Pre-
Development 
Period

OBC District 
Heating

FBC Approval

Development 
Agreement
➢ Option to Extend
➢ Manage Energy 

Solution 

Enabling 
Infrastructure

On Plot 
construction

District Heating

Procure 
Consultant to 
Deliver DHN OBC

Council as Master Developer 

Procure and 
appoint Energy 
Partner 

April 22 May 22 June 23 

DHN OBC
Development 

Partners 
Appointed 

➢ FBC approval Incl
District Heating 

➢ Planning Submitted
➢ Development 

Agreement Award

Jan 24 May 24 April 25 

Ph 1 Land 
Assembly 
Complete

➢ Planning Consent 
Secured

➢ Enabling Infrastructure 
& District Heating  
contract award 

On Plot 
Residential  

P
age 151



Management – Programme 

Programme milestone Date

Completion of district heating network OBC April 2022

Procurement of development partner May 2022

Full business case approved following pre development period (including district heating network) June 2023

Planning application submitted June 2023

Development agreement award June 2023

Land assembly complete (phase one) Jan 2024

Planning consent secured May 2024

Enabling Infrastructure contract award May 2024

District Heating contract award May 2024

Start on site – first residential block April 2025

P
age 152



Way Forward – Stage 3 Activit ies 

District Heating - OBC
Appoint a technical 
team of consultants, 
bringing in financial and 
legal advisors 

progress designs, more 
accurate financial 
modelling and a 
conclusion on the 
commercial route to 
secure an energy 
partner to deliver this.

Procure Development 
Partner
A procurement 
informed by recent 
strategies followed on 
Fountainbridge and 
Meadowbank.  

Carry out Pre-Development 
Period 
A 12-month pre-
development period.
This stage can be useful in 
adding value, ensuring co-
ordination and managing 
risk.  Designs will be 
progressed and commercial 
options for delivery of 
phase 1 considered.  The 
key outcome of this activity 
would be a viable and 
deliverable phase 1 of 
regeneration.

District Heating BC
Using an extension of 
the consultant team 
who have delivered the 
district heating OBC, 
designs will be finalised 
and a delivery partner 
sought to enter into 
commercial 
arrangements to deliver 
a low carbon energy 
solution.

Finalise Funding 
Arrangements 
Throughout the pre-
development 
period, the 
programme team 
will continue to 
monitor the funding 
gap on phase 1 of 
regeneration and 
pursue the strategy 
set out in the 
finance case. 

Stakeholders & 
Comms
The stakeholder 
engagement process 
will run continuously 
throughout the life of 
the programme. 

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City 
Region Deal Joint Committee 
 

10am, Friday 3 December 2021 

National Climate Resilience Summit Ambition Statement 

1. Recommendations 

 To endorse the Ambition Statement that was set out at the National Climate 

Resilience summit, organised by the Scottish Government on 1 October 2021. 

2. Background 

2.1 On 1 October 2021, chief executives, directors and other senior leaders from 70 

organisations participated in the Scottish Government-hosted National Climate 

Resilience Summit. Douglas Proudfoot, Executive Director for Place at East Lothian 

Council attended on behalf of the City Region Deal partners. 

2.2 Delegates were invited to endorse a public Ambition Statement to allow them to 

demonstrate and communicate enhanced ambition and collective leadership on 

climate resilience. More than 50 organisations and senior leaders have endorsed 

this Ambition Statement or committed to taking it to their board or appropriate 

governance structures. 

 

3.      Main report 

3.1 The Ambition Statement for endorsement is copied below: 

Scotland is already experiencing warming, with more extreme weather events and 
rising sea levels and these changes will continue due to the locked-in effects of 
global climate change. As a nation we must prepare for these changes in order to 
protect our places, communities, businesses and nature. This will include 
understanding climate risk and vulnerabilities, planning and implementing 
adaptation actions, unlocking finance and supporting transformational change at 
local, national and international levels. The Climate Change Committee’s recent 
independent Assessment of UK Climate Risk is clear it will be impossible to achieve 
a just transition to net zero or tackle inequalities more widely without also 
addressing climate risks, and that the time for us to build resilience is now. 

Item number 5.6  

Page 155

Agenda Item 5.6



 
Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee Page 2 

As delegates to the National Climate Resilience Summit we support collective 
action to transform Scotland into a climate resilient nation. As part of this journey, 
we: 

1. support enhanced understanding and action on climate risk and look forward to 
collaborating across sectors; 

2. will further embed climate adaptation in our culture, corporate governance and 
organisational priorities as an immediate priority and throughout 2022 and beyond; 
and 

3. express our support for an ambitious global deal at COP26 which addresses 
adaptation and resilience needs in a fair and just way. 

4. Financial impact 

4.1  N/A 

5. Alignment with Sustainable, Inclusive Growth Ambitions 

5.1 The ambition statement aligns with the climate ambitions set out in the Regional 

Prosperity Framework, approved by this Committee in September 2021. 

6. Background reading/external references 

6.1 Regional Prosperity Framework: ESESCR Deal Joint Committee report, 3 September 

2021. 

7. Appendices 

7.1 N/A 

 

Steve Grimmond 

Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal 

Contact: Douglas Proudfoot, Executive Director of Place, East Lothian Council 

E-mail: dproudfoot@eastlothian.gov.uk | Tel: 01620 827222 

 

Page 156

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36808/Item%205.4%20-%20RPF%20and%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36808/Item%205.4%20-%20RPF%20and%20app.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s36808/Item%205.4%20-%20RPF%20and%20app.pdf

	Agenda
	3.1 Minute of the Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal Joint Committee
	4.1 Joint Committee Work Programme
	5.3 City Region Deal Progress Report – report by Steve Grimmond, Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal
	5.3 - City Region Deal Progress Report
	5.3 Appendix ESESCR Deal Progress Report - 26 November  2021 with IRES update

	5.5 Granton Waterfront Regeneration Outline Business Case – report by Paul Lawrence, Executive Director of Place, The City of Edinburgh Council
	5.5 Granton OBC paper Joint Committee meeting
	5.5 (appendix)Granton OBC Appendix 1
	5.5 Granton Appendix 2
	5.5 Appendix 3 JC Presentation 031221

	5.6 National Climate Summit Ambition Statement – report by Steve Grimmond, Chief Officer, Edinburgh and South East Scotland City Region Deal

